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NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING
OF THE STOCKHOLDERS OF

KEPPEL PHILIPPINES HOLDINGS, INC.
TO OUR STOCKHOLDERS:

Please take notice that the Annual Meeting of the Stockholders of Keppel Philippines
Holdings, Inc. shall be conducted via remote communication through Microsoft Teams (MS
Teams) online meeting, to be facilitated from the 26th Floor, The Podium West Tower, ADB
Avenue, Wack-Wack Greenhills East, Mandaluyong City on 24 April 2025, Thursday, at
11:00 a.m.

The Agenda:

1. Call to Order

2. Certification of Notice and Quorum

3. Reading and Approval of the Minutes of the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting held on
14 June 2024

4. Presentation of the 2024 Annual Report and Approval of the 2024 Audited
Financial Statements

5. Ratification of Corporate Acts and Proceedings of the Board of Directors, Officers
and Management of the Corporation for the Period under Review

6. Election of Directors for the Year 2025-2026

7. Appointment of External Auditor

8. Approval of Voluntary Delisting of the Company from The Philippine Stock
Exchange, Inc.

. Other Matters as may properly come before the Meeting
10. Adjournment

The Board of Directors has fixed the close of business on 24 March 2025 as the record
date for the determination of stockholders entitled to notice of and vote at the meeting.

Only stockholders of record at the close of business on 24 March 2025 are entitled to
notice of, and to vote at, this meeting.

Stockholders intending to participate via remote communication shall send a
notification/confirmation of their attendance by e-mail to info@keppelph.com on or before 21
April 2025.

Guidelines on participation and voting in absentia can be viewed together with the
Definitive Information Statement posted on the Company’s website and PSE Edge.

Tl

MARIA MELVA E. VALDEZ
Corporate Secretary
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SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

SEC FORM 20-IS
INFORMATION STATEMENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 20
OF THE SECURITIES REGULATION CODE

Check the appropriate box:
Preliminary Information Statement
__X__ Definitive Information Statement
Name of Registrant as specified in its charter: KEPPEL PHILIPPINES HOLDINGS, INC.
Province, country or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization: Philippines
SEC Identification Number: 62596
BIR Tax Identification No: 000-163-715-000
Address of principal office: Postal Code:
Unit 3-B Country Space 1 Building 1200
133 Sen. Gil Puyat Avenue
Salcedo Village, Barangay Bel-Air, Makati City
Registrant’s telephone number, including area code: (632) 8892-1816

Date, time and place of the meeting of security holders:

Date 1 24 April 2025

Time : 11:00 a.m.

Place : 26th Floor, The Podium West Tower, ADB Avenue, Wack-Wack Greenhills East,
Mandaluyong City

(Through remote communication via Microsoft Teams (MS Teams))

Approximate date on which the Information Statement is first to be sent or given to security holders: 28 March
2025. Pursuant to SEC Notice dated 12 March 2025 providing for alternative mode for distributing and providing
copies of the Notice of Meeting, Information Statement, and other documents in connection with the holding of
Annual Stockholders’ Meeting for 2025, the same will be available at the Company’s website
(www.keppelph.com) and via Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE)’s website — PSE Edge Portal.

In case of Proxy Solicitations: NOT APPLICABLE

Name of Person Filing the Solicitation Statement:
Address and Tel. No.

Securities registered pursuant to Sections 8 and 12 of the Code or Section 4 and 8 of the RSA:

Title of Each Class Number of Shares of Common Stock Outstanding
(As of 24 March 2025)

Class ‘A’ Common 35,756,070

Class ‘B’ Common 21,476,949

57,233,019 (Net of 15,940,481 Treasury shares)

Are any or all of registrant’s securities listed on the Philippines Stock Exchange?
Yes _X_ No
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PART 1

INFORMATION REQUIRED IN INFORMATION STATEMENT

A. GENERAL INFORMATION

1. Date, Time, and Place of Meeting of Security Holders
(@)  The annual stockholders’ meeting shall be held on:

Date : 24 April 2025

Time :  11:00 a.m.

Place : 26th Floor, The Podium West Tower, ADB Avenue, Wack-Wack Greenhills East, Mandaluyong City
(Through remote communication via Microsoft Teams (MS Teams)

Complete Mailing Address of Principal Office of Registrant:
Keppel Philippines Holdings, Inc.

Unit 3-B Country Space 1 Building

133 Sen. Gil Puyat Avenue

Salcedo Village, Barangay Bel-Air, Makati City 1200

Stockholders intending to participate via remote communication shall send a notification/confirmation of their attendance by e-
mail to info@keppelph.com on or before 21 April 2025.

(b)  The approximate date on which the information statement is to be sent and given to the security holders shall be on 28 March 2025.
Pursuant to SEC Notice dated 12 March 2025 providing for alternative mode for distributing and providing copies of the Notice of
Meeting, Information Statement, and other documents in connection with the holding of Annual Stockholders’ Meeting for 2025, the
same will be available at the Company’s website (www.keppelph.com) and via Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE)’s website — PSE
Edge Portal.

WE ARE NOT ASKING YOU FOR A PROXY AND YOU ARE REQUESTED NOT TO SEND US A PROXY

2. Dissenters’ Right of Appraisal

There are no matters or proposed corporate actions to be taken up during the annual stockholders meeting which may give rise to a possible
exercise by security holders of their appraisal rights under Section 80 of the Revised Corporation Code of the Philippines (Republic Act No.
11232). The following are the instances where a stockholder have a right to dissent or demand payment as enumerated under Sec. 80 of
the Revised Corporation Code of the Philippines: (a) in case an amendment to the articles of incorporation has the effect of changing or
restricting the rights of any stockholder or class of shares, or of authorizing preferences in any respect superior to those of outstanding
shares of any class, or of extending or shortening the term of corporate existence; (b) in case of sale, lease, exchange, transfer, mortgage,
pledge, or other disposition of all or substantially all of the corporate property and assets as provided in this Code; (c) in case of merger or
consolidation; and (d) in case of investment of corporate funds for any purpose other than the primary purpose of the corporation.

The appraisal right may be exercised by any stockholder who shall have voted against the proposed corporate action, by making a written
demand on the corporation within thirty (30) days after the date on which the vote taken for payment of the fair value of his shares: Provided,
that failure to make the demand within such period shall be deemed a waiver for the appraisal right. If the proposed corporate action is
implemented or effected, the corporation shall pay to such stockholder upon surrender of his certificate(s) of stock representing his shares,
the fair value thereof as of the day prior to the date on which the vote was taken, excluding any appreciation or depreciation in anticipation
of such corporate action.

3. Interest of Certain Persons in or Opposition to Matters to be Acted Upon

(a) No person who has been a director or officer of the registrant at any time since the beginning of the last fiscal year, or any nominee for
election as a director of the registrant, or associate of any of the foregoing persons, has any substantial interest in, direct or indirect, by
security holdings or otherwise, on any matter to be acted upon other than election to office.

(b) No director of the registrant has informed the registrant in writing that he intends to oppose any action to be taken by the registrant at
the meeting.

B. CONTROL AND COMPENSATION INFORMATION

4. Voting Securities and Principal Holders Thereof

(a) Class of Voting Shares as of 24 March 2025:

No. of Shares No. of Vote Each Shares
Class of Voting Shares Outstanding Nationality % Entitled
Class ‘A’ Common Shares 35,756,070 Filipino 62.47 One (1) vote per share
Class ‘B’ Common Shares 4,253,882 Filipino 7.43 One (1) vote per share
Class ‘B’ Common Shares 17,223,067 Foreign 30.10 One (1) vote per share
(1)

Total Common Shares 57,233,019 100.00 One (1) vote per share
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(b) All stockholders of record as of 24 March 2025 are entitled to notice of and to vote at the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting.

(c) The election of directors shall be taken up at the meeting and pursuant to Section 23 of the Revised Corporation Code of the Philippines
(Republic Act No. 11232). Each stockholder shall be entitled to one (1) vote per share. A stockholder may (1) vote such number of
shares registered in his name as of the record date for as many persons as there are directors to be elected, (2) or he may cumulate
said shares and give one candidate as many votes as the number of directors to be elected multiplied by the number of his shares
owned, (3) or he may distribute them on the same principle among as many candidates as he shall see fit. There are no conditions
precedents for the exercise of the cumulative voting rights in the election of directors. The total number of votes cast by such stockholder
should not exceed the number of shares owned by him as shown in the books of the Corporation multiplied by the whole number of
directors to be elected.

Section 57 of the RA 11232 provides that stockholders and members may vote in person or by proxy in all meetings of stockholders or
members. When so authorized in the bylaws or by a majority of the board of directors, the stockholders or members of the corporations
may also vote through remote communication or in absentia: Provided, That the votes are received before the corporation finishes the
tally of votes. A stockholder who participates through remote communication or in absentia, shall be deemed present for purposes of
quorum. The corporation shall establish the appropriate requirements and procedures for voting through remote communication and in
absentia, taking into account the company’s scale, number of shareholders or members, structure, and other factors consistent with
the basic right of corporate suffrage. Proxies shall be in writing, signed and filed, by the stockholder, in any form authorized in the
bylaws and received by the corporate secretary within a reasonable time before the scheduled meeting. Unless otherwise provided in
the proxy form, it shall be valid only for the meeting for which it is intended. No proxy shall be valid and effective for a period longer
than five (5) years at any more time.

The manner of voting shall be through remote communication pursuant to Section 57 of RA 11232, as authorized by the board of
directors during its regular meeting on 29 January 2024, and the Company’s internal rules and procedures for voting through remote
communication. The Guidelines for Participation Via Remote Communication and Voting in Absentia shall be posted in the website,
and distributed to stockholders with the Definitive Information Statement. In all matters included in the agenda, except the election of
directors, the counting of votes will be done through the regular method. Stock Transfer Service, Inc., a stock transfer agent is present
to count and validate the votes during the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting.

(d) In the election of director, the seven (7) nominees with the highest number of votes will be elected directors. If the number of nominees
for election as directors does not exceed the number of directors to be elected, the Secretary of the Meeting shall be instructed to cast
all votes represented at the Meeting equally in favor of all such nominees. On the other hand, if the number of nominees for election
as directors exceeds the number of directors to be elected, voting shall be done by ballot, cumulative voting will be followed and
counting of votes shall be done by representatives of the Company’s external auditor or, in their absence, by the Corporate Secretary.

Method of Counting Votes

The Corporate Secretary will be responsible for counting the votes based on the number of shares entitled to vote owned by the stockholders
who are present or represented by proxies at the Annual Meeting of the stockholders.

(e) Information required by Part IV Paragraph (C) of “Annex C” to the extent known by the persons on whose behalf the solicitation is
made.
(1) Security Ownership of Certain Record and Beneficial Owners:

The persons known to the registrant to be directly or indirectly the record or beneficial owner of more than 5% of the registrant’s
voting securities as of 24 March 2025 are as follows:

Name, Address of record Name of Beneficial
Title of owner and Relationship with | Owner and Relationship
Class Issuer with Record Owner Citizenship No. of Shares Held Percent
Common | Kepwealth, Inc-2 Alan . Claveria (Director) Filipino Class ‘A": 28,817,182 53.35
Unit 3-B, Country Space | Bldg., Class ‘B _ 1,715,748
133 Sen. Gil Puyat Ave. 30,532,930

Salcedo Village, Barangay Bel-
Air, Makati City

Common | Keppel Ltd. 2 Tan Kuang Liang Singaporean | Class ‘B 16,894,087 29.52
1 Harbour Front Ave, #18-01, (Director)
Keppel Bay Tower, Singapore
098632
Common | PCD Nominee Corp. - Filipino ¢ Filipino Class ‘A" 4,389,701
37/F, Enterprise Bldg., Filipino Class ‘B 2,460,346
Ayala Ave., Makati City Foreign Class ‘B": 122,322

6,972,369 12.18

a. Kepwealth, Inc. is majority-owned by Kepventure, Inc. The Chairman, or in his absence, the President of Kepwealth is duly authorized as proxy
to vote in the shares of Kepwealth in the Company.

b.  Keppel Ltd. (KL) (formerly Keppel Corporation Limited (KCL) is listed in the Singapore Stock Exchange. The Chairman of the Board or in his
absence, the President or in his absence the Chairman of the meeting shall have the right to vote or direct voting or disposition of the
shareholdings of KL in the Company.

¢.  PCD Nominee Corp. is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Philippine Central Depository, Inc. (PCD). It is the registered owner of the shares in the
books of the Company’s transfer agents in the Philippines. The beneficial owners of such shares are PCD’s participants. PCD holds the shares
on their (beneficial owners) behalf or on behalf of their (PCD) clients. PCD is a private company organized by the major institutions actively
participating in the Philippine capital markets to implement an automated book-entry system of handling securities transactions in the Philippines.
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There are no other clients of PCD-Nominee Corp. that are reported to own more than 5% of the Company’s total outstanding and issued common
shares.

Security Ownership of Directors and Management as of 24 March 2025:
Amount and Nature of
Title of Beneficial Ownership % of
Class Name of Beneficial Owner (“d” or “i”) Citizenship Class
Common | Tan Kuang Liang — Chairman / Director Class ‘B: 1(d) Singaporean -
Common | Alan I. Claveria — President / Director Class ‘A’: 38 (d) Filipino -
Common | Celso P. Vivas — Lead Independent Director Class ‘A: 1(d) Filipino -
Common | Ramon J. Abejuela — Independent Director Class ‘A’: 1(d) Filipino -
Common | Leonardo R. Arguelles, Jr. — Independent Director Class ‘B": 1(d) Filipino -
Common | Stefan Tong Wai Mun — Director Class 'B: 1(d) Malaysian -
Common | Felicidad V. Razon — Vice President / Treasurer / Director Class ‘A’: 1 (d) Filipino -
Maria Melva E. Valdez — Corporate Secretary - Filipino -
Pamela Ann T. Cayabyab — Asst. Corporate Secretary - Filipino -
Directors and executive officers as a group 44 -

(3)

(4)

Voting Trust Holders of 5% or More
There are no voting trust holders of 5% or more of the Company’s common stock under a voting trust or similar agreement.

Changes in Control
There is no change in control of the registrant and there is no arrangement which may result in change of control.

(f) No change in control of the registrant has occurred since the beginning of the last fiscal year.

5. Directors and Executive Officers

(@ (1)
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Directors

The Board of Directors of Keppel Philippines Holdings, Inc. (“KPHI” or the “Company”) is currently composed of seven (7)
members, three (3) of whom are independent directors. This is in accordance with the Corporation’s Articles of Incorporation,
the Corporation Code, and the Securities Regulation Code (“SRC”). The term of office of each member is one (1) year except
where the director is elected by the Board of Directors during the term. The members of the Board of Directors of the Company
are elected at the annual stockholders’ meeting to hold office until the next succeeding annual meeting and until their respective
successors have been elected and qualified. The Board of Directors is responsible for the direction and control of the business
affairs and management of the Company, and the preservation of its assets and properties. No person can be elected as director
of the Company unless he or she is a registered owner of at least one (1) voting share of the capital of the Company and he
possesses all the qualifications, and does not possess any of the disqualifications, shown in the Corporation's Revised Manual
of Corporate Governance, the Corporation's By-Laws, and under the relevant laws, rules and regulations. The current members
of the Board of Directors are as follows:

1. Mr. Tan Kuang Liang, 50, Singaporean, has been the Chairman and regular Director of the Company since April 3, 2024.
He joined Keppel Group in 2012 and is currently the President of Keppel Land Indonesia and Regional Investments.
Before his current appointment, he was the General Manager for Operational excellence with oversight on Sustainability,
Safety, Corporate social responsibility, and Project management at Keppel Management Ltd. (KML). Prior to joining KML,
he led CapitaLand's South China operations, Jurong China group's business development, and worked in CPG
Consultants. He is currently the Chairman of the Board and President of Keppel Philippines Properties, Inc. since 10
February 2023.

Mr. Tan graduated with BSc Building (2nd Upper Hons) from the National University of Singapore and completed his MSc.
Sustainable Building Design (Merit) from the University of Nottingham under BCA-WDA Scholarship in 2016. He is a
Green Mark Advanced Accredited Professional and a member of the Singapore Institute of Arbitrators and Society of
Project Managers.

2. Alan |. Claveria, 54, Filipino, has been the President and regular Director of the Company since 14 September 2017.
Prior to his appointment, he was the Senior Manager, Administration and Corporate Affairs of Keppel Philippines Marine,
Inc. He is concurrently the President and Director of KPS| Property, Inc., Goodwealth Realty Development Corp.,
Goodsoil Marine Realty, Inc., Consort Land, Inc., and Consort Capital, Inc. He provides advice in matters relating to
corporate affairs and communication, administration, human resources, and real estate, drawing from his experience from
holding various positions in Keppel's present and previously owned business units involved in shipbuilding and ship repair,
towage and salvage, investment, and real estate. Mr. Claveria holds a Master’s in Business Administration degree from
the Ateneo Graduate School of Business and finished BS Management, Major in Legal Management at the Ateneo de
Manila University. He has been with Keppel in the Philippines for over 20 years.

3..  Celso P. Vivas, 78, Filipino, has been an Independent Director of Keppel Philippines Holdings, Inc. since June 2005 and
is currently the Company’s Lead Independent Director and Chairman of the Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee. He
is currently an Independent Director, Chairman of the Governance, Nomination and Compensation Committee and

KPHI SEC Form 20-DIS Y2025
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member of the Audit and Compliance Committee of Keppel Philippine Properties, Inc.; Chairman of Megawide
Construction Corp.’s Audit and Compliance Committee and member of both the Board Risk Oversight Committee, and
Governance, Nomination and Compensation Committee; Chairman of Republic Glass Holdings Corp.’s Governance,
Nomination and Compensation Committee, and member of the Audit and Compliance Committee. He is also an
Independent Director of Goodsoil Marine Realty, Inc., Goodwealth Realty Development, Inc., and Consort Land Inc.,
subsidiaries & related companies of KPHI. He was Independent Director and Chairman of the Audit Committee of Keppel
Philippines Marine, Inc. and Keppel Subic Shipyard, Inc. till June 2022. He was Risk Consulting Partner and Assurance
Business Advisory Partner of SGV & Company until his retirement in 2001. Mr. Vivas obtained his Bachelor’'s Degree in
Business Administration (Cum Laude) from the University of the East. He also obtained a Master's Degree in Business
Management from the Asian Institute of Management (SGV & Co. Scholar). He is also a graduate of Company Directors’
Course from Australian Institute of Company Directors (ICD Scholar). Mr. Vivas is a Certified Public Accountant and has
over 50 years of experience in audit, finance, enterprise risk management, and corporate governance.

Ramon J. Abejuela, 75 years old, Filipino, has been an Independent Director of Keppel Philippines Holdings, Inc. since
14 September 2017. He is also the Chairman of the Corporate Governance and Nomination Committee and member of
the Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee of Company. He was an Independent Director of Keppel Philippines
Properties, Inc. (KEP) from November 1999 to June 2008. He was re-elected as Independent Director in 2009 and is
currently the Chairman of the Audit and Compliance Committee and member of the Governance, Nomination and
Compensation Committee of KEP. He serves as Independent Director and Chairman of the Audit Committee of Mabuhay
Vinyl Corporation as of July 2022 to present. He served as Independent Director of Keppel Philippine Marine, Inc. and
Keppel Subic Shipyard, Inc. in June 2020 to June 2022. He also serves as Director and Vice Chairman of the Board of
Philippine Nutri-Foods Corporation and NCP Publishing Inc. since 2004. Mr. Abejuela holds a Bachelor of Science in
Chemical Engineering Degree (cum laude) from De La Salle University and a Master's Degree in Business Management
— General Management Curriculum from the Asian Institute of Management. Mr. Abejuela has more than 45 years of
experience in the field of financial planning, control, and consultancy.

Leonardo R. Arguelles, Jr., 75, Filipino, has been an Independent Director of Keppel Philippines Holdings, Inc. since 19
June 2020 and Keppel Philippines Properties, Inc. since 13 August 2020. He is a member of the Audit Risk and
Compliance Committee and Corporate Governance and Nomination Committee of the Company. He is also a member
of the Audit and Compliance Committee and Governance, Nomination and Compensation Committee of KPPI. He was
the President and Director of Unicapital Securities Inc. (Stockbroker) from 2001 to March 2019 and Managing Director of
Unicapital, Inc (Investment House) from 2003 to March 2019. He was an Advisory Board Member of Basic Energy
Corporation (listed company) from 2012 to 2019 and Director of Des Eaux Utilities Corp from 2007 to March 2019. He
was an Independent Director of Royal Bank of Scotland, Manila Branch from 2002 to 2009 and Anglo Philippines Holdings
(listed company) from 2004 to 2007. He was Executive Director of Keppel IVI Investments from 1989 to 1997. He
graduated from Ateneo de Manila University with AB Economics. He has more than 45 years of experience in the field of
investment banking.

Stefan Tong Wai Mun, 53, Malaysian, has been a regular Director of the Company since June 2007 and had been the
President from same period until 14 September 2017. He has been a regular Director of Keppel Philippine Properties,
Inc. since June 2007 and has been elected as regular Director of Seatrium Philippines Marine, Inc. (formerly Keppel
Philippines Marine, Inc.) in February 2010 and Executive Vice-President in June 2011. He is also a regular Director of
various Keppel and Seatrium companies in the Philippines. Mr. Tong graduated from University of Western Australia with
a Bachelor's Degree in Accounting and Finance (Honors). He is a Chartered Accountant and a member of the Chartered
Accountants Australia and New Zealand. He has more than 25 years of experience in banking, finance, and real estate.

Felicidad V. Razon, 64, Filipino, has been a regular Director of the Company since May 2014. She joined the Company
as Finance Manager in May 2008 and has been appointed as Treasurer in June 2008 and elected/appointed as Vice
President/Treasurer in November 2013. She is also a regular director and officer of KPH related companies. Prior to
Keppel Group, Ms. Razon was the Finance Manager/Officer of Benguet Corporation’s fully owned subsidiaries involved
in manufacturing, shipping and freight forwarding. She graduated from Polytechnic University of the Philippines with
Bachelor of Science Degree in Commerce Major in Accountancy and is a Certified Public Accountant. She has more than
35 years of experience in her field of profession.

The foregoing business experiences of the directors cover the recent five-year period.
Nominees for Election as Chairman and Members of the Board of Directors

The Corporate Governance & Nomination Committee composed of Ramon J. Abejuela (Chairman), Celso P. Vivas, Leonardo
R. Arguelles, Jr., and Stefan Tong Wai Mun received recommendations for the position of Chairman, regular and independent
directors for the Company. The said recommendations were signed by the nominating stockholders together with the acceptance
and conformity of the would-be nominees. The nominating stockholders are not acting as a nominee or representative of any
director or substantial shareholder of the Company, and/or any of its related companies and/or any of its substantial shareholders,
pursuant to a deed of trust or under any contract or arrangement. The qualifications of the candidates were pre-screened by the
Corporate Governance and Nomination Committee on its meeting held on 10 May 2024.

KPHI SEC Form 20-DIS Y2025
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Hereunder is the Final List of Candidates:

Nominee Nominating Person or Group | Relationship with the Nominee
Tan Kuang Liang (Chairman) Felicidad V. Razon None
Celso P. Vivas (Lead Independent Director) Alan I. Claveria None
Ramon J. Abejuela (Independent Director) Alan |. Claveria None
Leonardo R. Arguelles, Jr. (Independent Director) Alan I. Claveria None
Stefan Tong Wai Mun (Regular Director) Alan I. Claveria None
Alan |. Claveria (Regular Director) Felicidad V. Razon None
Felicidad V. Razon (Regular Director) Alan . Claveria None

The amended By-laws of the Company, as approved by the Securities and Exchange Commission on 9 September 2003, further
amended on 26 July 2018, and subsequently amended on 20 February 2023, provides for the procedure for the nomination and
election of Independent Directors pursuant to SRC Rule 38, as amended.

The nominees for the Board of Directors for the ensuing calendar year are as follows:
(1)  Tan Kuang Liang — Chairman of the Board

(2)  Alan . Claveria

(3)  Celso P. Vivas — Lead Independent Director

(4)  Ramon J. Abejuela - Independent Director

(5)  Leonardo R. Arguelles, Jr. — Independent Director

(6)  Stefan Tong Wai Mun

(7)  Felicidad V. Razon

No relationship exists as between the nominees and the person who nominated them.

The nominees for Independent Directors were advised of SEC Memorandum Circular No. 5, Series of 2017 regarding the
required Certificate of Qualification of Independent Directors. They were likewise informed of SEC Memorandum Circular No.
15, Series of 2017 on the term limit of Independent Directors.

While Mr. Vivas has served as Independent Director for a cumulative term of eleven (11) years, his extensive experience and
unquestionable familiarity with the operations of the Company were noted, which renders him most qualified to provide impartial
advice and guidance to the Company.

Further, the intention of the law in providing the maximum period of service of Independent Directors to a cumulative period of
nine (9) years is “to ensure the exercise of independent judgment on corporate affairs and proper oversight of managerial
performance, including prevention of conflict of interests and balances of competing demands of the corporation.”

The excellent track record of Mr. Vivas, notably his advocacy for corporate governance, his dedication and general professional
approach to all matters at the Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee, the Corporate Governance and Nomination Committee
and the Board of Directors’ level, contributed immensely to ensuring that adequate mechanisms for proper checks and balances
in the Company are in place, as well as in securing objective judgement on corporate affairs. Despite maximizing the 9-year
term, it was noted that the re-election of Mr. Vivas for another term could prove beneficial to even strengthening Board
independence.

Incumbent Directors and Officers
(a)  Alan . Claveria, President - (See foregoing Director’s Profile)

(b)  Felicidad V. Razon, Vice President / Treasurer / Compliance Officer / Corporate Information Officer — (See foregoing
Director’s Profile)

(c) Maria Melva E. Valdez, Corporate Secretary, 65, Filipino, has been the Corporate Secretary of the Corporation since
1999. She also served as Director of Keppel Philippines Holdings, Inc. (KPHI) from 24 June 2008 to 11 June 2009. She is
a Senior Partner of the law firm of Bello Valdez and Esguerra Law Offices. She is the Chairman of the Board of Directors
& President of Servier Philippines, Inc., Director & President of Taurus First Properties, Inc., and Corporate Secretary of
Sagara Metro Plastics Industrial Corporation; Atty. Valdez also holds directorship positions in the following companies:
Leighton Contractors (Phils), Inc., Asia Contractors Holdings, Inc., Cambe Dental Billing Services, Inc., KPSI Property,
Inc., Opon Realty & Development Corp., and Opon-KE Properties, Inc.; a member of the Board of Trustees of the AIM
Scientific Research Foundation, Inc., FIF Foundation, Inc. and a Trustee & Treasurer of Philippine-Japan Economic
Cooperation Committee, Inc. She has been the Corporate Secretary of KPHI, Keppel Philippines Properties Inc., and
Mabuhay Vinyl Corporation (listed corporations), Seatrium Philippines Marine, Inc., Seatrium Subic Shipyard, Inc., Keppel
Batangas Shipyard, Inc., and various Keppel companies in the Philippines. She is likewise the Corporate Secretary of
Asian Institute of Management, EMS Services International Inc., Wartsila Philippines Inc., Calamba Medical Center, Inc.,
Calamba Cancer Center, Inc., Saint John the Baptist Medical Center, Inc., Kopiko Philippines Corporation, Toyota Corolla
Sapporo Philippines Holdings, Inc., Trabajo Services, Inc., VS Industries Philippines, Inc., Suretrac Holdings, Inc., and
Asia Control Systems Philippines, Inc. Atty. Valdez is a member of the Philippine-Japan Society, Inc. and Philippine-Italian
Association. Atty. Valdez graduated from the University of the Philippines as a holder of degrees of Bachelor of Arts in
Political Science and Bachelor of Laws. She is a regular lecturer of the Paralegal Training Program of the University of the
Philippines Law Center and is an adjunct faculty member of the Asian Institute of Management. She is the Chairperson of
the Membership Committee of the Inter-Pacific Bar Association. She has more than 37 years of working experience in her
field of profession as a lawyer.
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(3)

(6)

(7)

(d)  Pamela Ann T. Cayabyab, 42, Filipino, has been the Asst. Corporate Secretary of the Company since 7 May 2021. She
has been the Asst. Corporate Secretary of other companies such as Mabuhay Vinyl Corporation (a listed company) and
MVC Properties Inc. since November 2020; Fujita Philippines Construction and Development, Inc., since April 2017;
Keppel Philippines Properties, Inc. (a listed company) since June 2021 and various Keppel companies; Brother
International Philippines Corp. since May 2015; PPG Coatings (Philippines) Inc. since March 2012; Tosoh Polyvin
Corporation since March 2011 and various non-stock condominium corporations/foundation. She is likewise the Corporate
Secretary of Gruppo EMS Inc., EMS Resources Technology Inc., EMS Services Philippines, Inc., and Creotec Philippines
Inc., and Toyota Corolla Sapporo Philippines Holdings, Inc. since April 2024. Atty. Cayabyab is a Senior Partner of Bello
Valdez & Esguerra Law Offices. She obtained her Bachelor of Arts in Political Science from the University of the
Philippines — Diliman in 2003 and her Juris Doctor degree from the Ateneo de Manila University School of Law in 2007.
She was admitted to the Philippines Bar in 2008.

As Keppel Philippines Holdings, Inc. is an investment holding company, there are only two (2) employees holding senior
management positions in the Company, namely, the President and Vice President/Treasurer.

The Officers are elected annually by the Board of Directors at its first meeting following the Annual Meeting of the Stockholders,
each to hold office until the corresponding meeting of the Board of Directors in the next year or until a successor shall have
been elected or shall have been qualified.

Currently, there are no directors or officers connected with or employed by any government agencies or its instrumentalities.

The following are the incorporators of Keppel Philippines Holdings, Inc. as appearing on the Company’s Articles of Incorporation
dated 24 July 1975:

Name Nationalities
George Edwin Bogaars Singaporean
Chua Chor Teck Singaporean
Benjamin P. Mata Filipino
Jose F.S. Bengzon, Jr. Filipino
Adolfo S. Azcuna Filipino

Significant Employees

Other than its current officers mentioned in the preceding subsection, the Company has not engaged the services of any person
who is expected to make significant contribution to the business of the Company.

Please see attached Certifications that none of the directors/officers are connected with any government agencies or its
instrumentalities.

Family Relationships

There are no family relationships up to the fourth civil degree either by consanguinity or affinity among directors, executive
officers, persons nominated or chosen by the Company to become directors or executive officers, any security holder of certain
record, beneficial owner, or management.

Involvement in Certain Legal Proceedings

To the knowledge and/or information of the Company, none of the directors/nominees and officers was involved during the past
five (5) years up to the latest date in any bankruptcy proceedings. Neither have they been convicted by final judgment in any
criminal proceeding, or been subject to any order, judgment, or decree of competent jurisdiction, permanently or temporarily
enjoining, barring, suspending, or otherwise limiting their involvement in any type of business, securities, commodities, or banking
activities, nor found in an action by any court or administrative bodies to have violated a securities and commodities law. Aside
from the legal proceedings disclosed in page 13, there are no material legal proceedings that the Company or its subsidiary is a
party.

Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

Related party relationship exists when one party has the ability to control, directly, or indirectly through one or more
intermediaries, the other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions.
Such relationship also exists between and/or among entities which are under common control with the reporting enterprise, or
between and/or among the reporting enterprise and its key management personnel, directors, or its shareholder. In considering
each possible related party relationship, attention is directed to the substance of the relationship, and not merely the legal form.

In the ordinary course of business, the Company has transactions such as lease rental, short-term loans, payroll and
management services and other charges or reimbursements with companies considered as related parties or its affiliates. The
significant transactions with affiliates are indicated in Note 11 - Related Party Transactions of the Accompanying Audited
Consolidated Financial Statements and in Item E of the Management Report on page 22 to 23 of this report.

The directors have no self-dealing and related party transactions to disclose.

(b) There was no other director who resigned or declined to stand for re-election to the board of directors since the date of the last annual
meeting of security holders because of a disagreement with the Registrant on any matter relating to the Registrant’s operations, policies,
and practices.
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6. Compensation of Directors and Executive Officers

(a) As the Company is an investment holding company, it only has two (2) senior officers, namely, Alan |. Claveria, the President and
Felicidad V. Razon, the Vice-President/Treasurer.

The total annual compensation (inclusive of benefits) of the senior officers of the Company during the last two (2) fiscal years and the
projected aggregate compensation to be paid for the current fiscal year are as follows:

Name & Principal Position Year Salary (B) Bonus | Other Compensation
Aggregate for All Officers 2025 - Estimate 5,645,000 None None
2024 4,271,000 None None
2022 5,181,000 None None
Aggregate for All Officers and | 2025 - Estimate 6,145,000 None None
Directors as a Group 2024 6,400,000 None None
2023 5,831,000 None None

(b) Under the Company’s By-Laws, directors shall receive such compensation for their services from time to time as maybe fixed by the
stockholders. For the year 2024, there is no annual directors’ fee. However, payment was made on a per diem for each meeting
attended. There is no bonus, profit sharing or other compensation plan, contract, or arrangement in which any director, nominee for
election as director, or executive officers of the registrant will participate.

There were no standard or special arrangements and no special consulting contracts awarded to any director of the Company, which
was accordingly compensated or to be compensated and there are no amounts payable to any of the directors arising from participation
in any working committee or special assignments in the current fiscal year or in the coming year.

Actual directors paid and accrued in 2024 are as follows:

Compensation Per Diem

Name of Director (as Director) (2024) Total
Tan Kuang Liang - 375,000 375,000
Alan |. Claveria - - -
Celso P. Vivas* - 443,000 443,000
Ramon J. Abejuela* - 443,000 443,000
Leonardo R. Arguelles, Jr.* - 443,000 443,000
Stefan Tong Wai Mun - 443,000 443,000
Felicidad V. Razon - - -

*These directors receive per diem in their capacity as members of the committees of the Company.

_
K1)

The employment contracts of key personnel are standard contract between employee and Company, specifying the work
responsibilities, compensation and other benefits and is not exceptional in nature and will not be affected by a change-in-control, should
this occur, nor would it occur to a liability on the part of the registrant that would exceed R2,500,000 per officer.

(d) There are no existing warrants, options, or rights to purchase any securities being issued or given to the Directors or Executive Officers
as a form of compensation for services rendered.

7. Independent Public Accountants

(@ The external auditor of the Company for the most recently completed calendar year of 2024 is Isla Lipana & Co. (PwC). The Audit Risk
and Compliance Committee (ARCC), composed of Celso P. Vivas (Chairman), Ramon J. Abejuela, Leonardo R. Arguelles, Jr., and
Stefan Tong Wai Mun, has recommended to the Board the re-appointment of Isla Lipana & Co (PwC) as the external auditor of the
Company for the fiscal year 2025. The same shall be submitted to the stockholders for approval at the forthcoming annual stockholders’
meeting.

The ARCC evaluates proposals based on the quality of service, commitment to deadline and fees. The Committee may require a
presentation from each proponent to clarify some issues.

=
=

Ms. Imelda Dela Vega Mangundaya is the partner-in-charge for the audited financial statements of the Company for the year 2023 and
2024. While Ms. Catherine H. Santos, Partner of Isla Lipana & Co. (PwC), is the partner-in-charge for the audited financial statements
of the Company for the years ended 31 December 2022, 2021, and 2020. Representatives of Isla Lipana & Co. are expected to be
present during the stockholders' meeting. The representatives will have the opportunity to make statements if they desire to do so and
will be available to respond to appropriate questions from the security holders.

The Company is in full compliance with Revised SRC Rule 68, Part |, par. 3(b) (ix) on Rotation of External Auditors. The Company has
engaged Isla Lipana & Co. in 2016 and has not engaged Ms. Mangundaya, partner of Isla Lipana & Co., for more than five (5) years.

(c

The aggregate annual external audit fees billed for each of the last three (3) fiscal years for the audit of the Company’s annual financial
statements or services that are normally provided by the external auditor amounted to R0.6 million from 2022 to 2024. There were no
other services paid to Isla Lipana & Co. for the same periods.

(d) During the Registrant’s two (2) most recent fiscal years or any subsequent interim period,
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(1)  Noindependent accountant who was previously engaged as the principal accountant to audit the registrant's financial statements,
or an independent accountant on whom the principal accountant expressed reliance in its report regarding a significant
subsidiary, has resigned (or indicated it has declined to stand for re-election after the completion of the current audit) or was
dismissed; and

(2)  Nonew independent accountant has been engaged as either the principal accountant to audit the registrant's financial statements
or as an independent accountant on whom the principal accountant has expressed or is expected to express reliance in its report
regarding a significant subsidiary.

8. Compensation Plans
(a) No action is to be taken with respect to any stock options, warrants or rights plan.

(b) No action is to be taken with respect to any other type of compensation plan.

D. OTHER MATTERS

15. Actions with Respect to Reports
The approval of the stockholders on the following matters will be taken:
(@)  Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Approval of the Annual Report/Audited Financial Statements constitutes a ratification of the Company’s performance during the
previous fiscal year as contained therein.

(b)  Minutes of the 2024 Annual Meeting of the Stockholders

Approval of the Minutes of the 2023 Annual Stockholders’ Meeting held on 14 June 2023 constitutes a ratification of the accuracy
and faithfulness of the Minutes as to the events which transpired during the said meeting, such as the Approval of the Minutes of the
Annual Stockholders’ Meeting held on 14 June 2023, Presentation of the 2023 Annual Report and Approval of the 2023 Audited
Financial Statements, Ratification of Corporate Acts and Proceedings of the Board of Directors, Officers and Management for the
Period under Review, Election of Directors for the Year 2024 - 2025, Approval of Directors’ Remuneration, and Appointment of
External Auditor.

This does not constitute a second approval of the same matters taken up at the 2024 Annual Stockholders’ Meeting which had
already been approved.

STOCKHOLDERS PRESENT:

Total No. of Shares Outstanding 57,233,019
Total No. of Shares Present (in Person or Proxy) | 47,154,284
Percentage of Shares of Stockholders Present | 83.29%

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS PRESENT:

Tan Kuang Liang — Chairman of the Board

Alan I. Claveria — President

Celso P. Vivas - Lead Independent Director

Ramon J. Abejuela - Independent Director

Leonardo R. Arguelles, Jr. — Independent Director

Stefan Tong Wai Mun - Director

Felicidad V. Razon - Director/ Vice President / Treasurer
Maria Melva E. Valdez — Corporate Secretary

Pamela Ann T. Cayabyab - Assistant Corporate Secretary

The following were the significant matters discussed, resolutions reached, and the record of the voting results on 14 June 2024
Annual Stockholder’'s Meeting:

MATTERS DISCUSSED RESOLUTION VOTING RESULTS

Approval of the Minutes of the Previous | Approved F - 83.29%; Ag- 0%; Ab - 0%
Annual Stockholders’ Meeting Y2023

Presentation and Approval of the Y2023 | Approved F - 83.29%; Ag- 0%; Ab - 0%
Annual Report and Audited Financial

Statements

Ratification of the Acts and Proceedings | Approved F - 83.29%; Ag- 0%; Ab - 0%

of the Board of Directors, Officers and
Management of the Corporation during
the Year under Review 16 June 2023 to
13 June 2024

Election of Directors Approved F — 83.29%; Ag— 0%; Ab — 0%
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Approval of Directors’ Remuneration for | Approved F - 83.29%; Ag- 0%; Ab - 0%
Y2024 Approved

Appointment of External Auditor for | Approved F - 83.29%; Ag- 0%; Ab - 0%
Y2024

Legend: F - In favor; Ag - Against; Ab - Abstain
16. Matters Not Required to be Submitted
No action is to be taken with respect to any matter which is not required to be submitted to a vote of security holders.
17. Amendment of Charter, By-Laws, or Other Documents
There is no proposal to amend the articles of incorporation or by-laws of the Company.
18. Other Proposed Action

No action on any matter, other than those stated in the Agenda for the Meeting, including the following items, are proposed to be taken,
except matters of incidence that may properly come during the Meeting:

(@) Ratification of Corporate Acts and Proceedings of the Board of Directors, Officers and Management covering the period 14 June
2024 (date of Y2024 ASM) to April 2025. These acts and proceedings are covered by resolutions of the Board of Directors duly
adopted in the course of business which includes, among others: appointment of signatories/approval of signing authorities and limits;
treasury matters related to opening of accounts and bank transactions; and appointment of officer.

Corporate Acts/Resolutions (June 2024 to April 2025)

14 June 2024 e Approval of Directors’ Remuneration for 2024
(Regular Meeting) e Approval of Cash Dividend Declaration
14 June 2024 o Election of Officers for the ensuing year 2024 - 2025
(Organizational Meeting) e Appointment of Chairmen, Members of Various Committees and Compliance
Officer/Corporate Information Officer
13 August 2024 e Approval of Y2024 2@ Quarter Financial Results (SEC Form 17-Q) and Interim Results
(Regular Meeting)
12 November 2024 e Approval of Y2024 3rd Quarter Financial Results (SEC Form 17-Q)
(Regular Meeting)
4 February 2025 o Approval of the 2024 Consolidated and Parent Company Audited Financial Statements and
(Regular Meeting) the Release thereof
e Approval of the 2024 Annual Report (SEC Form 17-A) and Sustainability Report and the
Release thereof
e  Re-appointment of External Auditor for 2025
20 February 2025 e Acceptance of Kepwealth Inc.’s letter of intent to acquire, prior to the launch of the Tender
(Special Meeting) Offer, Keppel Ltd.’s stockholdings in KPHI, and other KPHI shares from willing sellers in

the open market, at the same price as the tender offer price.
e Approval of the Board of the Voluntary Delisting of KPHI
o  Setting of date of Special Stockholders meeting on 24 April 2025 meeting with record date

of 24 March 2025.
26 February 2025 e Approval and release of updated 2024 Consolidated and Parent Company audited financial
(Special Meeting) statements and Annual Report for 2024 and Sustainability Report

e  Holding of Annual Stockholders meeting on 24 April 2025 in lieu of the Special
Stockholders’ meeting approved last 20 February 2025

(b)  Election of members of the Board of Directors for the year 2025 — 2026
(c) Appointment of External Auditor for 2025
(d) Proposed Voluntary Delisting of the Company from the Philippine Stock Exchange, Inc

Proposed Voluntary Delisting of the Company
Letter of Intent and Announcement of Intention to Conduct a Tender Offer

On 20 February 2025, the Company received a letter from Kepwealth. Inc. (“Kepwealth”) requesting the Company to obtain the relevant
approvals for the voluntary delisting of the Company from The Philippine Stock Exchange, Inc. (‘PSE”) (the “Voluntary Delisting”), and
notifying the Company of Kepwealth's intention to make a tender offer (“Tender Offer”) for all the outstanding common shares of the
Company (stock symbols: KPH and KPHB) owned by the other stockholders (save for those owned by the members of the Company’s
Board of Directors with respect to their qualifying common shares) for the purpose of the Voluntary Delisting (the “Letter of Intent”).

As set out in the Letter of Intent, Kepwealth intends to do the Tender Offer at the price of PhP27.40 per share.

The Letter of Intent also states that the completion of the Tender Offer will be subject to the condition that Kepwealth will own, upon
such completion, and together with its then existing stockholdings, a total of at least 95% of the total issued and outstanding common
shares of KPHI or such percentage as the PSE may allow to effect the Voluntary Delisting of KPHI (“Voluntary Delisting Threshold”),
among other conditions standard for transactions of this nature. It also states that, in the event that the tendered shares are not sufficient
to reach the Voluntary Delisting Threshold, the Tender Offer shall nevertheless be completed with the acquisition by Kepwealth from
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the public of KPHI shares not exceeding approximately 7.13% or such percentage as will ensure that KPPHI remains compliant with
the minimum public ownership requirement of 10%. The tender offer report will set out the relevant procedures to cover this possibility.

As stated in the Letter of Intent, Kepwealth will launch the Tender Offer as soon as the relevant corporate approvals on the Voluntary
Delisting are obtained by the Company.

Kepwealth also indicated in the Letter of Intent that it intends to acquire, prior to the launch of the Tender Offer but subject to agreement
between the prospective parties and Kepwealth’s assessment of prevailing market conditions, Keppel Limited’s stockholdings in KPHI,
and other KPHI shares from the market, at the same price as the tender offer price. As of the date of this document, Kepwealth already
owns at least of the outstanding capital stock of the Company.

On 11 March 2025, the Company received notice from Kepwealth, Inc. of the publication of the announcement to conduct a tender offer
to acquire all the outstanding common shares of the Company with stock symbols KPH and KPHB. Pursuant to Rule 19.5 of the 2015
Implementing Rules and Regulations of the Securities Regulation Code that a copy of the notice shall be submitted to the Securities
and Exchange Commission on the date of publication, a letter notice dated 11 March 2025, annexed with proof of publication in the
Philippine Daily Inquirer, has been submitted to the SEC via electronic mail submission and disclosed to the PSE via the PSE Edge
portal.

Board Approval of the Voluntary Delisting

At a special meeting held by the Board of Directors of the Company on 20 February 2025, all of the members of the Board of Directors
of the Company, including its three independent directors (which constitute all of its independent directors), approved the filing of an
application by the Company for its Voluntary Delisting from the PSE in accordance with the Amended Voluntary Delisting Rules of the
PSE, the Securities Regulation Code and its Implementing Rules and Regulations (as amended), and any or all applicable rules related
thereto, subject to (1) the approval of the stockholders of the Company of the Voluntary Delisting, (2) the completion of the Tender Offer
by Kepwealth; and (3) Kepwealth owning, upon completion of the Tender Offer, and together with its then existing stockholdings, a total
of atleast 95% of the issued and outstanding common shares of KPHI or such percentage as the PSE may allow to effect the Voluntary
Delisting of KPHI.

The Board of Directors noted that the Tender Offer price of PhP27.40 per share is higher than: (i) the highest valuation of the
Company’s shares based on the based on the fairness opinion and valuation report dated February 13, 2025 prepared by MIB Capital
Corporation (the “Report”), an independent valuation provider, in accordance with applicable Philippine regulations, and (ii) the volume
weighted average price (“VWAP”) of the Company’s shares for one year immediately preceding and including the date of the board
meeting (which was also the trading day immediately prior to the date of posting of the disclosure of the approval by the Company’s
Board of Directors of the Voluntary Delisting on PSE EDGE). A copy of the Report is attached hereto as Annex A.

The Board of Directors appointed the Company’s Chairman, Tan Kuang Liang, or its President, Alan |. Claveria, together with its
Director, Stefan Tong Wai Mun, as the official signatories of the Company to sign, undertake, deliver all the documents, notices and
papers and do all other acts and things necessary, proper, or convenient to give effect to the resolutions in relation to the Voluntary
Delisting.

Stockholders’ Approval as a Requirement for Voluntary Delisting

As required under the Amended Voluntary Delisting Rules of the PSE, the Voluntary Delisting shall be subject to the approval by the
stockholders owning at least two-thirds (2/3) of the total outstanding and listed shares of Company. Further, the number of votes cast
against the delisting proposal should not be more than ten percent (10%) of the total outstanding and listed shares of the Company.

The above-mentioned information, as well as the necessary disclosures pursuant to the Tender Offer, have been submitted through
the PSE Edge portal in accordance with the applicable rules of the Philippine Stock Exchange.

19. Voting Procedures

(@) An affirmative vote by the stockholders owning at least a majority of the outstanding capital stock shall be sufficient for the approval
of the 1) Minutes of the Previous Stockholders’ Meeting; 2) Audited Financial Statements; 3) Ratification of the Acts and Proceedings
of the Board of Directors, Officers and Management of the Company from the date of the last annual stockholders’ meeting as reflected
in the minutes; and 4) Appointment of External Auditor.

The delisting must be approved by stockholders owning at least two-thirds (2/3) of the total outstanding and listed shares of Company.
Further, the number of votes cast against the delisting proposal should not be more than ten percent (10%) of the total outstanding
and listed shares of the Company.

(b) The holders of a majority of interest of all outstanding stock of the Company entitled to vote at the meeting, in person or by proxy, shall
constitute a quorum for the transaction of business.

(c) The holders of common stock are entitled to one vote per share, but in connection with the cumulative voting feature applicable to the
election of directors, each stockholder is entitled to as many votes as shall equal the number of shares held by such person at the
close of business on the record date, multiplied by the number of directors to be elected. A stockholder may cast all of such votes for
a single nominee or may apportion such votes among any two or more nominees. The shares shall be voted/cast by secret balloting
and/or raising of hands. In all matters included in the agenda, except the election of directors, the counting of votes will be done
through the regular method. For the election of directors, the counting will be cumulative.
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(d) Inthe election of director, the seven (7) nominees with the highest number of votes will be elected directors. If the number of nominees
for election as directors does not exceed the number of directors to be elected, the Secretary of the Meeting shall be instructed to cast
all votes represented at the Meeting equally in favor of all such nominees. Stock Transfer Service, Inc., a stock transfer agent, is
present to count and validate the votes during the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting. On the other hand, if the number of nominees for
election as directors exceeds the number of directors to be elected, voting shall be done by ballot, cumulative voting will be followed
and counting of votes shall be done by representatives of the Company’s external auditor or, in their absence, by the Corporate
Secretary.

(e) According to the Company’s Guidelines for Participation and Voting in absentia for 2025 Annual Stockholders’ Meeting, stockholders
who have successfully registered shall be notified via email of their unique log-in credentials for the voting portal. The Presiding Officer
shall ask the stockholders to vote on matters following the ASM Agenda. Participants can send their votes/objections via WebEx
Chatbox. Motions shall be considered carried upon garnering votes of present stockholders.

Method of Counting Votes

The Corporate Secretary will be responsible for counting the votes based on the number of shares entitled to vote owned by the stockholders
who are present or represented by proxies at the Annual Meeting of the stockholders.

20. Participation through Remote Communication

The Presiding Officer of the ASM shall ask the stockholders if they have questions on matters discussed. Participants can send their
questions via the WebEx Chatbox. The Presiding Officer and Moderator will read the questions. Concerned company representatives shall
endeavor to answer the questions as time will allow. Stockholders may send their questions in advance by sending an email bearing the
subject “ASM 2025 Open Forum/Questions” to info@keppelph.com on or before 20 April 2025.
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PART Il

INFORMATION REQUIRED IN A PROXY FORM
(This form shall be prepared in accordance with paragraph (5) of SRC Rule 20)
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KEPPEL PHILIPPINES HOLDINGS, INC.
MANAGEMENT REPORT

INFORMATION OF THE COMPANY

A. Description of Business

Keppel Philippines Holdings, Inc. (hereafter as “KPHI” or “Company”) was incorporated in July 1975 under the former name of Keppel Philippines
Shipyard, Inc. The Company was established as a subsidiary of Keppel Ltd. (KL), formerly Keppel Corporation Limited (KCL), of Singapore to
carry out ship repair and shipbuilding activities in the Philippines. In 1993, the Company was converted into an investment holding company
under the name of Keppel Philippines Holdings, Inc. KPHI shares are being traded at the Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE).

Currently, the Company has two core businesses: namely, investment holdings and real estate.

The contribution from each segment of the businesses to the consolidated revenues and net income of the Company is stated in Note 18 of the
audited financial statements.

C.

Subsidiaries under real estate industry:

KPS| Property, Inc. (“KPSI"), a wholly owned subsidiary of KPHI, owns and leases out the office space in Country Space 1 Building, Makati
City.

Goodwealth Realty Development Corp. (“GRDC”), 51% owned by KPHI, owns and leases out parcels of land in Batangas City.

Goodsoil Marine Realty, Inc. (GMRI), wholly owned by GRDC and effectively 51% owned by KPH, owns and leases the land in Bauan,
Batangas to Seatrium Philippines Marine, Inc. (SPMI) formerly Keppel Philippines Marine Inc. (KPMI) used for the construction and repair
of all types and classes of vessels, the fabrication of offshore marine structures together with the related services and operations of a
shipyard. GMRI is registered as an Ecozone Developer/Operator with the Philippine Economic Zone Authority (PEZA) since 2007. The
land was sold in March 2024 to an external party. As a result of the sale of GMRI's land. Its lease thereof to SPMI was terminated. GMRI
also ceased to be a PEZA Developer/ Operator as of September 3, 2024.

Consort Land, Inc. (“CLI"), 25% owned by GMRI and effectively 13% owned by KPHI, owns and leases the land in Subic, Zambales to
Seatrium Subic Shipyard, Inc. (SSSI), formerly Keppel Subic Shipyard, Inc. (“KSSI”) used for the construction and repair of all types and
classes of vessels and the fabrication of offshore marine structures. CLI is registered with PEZA as an Economic Developer /Operator of
the Subic Shipyard - Subic Economic Zone and purchases power and distributes to its locators.

KPHI owns the following properties:

Owned by Property Description Area
KPHI Two (2) office condominium units at Fedman Suite in Makati City 166 sqm
KPS| 'éw.o (2) <_>fﬁce corjdgminium units and five (5) parking slots at Country Space | 345 sqm
uilding in Makati City
GRDC Five (5) lots of residential land in Batangas City 1,500 sqm
CLI Land and building located in Subic, Zambales 819,743 sqm

The properties owned by the Company and its subsidiary and associates are free from any lien.

Legal Proceedings

On June 2, 2021, the Parent Company sold its land rights in a 10.4 has. property located in Bauan, Batangas to a non-related company
on an “as is where is” basis. The property is the subject of an ongoing case in the Regional Trial Court (RTC) in Batangas. As part of the
conditions of the sale, the necessary motions for substitution were made in court to replace the Company with the buyer as the new
plaintiff. On March 10, 2022, the RTC granted the Parent's Company’s motion for substitution resulting in the extinguishment of any
probable liabilities. Thereafter, PNOC filed a Petition for Certiorari with the Court of Appeals (CA) with the latter rendering judgment in
favor of PNOC on October 25, 2023. Motions for reconsideration were filed on November 24, 2023. In an Amended Decision dated July
18, 2024, the Court of Appeals granted the respondents’ Motion for Reconsideration, vacated the October 25, 2023 Decision, and
dismissed the Petition for Certiorari. The Petitioners assailed the CA Amended Decision before the Supreme Court through a Petition for
Review on Certiorari under Rule 45 dated September 20, 2024, and prayed for the Court to reinstate the Court of Appeals’ October 24,
2023 Decision. The case is still pending as of this period.

There are no other material legal proceedings that the Company or its subsidiaries is a party.
Securities of the Registrant

Market Price, Dividends and Related Stockholder Matters

The principal market of the Company’s common equity is PSE where it was listed last 26 August 1987. The high and low closing prices
for each quarter within the last two (2) fiscal years and first quarter of 2025 as traded at the Philippine Stock Exchange are as follows:
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2024 2023
High Low High Low
First Quarter ‘A’ P8.80 ‘A’ P4.99 ‘A’ P7.60 ‘A P5.12
‘B’ P8.00 ‘B’ P6.01 ‘B’ P6.48 ‘B’ P4.35
Second Quarter ‘A’ P25.00 ‘A’ P9.00 ‘A’ P7.30 ‘A’ P5.00
‘B’ P23.95 ‘B’ P8.50 ‘B’ P9.37 ‘B’ P6.55
Third Quarter ‘A’ P19.98 ‘A’ P13.02 ‘A P7.82 ‘A’ P4.02
‘B’ P19.92 ‘B’ P11.88 ‘B’ P10.44 ‘B’ P4.86
Fourth Quarter ‘A’ P16.48 ‘A P13.52 ‘A P6.48 ‘A P3.27
‘B’ P20.75 ‘B’ P15.30 ‘B’ P7.40 ‘B’ P4.90
2025
High Low
First Quarter (Jan to Mar 17) ‘A’ P27.40 ‘A P14.40
‘B’ P27.40 ‘B’ P15.48
The number of shareholders of record as of 24 March 2025 was 407.
Common shares outstanding as of 24 March 2025 were 57,233,019, and broken down as follows:
Nationality Class No. of Shares %

Filipino A 35,756,070 62.47

Filipino B 4,253,882 743

Foreign B 17,223,067 30.10

Total 57,233,019 100.00

The Company has 17.13% or 9,805,958 shares owned by the public out of the 57,233,019 total outstanding shares as of 24 March 2025.

The top 20 Stockholders as of 24 March 2025 are as follows:
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Shareholders No. of Shares Held %

1. | Kepwealth, Inc. 30,532,930 53.35
2. | Keppel Corporation Ltd. 16,894,087 29.52
3. | PCD Nominee Corp. - Filipino * 6,850,047 11.97
4, International Container Terminal Services, Inc. 2,121,287 3.71
5. | PCD Nominee Corp. — Foreign * 122,322 0.21
6. | Soh Ngoi May 83,179 0.15
7. | WillyY.C.Lim 60,175 0.11
8. | Edbert G. Tantuco 50,017 0.09
9. | Emilio C.Tiu 23,238 0.04
10. | National Book Store, Inc. 22,422 0.04
11. | Ang Guan Piao 21,900 0.04
12. | Manolo Z. Alcasabas 21,170 0.04
13. | Willy Yew Chai Lim 20,085 0.04
14. | Liwayway Sy 17,938 0.03
15. | Ma. Victoria R. Del Rosario 17,938 0.03
16. | Ramon R. Del Rosario Jr. 17,938 0.03
17. | Dr. Victorino Medrano Jr. &/or Ofelia R. Medrano 13,952 0.02
18. | Procurador General De Padres Franciscano De Manila 11,211 0.02
19. | Josefina Tengco Reyes 11,211 0.02
20. | Barcelon Roxas Securities Inc. 10,077 0.02

Total Outstanding Top 20 Shareholders 56,923,124 99.46%

Other Stockholders 309,895 0.54%

Total Outstanding and Subscribed 57,233,019 100.00%




The top 20 Stockholders of Class “A” shares out of 35,756,070 shares as of 24 March 2025 are as follows:

Shareholders No. of Shares Held %

1. | Kepwealth, Inc. 28,817,182 80.59
2. | PCD Nominee Corp. - Filipino 4,389,701 12.28
3. International Container Terminal Services, Inc, 2,121,287 5.93
4. | Emilio C. Tiu 23,238 0.06
5. | National Book Store, Inc. 22,422 0.06
6. | Ma. Victoria R. Del Rosario 17,938 0.05
7. | Ramon R. Del Rosario Jr. 17,938 0.05
8. | Liwayway Sy 17,938 0.05
9. | Dr. Victorino Medrano, Jr. &/or Ofelia R. Medrano 13,952 0.04
10. | Josefina Tengco Reyes 11,211 0.03
11. | Procurador General de Padres Franciscano de Manila 11,211 0.03
12. | Barcelon Roxas Securities, Inc. 9,924 0.03
13. | Denis L. Lipio ITF Elizah Anne Lipio 9,697 0.03
14. | Prudencio B. Zuluaga 8,969 0.03
15. | Justino H. Cacanindin 8,969 0.03
16. | Roberto Tan Lim 8,969 0.03
17. | Tomas L. Tiu 8,969 0.03
18. | Ignacio A. Tuazon 7,819 0.02
19. | Del Rosario, Jeannie 6,654 0.02
20. | Tantuco, Edbert G. 5,958 0.02

Total Outstanding Top 20 Class A shareholders 35,539,946 99.40%

Other Stockholders 216,124 0.60%

Total Qutstanding and Subscribed 35,756,070 100.00%

The top 20 Stockholders of “Class B” shares out of 21,476,949 shares as of 24 March 2025 are as follows:

Shareholders No. of Shares Held %
1. | Keppel Corporation Ltd. 16,894,087 78.66
2. | PCD Nominee Corporation — Filipino * 2,460,346 11.46
3. Kepwealth, Inc. 1,715,748 7.99
4. | PCD Nominee Corp. — Non- Filipino * 122,322 0.57
5. | Soh Ngoi May 83,179 0.39
6. | WillyY.C. Lim 60,175 0.28
7. | Edbert G. Tantuco 44,059 0.21
8. | Ang Guan Piao 21,900 0.10
9. | Manolo Z. Alcasabas 21,170 0.10
10. | Willy Yew Chai Lim 20,085 0.09
11. | Solidbank Trust Division as Sub-Custodian 8,000 0.04
12. | CBNA MLA OBO A/C # 6011800001 7,294 0.03
13. | Franciscan Phil Province 4,484 0.02
14. | Ronald Co &/or Susana Co 1,815 0.01
15. | Lee Patt Yong 1,663 0.01
16. | Keppel Marine Industries Limited 1,694 0.01
17. | BPITA# 13115826 1,303 0.01
18. | Citibank Mla OBO BBH (Lux) Sub A/C Fidelity 1,195 0.01
19. | Fernando Y. Adrias 1,135 0.01
20. | JONES &/OR YVONNE COLIN J1900099397 797 0.01

Total Outstanding Top 20 Class B shareholders 21,472,351 99.98%
Other Stockholders 4,598 0.02%
Total Outstanding and Subscribed 21,476,949 100.00%

The declaration and payment of dividends will depend, among others, upon the Company’s earnings, cash flow, capital requirements and
financial condition in addition to other factors. Cash dividends are subject to approval by the Board of Directors but no stockholders’
approval is required. Dividends are payable to stockholders whose names are recorded in the stock and transfer books as of the record
date fixed by the Board. The Company declared cash dividends in 2024, 2023 and 2022. Cash dividend details are as follows:

Y2024 Y2023 Y2022
Date of BOD Approval June 14 June 16 June 17
Record Date July 5 July 7 July 7
Payment Date July 31 Aug 2 July 31
Amount of Dividend per Share £0.20 or 20% R20.10 or 10% R20.10 or 10%

There has been no sale of registered or exempt securities within the past three years.
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D. Management'’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
Year Ended 2024

Keppel Philippines Holdings, Inc. (KPH) and its subsidiaries (the “Company”) recorded a net income of P1.1 billion in 2024, P22.3 million in
2023, and P12.3 million in 2022. The reasons for the changes in net income are as follows:

The Company earned P1.3 billion net gain from the sale of investment property of its 51% owned subsidiary, GMRI, of its land with a total area
of 24.9 hectares located in Bauan, Batangas to a non-related third party for P1.5 billion on March 7, 2024. The sale comes after a strategic
review of investments and the opportunity to sell the land at valuation. The cost of the land, commission and real property tax totaling P227.9
million were charged against the proceeds.

In 2024, the Company earned interest income from short-term bank deposits of P81.4 million higher than P32.5 million in 2023 and in 2022 of
P6.7 million. The Company did earn interest from loans in 2022 of P10.1 million. Loans in 2022 were fully paid in the same year. The increase
in interest from short-term bank deposits was mainly due to an increase in interest rates ranging from 5.75% to 6.125% in 2024 as against from
4.375% to 6% in 2023, and 0.4% to 5% in 2022. Interest rates on the loan are agreed upon with the related party on a comparable market rate
basis on the date of granting or renewal of the loan. Interest rates on loans range from 2.9% to 5.0% in 2022.

The equity in net earnings of associate - CLI as of 31 December 2024 amounted to P12.9 million as against in 2023 of P1.6 million, and P10.0
million in 2022. Increase or decrease in equity in net earnings of associate depends upon the net income realized by CLI during the years. The
Company received a cash dividend from CLI amounting to P5.2 million, and P7.0 million in 2023 and 2022, respectively, and none in 2024.

Rental revenue for 2024 amounted to P4.6 million, as against in 2023 of P12.8 million and in 2022 of P11.2 million. The decrease in lease
rental was due to the termination of lease rental from SPMI as a result of the Batangas land sale effective in March 2024. The remaining lease
rental comes from leases of condominium units of KPSI and some lots owned by GRDC.

Management fees charged to related parties amounted to P1.4 million both for 2024 and 2023 and P1.6 million in 2022. The decrease in 2024
and 2023 as compared with 2022 was due to timing difference in booking of the 4th quarter 2021 new accounting service fees from a related
company booked only in 2022.

In February 2020, the Parent Company entered into a payroll service agreement with related companies with regards to the payroll system
upgrade of the KPMI, KSSI and the Parent Company. Payroll service fees earned for the year 2022 amounted to P3.4 million. The agreement
was terminated in November 2022.

Operating expenses amounted to P49.7 million in 2024 as against P19.1 million in 2023 and in 2022 of P29.0 million. The increase of P30.6
million in 2024 as against 2023 was due to the following: a) loss on impairment on long-term lease contract with SPMI of P25.7 million; b)
provision for impairment losses for CWT and VAT by P4.8 million; c.) salaries and allowances by P1.4 million and professional fees by P2.2
million. These were partially offset by lower taxes and licenses by P2.8 million and by repair and maintenance expenses by P0.8 million. The
operating expenses for 2024 were also higher than in 2022 by P20.6 million due to the impairment on long-term lease of P25.7 million, higher
professional fees by P2.6 million and provision for impairment of P2.7 million. These were partially offset by lower salaries and allowances by
P3.1 million, taxes and licenses by P3.5 million, repairs and maintenance by P1.4 million, contractual services by P1.1 and
depreciation/amortization expense by P0.7 million.

The Company has unrealized fair value gain on financial asset fair value through other comprehensive income from a golf-club share of P15.0
million in 2024, P12.0 million in 2023, and P14.0 million in 2022. The Company recognized deferred tax liability of P12.7 million for 15% capital
gain tax if the golf-club share is sold in the future. The Company also recognized loss on remeasurement of retirement benefits based on
retirement actuarial retirement plan amounting to P0.5 million in 2024 and P1.4 million in 2023 and gain of P1.7 million in 2022.

Financial Condition

The cash position of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2024 amounted to P1,268 million as compared to the same period last year
of P575.5 million. The increase of P692.5 million is due to the proceeds from the sale of investment property of P1,474.4 million and interest
received from deposits of P79.5 million. This was offset by payment of dividends to shareholders of P638.4 million, payment of taxes of P206.6
million, contribution to the retirement fund of P0.8 million and net cash absorbed by operations of P15.7 million.

Total current receivables in 2024 relating to interest receivable amounted to P4.6 million as against P2.8 million in 2023. The current portion of
long-term receivable in 2023 amounted to P1.1 million and none in 2024.

Other current assets as of 2024 amounted to P1.6 million and P0.8 million in 2023. Movements in other current assets came from the following:
a) Creditable Withholding Tax (CWT) of P4.6 million, b) input VAT by P3.0 million, c) prepaid expenses of P1.1 million and d) advances to
employees and others of P0.4 million. Provisions for impairment were provided for CWT of P4.6 million and Input VAT P3.0 million.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) was revalued at million P85.0 million and P70.0 million as at
December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Investment in an associate increased from P417.6 million in 2023 to P430.5 million this year. The increase of P12.9 million relates to the equity
share in net income of CLI amounting to P51.5 million in 2024. In 2023, CLI had equity share of P1.6 million which was offset by dividend of
P5.2 million. In 2024, CLI did not issue dividends.

Investment properties, Property and equipment and Intangible assets — net of depreciation and amortization as of 2024 amounted to P4.7 million
as against P207.6 million in 2023. The decrease of P202.9 million was mainly due to the sale of land at Bauan, Batangas carried at P202.3
million, depreciation for the year of P0.8 million and cost of new office equipment of P0.2 million.
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Total liabilities increased from P6.4 million in 2023 to P17.6 million this year. The increase was due to the recognition of deferred tax liability
amounting to P12.8 million for the fair value other comprehensive income (FVOCI) financial asset at FVOCI.

Total equity as of 31 December 2024 amounted to P1,776.7 million and P1,295.0 million in December 2023. Retained earnings amounted to
P1,351.6 million as of December 2024 as compared to P773.5 million in December 2023. The increase in retained earnings was due to higher
net income after non-controlling interests of P589.5 million partially offset by a cash dividend of P11.4 million. The Company also had an
unrealized fair value gain on financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income of P2.3 million and remeasurement loss on
retirement benefit obligation of P0.5 million. The Company did not purchase any treasury shares this year. Non-controlling interest of minority
shareholders decreased from P330.4 million in 2023 to P232.2 million due to its recognition of P528.8 million shares in the net income of the
Company offset by P627.0 million cash dividends.

The equity attributable to equity holders of the parent amounted to P1,544.5 million and P964.6 million as of December 2024 and 2023,
respectively.

The net book value per share attributable to the equity holders of the parent as of December 2024 was P26.99 as against December 2023 of
P16.85. The earnings per share attributable to the equity holders of the parent as of December 2024 and 2023 were P10.30 and P0.31,
respectively.

Year Ended 2023

Keppel Philippines Holdings, Inc. (KPH) and its subsidiaries (the “Company”) recorded a net income of P22.3 million in 2023, P12.3 million in
2022, and P269.2 million in 2021. The reasons for the changes in net income are as follows:

In 2023, the Company earned interest income from short-term bank deposits of P32.5 million higher than in 2022 of P6.7 million and in 2021 of
P0.9 million. The Company did not earn interest from loans in 2023 as compared with P10.1 million in 2022 and P8.6 million in 2021. This was
due to the termination and full repayment of loans in 2022. Movement in interest earned was brought by the changes in interest rates over the
years and granting and repayment of loans. The increase on interest from short-term bank deposits was mainly due to increase in interest rates
ranging from 5% to 6% in 2023 as against from 0.4% to 5% in 2022, and 0.4% to 0.5% in 2021. Interest rates on loan are agreed upon with the
related party on a comparable market rate basis on the date of granting or renewal of the loan. Interest rates on loans range from 2.9% to 5.0%
in 2022 and 3.1% to 3.8% in 2021.

Rental revenue for 2023 amounted to P12.8 million as against in 2022 of P11.2 million and P9.1 million in 2021. Rental revenue in 2023 is P1.6
million higher than in 2022 due to an increase in rental rate amounting to P0.4 million and full year recognition of lease rental from external party
of P1.2 million. The rental revenue in 2022 was higher than in 2021 due to the non-continuance of rental concessions which were given both in
2021 and 2020 due to difficult business environment arising from the COVID-19 pandemic which affected the operation of SPMI. The rental
concession has been properly studied and justified to be within market practices.

The equity in net earnings of associate - CLI as of 31 December 2023 amounted to P1.6 million, as against P10.0 million and P6.7 million in
2022 and 2021, respectively. Increase or decrease in equity in net earnings of associate depends upon the net income realized by CLI during
the years. The Company received a cash dividend from CLI amounting to P5.2 million, P7.0 million and P7.5 million in 2023, 2022, and 2021,
respectively.

Management fees charged to related parties amounted to P1.4 million in 2023, P1.6 million in 2022 and P0.8 million in 2021. The increase of
P0.8 million from 2021 as against 2022 and 2023 was due to service fees earned by the Parent Company with its new accounting services
agreement entered with a related company in 2021. The decrease in 2023 as compared with 2022 was due to timing difference in booking of
the 4th quarter 2021 new accounting service fees from related company booked only in 2022,

In February 2020, the Parent Company entered into a payroll service agreement with related companies with regards to the payroll system
upgrade of the KPMI, KSSI and the Parent Company. Payroll service fees earned for the year 2022 amounted to P3.4 million as against P3.6
million in 2021. The agreement was terminated in November 2022.

In June 2021, the Company earned a one-off gain from the sale of land rights on a property in Bauan, Batangas amounting to P345.6 million.
The rights were sold to a non-related third-party buyer for a gross price of P358.6 million. A cash deposit to the Supreme Court of P4.1 million,
related legal expenses of P1.8 million, and commission expense of P7.2 million incurred and paid in 2021, were applied against the gross price
resulting to net gain of P345.6 million. There is no similar transaction in 2022 and 2023.

Operating expenses amounted to P19.1 million this year as against in 2022 of P29.0 million and P22.0 million in 2021. Lower expenses by P9.9
million in 2023 as against 2022 were due to the decrease in salaries and allowances, taxes and licenses, depreciation and amortization, repairs
and maintenance, utilities, membership dues and subscriptions, travel and transportation, and recovery of impairment loss on VAT booked in
prior years. While the year 2022’s operating expenses was higher than in 2021 by P7.0 million due to higher taxes and licenses, repairs, and
maintenance. Also, in 2022 there was a provision for impairment on creditable withholding tax of P1.7 million as against recovery of provision
for impairment in creditable withholding tax of P4.7 million in 2021.

The Company has unrealized fair value gain on financial asset fair value through other comprehensive income from a golf-club share of P12.0
million in 2023, P14.0 million in 2022, and P9.0 million in 2021. The Company also recognized loss on remeasurement of retirement benefits
assets based on retirement actuarial retirement plan amounting to P1.5 million in 2023, gain of P1.7 million and P2.0 million in 2022 and 2021,
respectively.
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Financial Condition

The cash position of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023 amounted to P575.5 million as against the same period last year of
P583.0 million. The decrease of P7.5 million was from payment of dividend of P35.0 million, cash absorbed by operations of P1.8 million and
income tax paid of P7.2 million. This was offset by the interest received from short-term deposits of P31.4 million and cash dividend received
of P5.2 million.

Total receivables both current and non-current in 2023 are at the same level as last year of P29.8 million. Interest receivable from bank deposits
amounted to P2.8 million this year as against last year of P1.6 million. The current portion of long-term receivable is at P1.1 million both in 2023
and 2022.

Other current assets are almost at same level both in 2023 and 2022 of P0.8 million. Movements in other current assets came from the following:
a) increase in creditable withholding tax by P0.4 million which was offset by decrease in allowance of P0.4 million; b) increase in advances to
employees and others by P0.1 million; c) decrease in prepaid expenses by P0.4 million; and d) the provision on Input VAT in 2022 of P0.6
million was fully utilized.

Available-for-sale financial assets related to a quoted club share at fair value price as of December 2023 and 2022 amounted to P70.0 million
and P58.0 million, respectively.

Investment in an associate decreased from P421.2 million in 2022 to P417.6 million this year. The net decrease of P3.6 million was due to an
equity share in net income of CLI of P1.6 million reduced by the cash dividend received this year amounting to P5.2 million.

Investment properties, Property and equipment and Intangible assets — net of depreciation and amortization as of 2023 amounted to P207.6
million as against P208.4 million in 2022. The decrease of P0.8 million was due to the depreciation for the year. There were no purchases or
disposal made during the year.

Total liabilities slightly increased from P5.1 million in 2022 to P6.4 million this year. The increase of P1.3 million was due to recognition of
retirement liability of P0.8 million, increase in accrual of expenses and other payables of P0.4 million and increase in advance rental and deposits
of P0.1 million.

Total equity as of 31 December 2023 amounted to P1,295.0 million and P1,297.2 million in December 2022. Retained earnings amounted to
P773.5 million as of December 2023 as compared to P761.4 million in December 2022. The increase in retained earnings was due to higher
net income after non-controlling interests of P17.8 million partially offset by a cash dividend of P5.7 million. The Company also had an unrealized
fair value gain on financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive income of P12.0 million and remeasurement loss on retirement
benefit obligation of P1.5 million. The Company did not purchase any treasury shares this year. Non-controlling interest of minority shareholders
decreased from P355.2 million in 2022 to P330.4 million due to its recognition of P4.5 million shares in the net income of the Company and
P29.3 million cash dividends.

The equity attributable to equity holders of the parent amounted to P964.6 million and P942.0 million as of December 2023 and 2022,
respectively. The net book value per share as of December 2023 was P16.85 as against December 2022 of P16.46. The earnings per share
attributable to the equity holders of the parent as of December 2023 and 2022 were P0.31 and P0.08, respectively.

Year Ended 2022

Keppel Philippines Holdings, Inc. (KPHI) and its subsidiaries (the “Company”) recorded a net income of P12.2 million in 2022, P269.2 million in
2021, and P26.1million in 2020. The reasons for the changes in net income are as follows:

The Company earned interest income from loans granted to related company and from short-term bank deposits. The Company earned total
interest income of P16.8 million in 2022, P9.6 million in 2021, and P12.1 million in 2020. The interest earned from loans amounted to P10.1
million in 2022, P8.6 million in 2021, and P11.3 million in 2020. Movement on interest earned was brought by the granting and repayment of
loans and changes in interest rates over the years. Interest rates on loan are agreed upon with the related party on a comparable market rate
basis on date of granting or renewal of the loan. Interest rates on loans range from 2.9% to 5.0% in 2022, 3.1% to 3.8% in 2021 and 3.4% to
4.9% in 2020. There was new loan granted in 2022 which amounted to P100 million. Outstanding loan receivable of P340 million were fully
paid in November 2022. On the other hand, interest from short-term deposits and T-bills amounted to P6.7 million in 2022 and P0.9 million both
in 2021 and 2020. The increase on interest was mainly due to higher amount placed for time deposits and T-bills in 2022 and increase in
interest rates ranging from 0.4% to 5% in 2022 as against 0.4% to 0.5% p.a. in 2021 and 0.5% to 3.6% p.a. in 2020.

Rental revenue for the 2022 amounted to P11.2 million as against P9.1 million in 2021 and P33.3 million in 2020. Rental revenue in 2022 is
higher than in 2021 due to the non-continuance of rental concessions during the year. Rental concessions were given both in 2021 and 2020
due to difficult business environment arising from the COVID-19 pandemic which affected the operation of KPMI. The rental concession has
been properly studied and justified to be within market practices. Rental revenues in 2022 and 2021 were lower than in 2020 due to the
termination of lease rental on properties in Bauan, Batangas to a third party in December 2020.

The equity in net earnings of associate - CLI as of 31 December 2022 amounted to P10.0 million, as against P6.7 million and P7.6 million in
2021 and 2020, respectively. Increase or decrease in equity in net earnings of associate depends upon the net income realized by CLI during
the years. The Company received cash dividend from CLI amounting to P7.0 million, P7.5 million and P8.7 million in 2022, 2021, and 2020,
respectively.

In February 2020, the Parent Company entered into a payroll service agreement with related companies with regards to the payroll system
upgrade of the KPMI, KSSI and the Parent Company. Payroll service fees earned for the year 2022 amounted P3.4 million as against P3.6
million in 2021 and P1.1 million in 2020. The agreement was terminated in November 2022.
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Management fees charged to related parties amounted to P1.6 million in 2022 as against P0.8 million from 2021 to 2020. The increase of P0.8
million was due to service fees earned by the Parent Company with its new accounting services agreement entered with a related company,
Bay Philippines Holdings Corp., a Philippines-incorporated company, and member of the Keppel Group.

In June 2021, the Company earned a one-off gain from the sale of land rights on a property in Bauan, Batangas amounting to P345.6 million.
The right was sold to a non-related third-party buyer for a gross price of P358.6 million. Cash deposit to the Supreme Court of P4.1 million,
related legal expenses of P1.8 million, and commission expense of P7.2 million incurred and paid in 2021, were applied against the gross price
resulting to net gain of P345.6 million. There is no similar transaction in 2022.

Operating expenses amounted to P29.0 million, P22.0 million, and P24.9 million in 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively. Year 2021 had lower
expenses than in 2022 and 2020 mainly due to recovery of provision for impairment in creditable withholding tax of P4.7 million in 2021 as
against provision of P1.7 million this year. There was also increase in maintenance expenses relating to various payroll services in 2022 of P1.6
million as against P1.2 and P0.2 million in 2021 and 2020, respectively.

The Company has unrealized fair value gain on financial asset fair value through other comprehensive income from a golf-club share of P14.0
million in 2022, P9.0 million in 2021, and loss of P2.0 million in 2020. The Company also recognized gain on remeasurement of retirement
benefits assets based on retirement actuarial retirement plan amounting to P1.7 million in 2022, P2.0 million in 2021 and loss in 2020 of P1.1
million.

Financial Condition

The cash position of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2022 amounted to P583.0 million as against the same period last year of
P341.1 million. The increase of P241.9 million was from net loan collected/granted of P240.0 million, interest received from short-term deposits
and loan receivable of P15.1 million, cash dividend received of P7.0 million and net proceeds from disposal of fixed asset of P3.4 million. This
was partially offset by net cash absorbed by operation of P7.4 million, cash dividend paid of P15.6 million, buy-back of treasury shares of P0.7
million, income tax paid of P0.4 million, and purchase of office equipment of P0.3 million.

Total receivables both current and non-current this year amounted to P29.8 million from P272.5 million as of last year. The net decrease of
P242.7 million was due mainly to the repayment of loan by a related party amounting to P240 million.

Other current assets decreased from P1.7 million to P0.8 million this year. The decrease was due to higher provision for impairment of creditable
withholding tax of P1.6 million and input VAT of P0.1 million this year. While in 2021, there was net recovery of P4.6 of provision for impairment
of creditable withholding tax which was fully applied against tax payment.

Available-for-sale financial assets related to a quoted club share at fair value price as of December 2022 and 2021 amounted to P58.0 million
and P44.0 million, respectively.

Investment in an associate increased from P418.2 million in 2021 to P421.2 million this year. The net increase was due to equity share in net
income of CLI of P10.0 million reduced by the cash dividend received this year amounting to P7.0 million.

Investment properties, Property and equipment and Intangible assets — net of depreciation and amortization as of 2022 amounted to P208.4
million as against P212.9 million in 2021. The decrease was due to the disposal of computer hardware and software related to the payroll
system amounting to P4.5 million.

Total liabilities slightly increased from P4.9 million in 2021 to P5.1 million this year. The increase of was due to advances rentals and security
deposits of new external tenant.

Total equity as of 31 December 2022 amounted to P1,297.2 million and P1,285.6 million in December 2021. Retained earnings amounted to
P761.4 million as of December 2022 as compared to P762.6 million in December 2021. The decrease in retained earnings was due to lower
net income after non-controlling interests of P4.5 million partially offset by cash dividend of P5.7 million. The Company also had unrealized gain
on fair value of financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive income of P14.0 million and remeasurement gain on retirement benefits
P1.7 million. The Company also bought back its own shares amounting to P0.7 million. Non-controlling interest of minority shareholders also
recognized P7.7 million shares in the net income of the Company and received dividends of P9.9 million.

The equity attributable to equity holders of the parent amounted to P942.0 million and P928.2 million as of December 2022 and 2021,
respectively. The net book value per share as of December 2022 was P16.46 as against December 2021 of P16.19. The earnings per share
attributable to the equity holders of the parent as of December 2022 and 2021 were P0.08 and P4.61, respectively.

Plan of Action for 2025

KPHI shall focus on maintaining and adding value on its investment properties. Among others, the strategies may include purchase of shares
of stock, purchase of additional investment properties, increasing occupancy and rental rates. Certain properties may be considered for sale
where it can contribute the best value to the Company and its shareholders. Investment properties of strategic value shall be reviewed for further
investments where appropriate. Further, given the sale of Bauan, Batangas property, the proceeds therefrom contributed to KPHI having
significantly higher cash balance compared to December 31, 2023. With this, KPHI will review its options for the best use of its cash.
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Key Performance Indicators

The key performance indicators of the Company for the last three (3) fiscal years are follows:

Particulars 2024 2023 2022
Current Ratio
(Current Assets/Current Liabilities) 372.74 163.48 186.02
Acid Test Ratio or Quick Ratio
(Monetary Current Assets/Current Liabilities) 372.28 163.27 187.75
Solvency Ratio*
(Net Income + Depreciation)/Total Liabilities) 63.45 3.62 2.68
(Total Assets/Total Liabilities) 101.73 204.35 254.06
Asset to Equity Ratio 1.01 1.01 1.00
Debt Ratio
(Total Liabilities/Total Assets) 0.01 0.005 0.004
Debt to Equity Ratio
(Total Liabilities/Stockholders’ Equity) 0.01 0.005 0.004
Return on Assets (%) *
(Net Income/Total Assets) 62.33 1.71 0.94
Return on Equity (%) *
(Net Income/Stockholders’ Equity) 62.95 1.72 0.94
Earnings per Share Attributable to Equity Holders of Parent (R) * 10.30 0.31 0.08
Book Value per Share Attributable to Equity Holders of the Parent (B) |  26.99 16.85 16.46

*Annualized

Material Events and Uncertainties

There are no known trends, commitments, events or uncertainties that will have a material impact on liquidity, whether favorable or unfavorable,
on the revenues or income from continuing operations of the Company.

There are no events that will trigger a direct contingent financial obligation that is material to the Company, including any default or acceleration

of an obligation.

There are also no off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements, obligations (including contingent obligations), and other relationships of the
Company with unconsolidated entities or other persons created during the year.

There are no material commitments for capital expenditures, or the general purpose of such commitments that would affect the resources of
funds of the Company.

There are no seasonal aspects that have a material effect on the financial statements.

E. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

In the ordinary course of business, the Company has transactions with companies considered as related or its affiliates. The significant
transactions with affiliates are as follows:

Outstanding
Transactions receivable (payable)
Related party Notes 2024 2023 2022 2024 2023  Terms and conditions
Entities under common control
Loans (a) Outstanding balance is collectible
SPMI in cash, with terms of 88 to 90
Principal 3 - (240,000,000) days subject for renewal, interest-
Interest income — SPMI 3 7,225,921 bearing and unsecured 2024 and
-SSSI 2,865,294 2023 - nil (2022 - 2.9% to 5%).
Leases (b)
Rental income
SPMI 1,860,118 10,711,815 Outstanding balance is collectible
Keppel IVI Investment, Inc. in cash within the first five (5)
(KIVI) 300,000 300,000 300,000 days of each month, non-interest
Keppel Energy and bearing and unsecured.
Consultancy, Inc. (KECI) 120,000 120,000 120,000
7 420,000 2,280,118 11,131,815
Advance rentals Outstanding balance is to be
SPMI - - applied on the last monthly rental
KIVI (25,000) (25,000) at end of lease term, is non-
KECI (10,000) (10,000) interest bearing and unsecured.
7 (35,000) (128,392)
Various expenses and charges (c)
SPMI 221,859
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Outstanding

Transactions receivable (payable)
Related party Notes 2024 2023 2022 2024 2023  Terms and conditions
Keppel Enterprise Services Ltd. - 106,907 377,035 - - Outstanding balance is collectible
- - in cash on demand, non-interest
Payroll service fees (d) bearing and unsecured.
SSSI - - 1,806,659 - -
SPMI - - 1,587,965 - -
- - 3,394,624 - -
Management fees (e)
Bay Philippines Holdings, Inc. 605,000 660,000 825,000 - -
KECI 240,000 240,000 240,000 - -
KIVI 180,000 180,000 180,000 - -
Kepventure, Inc. 60,000 60,000 60,000 - -
1,085,000 1,140,000 1,305,000 -

Sale of fixed assets — SPMI 8,9 - - 3,354,562 - -

Other income
Commission (f)

Consort Land, Inc. 2,058,000 - - - -
Director’s fees
KPPI - 140,000 230,000 - -
Associates
Cash dividends received 6 - 5,239,859 6,986,479 - - Outstanding balance is collectible
in cash on pay-out date as
approved by the related party's
BOD, non-interest bearing and
unsecured.
Shareholders of Parent Company

Cash dividends declared and paid Outstanding balance is payable
Kepwealth, Inc. 6,106,586 3,053,293 3,053,293 - - in cash on pay-out date as
KL 3,378,818 1,689,409 1,689,409 - - approved by the Parent
Others 1,981,200 980,600 981,400 (851,818) (765,714) Company's BOD, non-interest

bearing and unsecured.
10,14 11,446,604 5,723,302 5,723,842 (851,818) (765,714)

Various expenses and charges (b) Outstanding balance is collectible
KL 237,978 85,276 221,100 - - in cash on demand, non-interest
Kepwealth Inc. - - 29,131 - - bearing and unsecured.

Management fees (e)

Kepwealth, Inc. 276,000 276,000 276,000 - -

(a) Loans
The Group granted short-term, interest-bearing loans to SPMI and SSSI. The loans were fully paid in November 2022 and no loans
were granted thereafter.

2022

January 1 240,000,000

New loans granted 100,000,000

Collections (340,000,000)

December 31 -
(b) Leases

The Group leases certain investments properties to related parties. SPMI formerly known as KPMI is no longer considered as related
party of the Group effective March 1, 2023.

2023 2022 2021

External party 4,191,450 10,539,288 99,809
Related party 420,000 2,280,118 11,131,815
4,611,450 12,819,406 11,231,624

(c) Various expenses and charges

The Group paid for various reimbursable expenses which are utilized in the normal operations of SPMI and Keppel Enterprise Services
Pte. Ltd. amounting to nil and P106,907 in 2023 (2022 - P221,859 and P377,035), respectively. There are no similar transactions in
2024.

(d) Payroll service fees

In 2020, the Group entered into payroll service agreements with KSSI and KPMI for the use of the payroll system of the Group. The
Group charges these parties at agreed service fees for the one-time and recurring charges incurred by the Group. These agreements
are considered renewed every year thereafter and subject to mutual amendments or termination by the parties. The agreement was
terminated effective November 2022.

(e) Management fees

Since 2013 the Group had management agreements with related companies with monthly management fees which are subject to
change depending upon the extent and volume of services provided by the Group. The services cover regular consultancy, handling of
financial reporting, personnel and administration services including payroll and other government documentary requirements. The

agreements are considered renewed every year thereafter, unless one (1) party gives the other a written notice of termination at least
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three (3) months prior to the expiration date at an agreed fixed monthly fee, which is subject to increase depending upon the extent and
volume of services.

In April 2021, the Parent company signed an accounting services agreement with Bay Philippines Holdings Corp. an entity
under common control, with monthly fee of P55,000 excluding out-of-pocket expenses. The services cover handling of financial
reporting and government documentary requirements. The agreement is subject to automatic annual renewal until terminated
by either party at any time by giving notless than ninety (90) days written notice to the other party. The agreement was terminated
last December 6, 2024.

()  Commission
In 2024, the Group also entered into one-time agreement with CLI to assist the latter in the sale of its land situated at Subic, Zambales
with the Group earning a 3% commission amounting to P2.1 million.

F. Management and Certain Security Holders

Directors, Executive Officers
There are seven (7) members of the Board, three (3) of whom are independent directors who hold office for one (1) year. Please refer to
Part |, pages 6 to 7 of SEC Form 20-IS for the list of incumbent directors and officers.

G. Information on Independent Accountants and Other Related Matters

(1)  External Audit Fees and Services
a. Audit and Related Fees - The Company proposes to have the external auditor, Isla Lipana & Co. (PwC) to audit the financial
statements for the Year 2025. Amount of fee will be discussed with the Management.
The aggregate fee billed by Isla Lipana & Co. for audit of the Company’ s annual financial statements was PhP0.6 million from
2022 to 2024. There were no other services performed by Isla Lipana & Co. during the last three (3) fiscal years. The services
performed by the Company’s external auditors and the fees are reviewed by the Audit Risk and Compliance Committee (ARCC)
prior to submission to the Board of Directors for approval.
b.  Tax Fees — No tax fees were paid from 2022 to 2024.
Other Fees — No other fees were paid from 2022 to 2024.
d.  Audit Risk & Compliance Committee’s Approval Policies & Procedures — The Committee evaluates proposals based on the
quality of service, commitment for deadline and fees. The Committee may require a presentation from each proponent to clarify
some issues.

o

(2) Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

Changes in accounting standards in accordance with PFRS are stated in Note 20 to the financial statements. For the last three (3)
fiscal years, there were no disagreements with the independent accountants relating to accounting principles or practices, financial
statements disclosure, or procedure.

H. Corporate Governance

The Company had been in substantial compliance with its Manual on Corporate Governance (“Manual”). There were no major deviations
from the adopted Manual. The Company, its directors, officers and employees complied with all the leading practices on good corporate
governance as embodied in the Corporation’s Manual.

Four of the seven members of the Board of Directors of the Company and Officers completed a seminar on Corporate Governance
(Strategic Thinking for Board Directors and Leaders) on 01 October 2024 conducted by Center for Global Best Practices.

Per SEC Memorandum Circular No. 15, Series of 2017 and SEC Memorandum Circular No. 10, Series of 2019, publicly-listed companies
such as KPHlI is required to submit an Integrated Annual Corporate Governance Report (I-ACGR). The Company submitted its I-ACGR
for the year 2022 on 29 May 2023 and for the year 2023 on 30 May 2024. There was no Advisement Report in 2024 since there was no
material transaction reaching 10%-of- total-assets limit.

The roles of the Chairman and CEO are separate, and there are adequate checks and balances to ensure that independent, outside views,
perspectives, and that judgment are given proper hearing in the Board.

The Board's responsibility is to oversee the business, assets, affairs and performance of the Company in the best interest of its
shareholders. The Board focuses its activities on corporate strategy, major investments and divestments, financial performance, risk
management and other corporate governance practices. Management's responsibility is to run the business in accordance with the policies
and strategies set by the Board. The Company held eight (8) Board of Directors meetings in 2024.
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Date of Board Meeting

Name 29 January 7 March 3 April 10 May 14 June 14 June 13 August 12 November
2024 2024 2024 2024 2024 2024 2024 2024 % of
Regular Special Special Regular Regular Organizational Regular Regular Attendance

1. Kevin Chng Chee Keong* 4 4 .
2. Tan Kuang Liang ** v v v v v v 100%
3. Celso P. Vivas - Lead

Independent Director v v v v v v v v 100%
3. Ramon J. Abejuela

Independent Director v v i v i Y v v 100%
4. Leonardo R. Arguelles o

Independent Director v v v v v v v v 100%
5. Stefan Tong Wai Mun v v v v v v v v 100%
6. Alan |. Claveria v v v v v v v v 100%
7. Felicidad V. Razon v v v v v v v v 100%

*Resigned April 1, 2024; ** Appointed April 3, 2024

Legend:
v’ - present % - absent

The three (3) independent directors filed with the SEC and PSE their certificates of qualification declaring that they possess all the
qualifications to serve as an independent director as provided in Section 38 of the Securities Regulation Code and its implementing rules
and regulations. The certifications include listings of affiliations with companies and organizations and compliance with the independent
directors’ duties and responsibilities.

The Audit Risk and Compliance Committee (ARCC) , assists the Board to ensure integrity of financial reporting and that there is in place
sound internal control, enterprise risk management systems and related party transactions. All ARCC members have the related financial
and accounting expertise and experience necessary to discharge their responsibilities. The Company adopted a Committee Charter
submitted to SEC on 2 October 2012. The ARCC comprises of the following members: Celso P. Vivas as Chairman - Lead Independent
Director; Ramon J. Abejuela - Independent Director, Leonardo R. Arguelles, Jr. - Independent Director and Stefan Tong Wai Mun - Director,
as members. The ARCC met five (5) times in 2024 (29 January, 10 May, 13 August, 12 November and 20 December). The ARCC met
the external auditor, Isla Lipana & Co. (PwC), on 20 December 2024 without the presence of the management.

The Corporate Governance and Nominations Committee (CGNC) covers matters on corporate governance, nomination and compensation.
It is comprised of Ramon J. Abejuela as Chairman/Independent Director, Celso P. Vivas — Lead Independent Director, Leonardo R.
Arguelles, Jr. — Independent Director and Stefan Tong Wai Mun - Director, as members. The CGNC met two (2) times in 2024 (10 May
and 13 August).

The Board finds the Company’s existing performance monitoring system efficient and that the Board and Management (including officers
and staff) are fully committed in adhering to the principles and best practices of the Company’s Manual. The Company thus considers its
Manual sufficient to serve as its guide, to ensure that it operates with utmost integrity and to the highest standards of business conduct.

KPHI conducts an annual assessment of the Board through a Board Evaluation Questionnaire (BEQ) covering key areas such as (a) Board
Composition, (b) Board Independence, (c) Board Process, (d) Board Committees, (e) Board Information, (f) Board Accountability, (g)
Standards of Conduct, (h) Board Performance, (i) Board Committee Performance, and (j) Financial Performance. The objective of the
assessment is to uncover strengths and challenges so that the Board will be in a better position to provide the required expertise and
oversight. The Board rates the BEQ statements as 1-Needs Significant improvement, 2- Needs Improvement, 3 - Consistently Good, or 4
- Outstanding.

The Board Assessment Evaluation - Self-Assessment Result for the year 2023-2024 was discussed during the Corporate Governance &
Nomination Committee meeting held on 13 August 2024. The total score for the evaluation for the year 2023-2024 is 84% Outstanding,
14% Consistently Good and 2% Needs Improvement as compared to the year 2022-2023 board evaluation results of 81% Outstanding,
17% Consistently Good and 2% Needs Improvement.

The Board of Directors of the Company approved its Amended Manual on Corporate Governance on 4 February 2010 pursuant to SEC
Memorandum Circular No. 6, series of 2009 (Revised Code of Corporate Governance) and submitted the same to SEC on 15 March 2010.
The Company also complied with the submission of SEC Form ACGR (Annual Corporate Governance Report) to SEC and PSE (online)
on 1 July 2013 as per SEC Memorandum Circular No. 5, series of 2013. The Company submitted the New Manual on Corporate
Governance in July 2017 and was revised and approved on 10 November 2017. The Company also submitted to SEC its I-ACGR for the
Y2017 on 30 May 2018, for the Y2018 on 30 May 2019, for the Y2019 on 24 August 2020 via email and courier, for the Y2020 on 30 May
2021, for the Y2021 on 31 May 2022, for Y2022 on May 29, 2023, and for Y2023 on May 30, 2024.
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February 13, 2025

Kepwealth, Inc. Al\ I\ f—:)\ A

Unit 3-8 Country Space 1 Bldg.,
133 Sen. Gil Puyat Ave., Salcedo Village,
Brgy. Bel-Air, Makati City

Attention: Mr. Alan |. Claveria
President

Gentlemen:

We are pleased to submit our findings in connection with our appointment as independent Fairness
Opinion Provider to Kepwealth, Inc. (“Kepwealth") in connection with its request for a fairness
opinion on the terms of its planned tender offer for delisting purposes, to the shareholders of Keppel
Philippines Holdings, Inc. (*KPHI" or the “Company”) at a tender offer price of Php 27.40 per share.

In preparing our report, we relied on documents which were either provided by Kepwealth or
obtained from third-party sources. We assumed that the information provided to us by Kepwealth
or obtained from third-party sources were accurate and reliable.

To estimate the value of KPHI, we looked at four (4) alternative approaches but applied the
Discounted Cash Flow and Net Asset Value methods.

Discounted Cash Flow

Since KPHI is a going concern and is expected to generate future free cash flows to equity, we are of
the opinion that the discounted cash flow method is an appropriate method to value KPHI,

Under this method, we used the financial projections of the Company covering the period until 2029.
We reviewed the projected numbers, and the relevant assumptions used in the model, such as its
projected revenues and expenses. We also compared the projected figures against KPHI's actual
financial statements as of December 31, 2024, and found sufficient basis to use them in our
valuation.

After reviewing the financial projections and deeming them acceptable, we computed for KPHI's
annual Free Cash Flows to Equity (FCFE) and discounted the same to their net present values as of
December 15, 2024, using a discount rate of 12.3871%.

After adding all the net present values of the FCFEs, our computed value for KPHI using the DCF
method is Php 1,524,469,353 or Php 26.64 per share.



Net Asset Value

For our second valuation method, we applied the Net Asset Value method using KPHI's actual
unaudited financial statements as of December 31, 2024, We reviewed the financial statements and
adjusted the Investment in an Associate, Investment Properties and Property and Equipment
accounts using inputs from the appraisal reports provided by the Company:

All other assets and liabilities were retained as is. After deducting the liabilities from the adjusted
assets, we arrived at a total net asset value of Php 1,786,365,337. We deducted the noncontrolling
interest from the total equity to eliminate the portion of the recorded assets not owned by KPHI and
arrived at a net equity value of Php 1,550,779,423. This resulted in a per-share value of Php 27.10.

CONCLUSION

Based on our review of the operation, financial condition and projections on the performance of
KPHI, we deemed the DCF and NAV methods to be most appropriate in valuing the Company.

Using the information submitted to and secured by MIB Capital and our pertinent analyses thereof,
our resulting range of value per share is between Php 26.64 to Php 27.10 per share. Based on this
range, we are of the opinion the tender offer price of PHP 27.40 per share is fair from a financial point
of view and provides a slight advantage to the shareholders of KPHI that will participate in the tender
offer.

Attached for your reference is our full report detailing our findings. This letter should be read only in
conjunction with the said attached report.

It was a pleasure being of service to you and we assure you of our desire to be of service.

Very truly yours,

MiB CAQ‘_SAI. CORPORATION
oIS

. Mafilou C. Cristobal olﬁﬁ':m‘fgfum

“““Chairperson Prasident
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This Fairness Opinion report (the “Report™) was prepared by:

MIB CAPITAL CORPORATION
(“MIB Capital” of the “Falrness Opinion Service Provider")

Due to the nature of the study and the materiality of the information contained herein, the
Report and its contents are strictly confidential. This report and its contents should not be
reproduced, circulated, or quoted from without the Valuation Service Provider’s prior
consent. In no event or circumstance shall the Valuation Service Provider assume any
responsibility to any third party to whom this Report or its contents are disclosed or made
available. MIB Capital, or any of its officers or employees, shall not be liable for any and all
direct or consequential losses or damages arising from any use of this publication or its
contents.

Date of Report
February 13, 2025
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I, Executive Summary

BACKGROUND AND OBJECTIVE

This report was prepared by MIB Capital Corporation as an independent Fairness Opinion Provider
to Kepwealth, Inc. (“Kepwealth”) in connection with its request for a fairness opinion on the terms of
its planned tender offer for delisting purposes, to the shareholders of Keppel Philippines Holdings,
Inc. (“KPHI" or the “Company”) at a tender offer price of Php 27.40 per share,

ASSUMPTIONS and LIMITATIONS

In preparing our report, we relied on documents which were either provided by Kepwealth or
obtained from third-party sources. We assumed that the information provided to us by Kepwealth
or obtained from third-party sources were accurate and reliable.

This report includes assumptions based on economic and market conditions prevailing at the time
of its preparation. If circumstances change significantly after the date of the Report, MIB Capital's
valuation may be impacted.

FINDINGS

To estimate the value of KPHI, we looked at four (4) alternative approaches but applied the
Discounted Cash Flow and Net Asset Value methods.

Discounted Cash Flow

Since KPHI is a going concern and is expected to generate future free cash flows to equity, we are of
the opinion that the discounted cash flow method is an appropriate method to value KPHI,

Under this method, we used the financial projections of the Company covering the period until 2029.
We reviewed the projected numbers and the relevant assumptions used in the model, such as its
projected revenues and expenses. We also compared the projected figures against KPHI's actual
financial statements as of December 31, 2024, and found sufficient basis to use them in our
valuation,

After reviewing the financial projections and deeming them acceptable, we computed for KPHI's
annual Free Cash Flows to Equity (FCFE) and discounted the same to their net present values as of
December 15, 2024, using a discount rate of 12,38719%.

After adding all the net present values of the FCFEs, our computed value for KPHI using the DCF
method is Php 1,524,469,353 or Php 26.64 per share.
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Net Asset Value

For our second valuation method, we applied the Net Asset Value method using KPHI's actual
unaudited financial statements as of December 31, 2024. We reviewed the financial statements and
adjusted the following accounts based on appraisal reports provided by the Company:

1. Investment in an Associate: This account pertained to GMRI's 25% investment in Consort
Land, Inc. (CLI). We used the appraisal reports on the noncurrent assets of CLI which were
lower than the reported values in the 2024 Financial Statements, thus we deducted Php
39,855,384 to arrive at an adjusted value of Php 390,494,770.

2. Investment Properties: Investment Properties pertained to the land owned by GRDC and
condominium units and parking slots owned by KPSI. Based on our computation of their net
market value using inputs from the appraisal reports and from Kepwealth, these properties
are worth Php 26,604,679. Hence, we added Php 23,624,897 to the Balance Sheet figure of
Php 2,979,782, so that the adjusted value matches our computed net market value.

3. Property and Equipment: Based on our discussion with Kepwealth, the Php 507,211
amount recorded as Property and Equipment as of December 31, 2024, pertained to office
furniture and fixture. The condominium units owned by KPHI and KPS| were fully depreciated
in the books of KPHI but based on the appraisal reports and information provided by
Kepwealth, the net market value of these units is Php 26,007,103. This net market value was
then added as an adjustment to the Property and Equipment account in our NAV
computation to arrive at an adjusted figure of Php 26,514,314,

All other assets and lizbilities were retained as is. After deducting the liabilities from the adjusted
assets, we arrived at a total net asset value of Php 1,786,365,337. We deducted the noncontrolling
interest from the total equity to eliminate the portion of the recorded assets not owned by KPHI and
arrived at a net equity value of Php 1,550,779,423. This resulted in a per-share value of Php 27.10.

CONCLUSION

Based on our review of the operation, financial condition and projections on the performance of
KPHI, we deemed the DCF and NAV methods to be most appropriate in valuing the Company.

Using the information submitted to and secured by MIB Capital and our pertinent analyses thereof,
our resulting range of value per share is between Php 26.64 to Php 27.10 per share. Based on this
range, we are of the opinion the tender offer price of PHP 27.40 per share is fair from a financial point
of view and provides a slight advantage to the shareholders of KPHI that will participate in the tender
offer.
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Il. Objective

This report was prepared by MIB Capital Corporation as an independent Fairness Opinion Provider
to Kepwealth, Inc. ("Kepwealth") in connection with its request for a fairness opinion on the terms of
its planned tender offer for delisting purposes, to the shareholders of Keppel Philippines Holdings,
Inc. ("KPHI" or the "Company”) at a tender offer price of Php 27.40 per share.

5
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IIl. Sources of Information
The Company provided us with the following information and materials:

General Information Sheet of KPHI and Kepwealth for the year 2024
Audited financial statements of KPHI as of December 31, 2023

Actual unaudited financial statements of KPHI as of December 31, 2024
Interim financial statements as of September 30, 2024

Market Value Appraisal Reports on the land and real properties of KPHI and its affiliated
companies

Projected Financial Statements of KPHI covering the years 2025 to 2029
Signed Cerntificate of Rellance dated February 4, 2025

Secretary's Certificate of the Authorized Signatories of Kepwealth, Inc,
Articles of Incorporation and By-Laws of KPHI

Centified List of Directors and Officers of Kepwealth and KPHI

Aside from the materials provided by Kepwealth, we also referred to Bloomberg for the following
information:

e Mistorical share prices and trading volumes for Series-A and Series-B shares of KPHI
e One month average of the 5-Year BVAL as of December 15, 2024

We also referred to Aswath Damodaran’s Equity Risk Premium for the Philippines as of July 2024, as
published in the website: htip://pages.stern.nyu.edu/~adamodar/
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IV, Assumptions and Limitations of the Study

In preparing our report, we relied on the documents enumerated in Part Ill above which were either
provided by Kepwealth or obtained from third-party sources.

For documents provided by Kepwealth, MIB Capital considered the data as reliable and accurate.
We did not verify or validate any information presented by Kepwealth except where explicitly stated
and discussed in the Results and Findings section of this report. Our analysis and procedures did
not include verification work or constitute an audit in accordance with Philippine Standards on
Auditing.

For the appraisal reports that were provided by Kepwealth to MIB Capital, we assumed that
Kepwealth has obtained the consent of the appraisal company/ies for MIB Capital to use the
appraisal reports in our valuation. Moreover, we assumed that the real properties which were the
subject of the appraisal reports are duly owned by KPHI or its affiliates as of the date of the Report.

For information acquired from third-party sources, we assumed that the information contained
therein were complete and accurate,

This report includes assumptions based on economic and market conditions prevailing at the time

of its preparation. If circumstances change significantly after the date of the Report, MIB Capital’s
valuation may be impacted,
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V. Company Background
A. Corporate Background’

Keppel Philippines Holdings, Inc. was incorporated in July 1975 under the former name of Keppel
Philippines Shipyard, Inc. The Company was established as a subsidiary of Keppel Ltd. (formerly
Keppel Corporation Ltd.) of Singapore to carry out ship repair and shipbuilding activities in the
Philippines.

In 1983, the Company was converted into an investment holding company under the name of Keppel
Philippines Holdings, Inc. Currently, KPHI has two core businesses, namely, investment holdings
and resal estate,

KPHI owns 100% of KPS| Property, Inc. (KPSI), which leases out office spaces in Makati; and 519 of
Goodweaith Realty Development Corp. {GRDC), which owns and leases parcels of land in Batangas
City.

GRDC owns 93.8% of Goodsoil Marine Realty, Inc. (GMRI), thus, including KPHI's 3.2% direct
shareholdings in GMRI, KPHI has 51% effective ownership in GMRI. GMRI has 25% shareholdings in
Coensort Land, Inc, (CLI), providing KPHI a 13% indirect ownership in CLI.

B. Board of Directors and Management Officers

Presented in the table below is the Board of Directors of KPHI as of the date of the Report:

Name Position

Tan Kuang Liang Chairman

Alan |, Claveria Director

Stefan Tong Wal Mun Director

Felicidad V, Razon Director

Celso P, Vivas Independent Director

Ramon J, Abejuela Independent Director

Leonardo R. Arguelles, Jr. Independent Director
Presented in the table below are the Management Officers of KPHI as of the date of the Report:

Name Position

Alan |. Claveria President

Felicidad V. Razon Vice President / Treasurer

Maria Melva E. Valdez Corporate Secretary

Pamela Ann T. Cayabyab Assistant Corporate Secretary
!Taken from the PSE Edge Website
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VI. Results and Findings

A. Valuation Approaches

To estimate the value of KPHI, we looked at four (4) alternative approaches:
1. Income Approach - Discounted Cash Flow (OCF)

The DCF approach is used to estimate the value of an investment in a company by using projections
of future free cash flow of the company to equity investors and discounting them to arrive at a present
value. The discount rate is equivalent to the rate of return that equity investors require to finance a
project. This is normally based on the risk-free rate plus a risk premium multiplied by the beta
coefficient of the company, which measures the volatility of the stock relative to the movements of
the market. The higher the perceived risk of an investment, the higher the risk premium should be,
The total present value of these future earnings, including the terminal value, represents the
theoretical price of the shares.

2. Market Approach - Volume-Weighted Average Share Price (VWAP)

The volume-weighted average share price approach coensiders the share price of a publicly listed and
traded company in a given trading period. This method uses a market determined valuation and is
applicable for companies with significant liquidity and trading activity. However, it is not applicable
for privately held companies and not appropriate for publicly listed companies with illiquid or thinly
traded shares.

3. Market Approach - Relative Valuation (RV)

Another approach to stock valuation is the Relative Valuation Method which measures the value of
the company relative to that of another company or a group of companies. It typically uses price
multiples of comparable companies. Comparable firms are defined as those in the same line of
business and with similar growth and risk profile. The rationale behind price multiples is the need to
evaluate a stock's price in relation to what it buys in terms of assets, eamings or some other measure
of value.

There are several multiples which can be used to calculate the price of a stock of a company being
valued, among which are the Price-to-Book (PB) ratio and Price Earnings (PE) ratio.

4. Asset Approach - Net Asset Value (NAV)

The Net Asset Value approach derives the value of a company from the adjustment of the assets and
liabilities to reflect their current market value or net realizable values. This method is deemed to
provide a more meaningful valuation of asset-intensive businesses such as natural resource
companies and property firms. This approach is also used to value companies that are projected to
incur losses for a period of time.
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B. Methods Used:

We looked at the four (4) alternative valuation approaches and determined which of these would be
most appropriate to value the shares of KPHI. Based on our analysis, we decided to use the
Discounted Cash Flow and Net Asset Value methods.

1. Discounted Cash Flow

Since KPHI is a going concern and is expacted to generate future free cash flows to equity, we are of
the opinion that the discounted cash flow method is an appropriate method to value KPHI.

Under this method, we used the financial projections of the Company covering the period until 2029,
We reviewed the projected numbers, and the relevant assumptions used in the model, such as its
projected revenues and expenses. We noted that majority of KPHI's projected revenues is
attributable to interest income from its cash balance, which is projected to earn income at interest
rates ranging from 3.50% 10 5.50%.

We also compared the projected figures against KPHI's actual financial statements as of December
31, 2024, and found sufficient basis to use them in our valuation.

After reviewing the financial projections and deeming them acceptable, we computed for KPHI's
annual Free Cash Flows to Equity (FCFE) and discounted the same to their net present values as of
December 15, 2024, using a discount rate of 12.3871%.

The discount rate was computed using the Capital Asset Pricing Model, as summarized below:

Capital Asset Pricing Model
Market Risk Premium 6.4454%
+ Risk-Free Rate 5.9417%
Cost Equity 12.3871%
Notes:

e Market Risk Premium - This is based on Mr. Aswath Damodaran’s Equity Risk Premium for
Philippines as of July 2024. This is the latest information as of the valuation date.

e Risk-Free Rate - This represents the average of the 5Y PHP BVAL for one month ending
December 15, 2024

e We did not adjust for beta which captures the price movement of an individual stock against
the market. As discussed further in section V1.C of this report, KPHI is hardly traded and thus,
the beta is not meaningful for our purpose. The cost of equity of the stock is, therefore,
equivalent to the risk-free rate plus market risk premium only.
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Presented below is a summary of the resulting valuation using the DCF approach:

Discounted Cash Flow

12/31/2024

12/31/2025

12/31/2026

12/15/2024
Net Income Before Taxes 1,324,854,397 50.363.742 43,346,542
Income Taxes Paid (222,624,900) | (13,400,741) | (11,021,393) |
Depreciation & Amortization 776,316 789,898 672,107 ﬁ
Interest Income Adjustment (1,899,155) |  (1,407,404) |  (1,127,834)
Equity in net earnings of associates (12,738,124) | (1.220,500) |  (1,147,000)
Net Cash Flows from Investing Activities 1,474,263,424 - -

" Other non-cash items (1,231,745,777) 1,345,853 754,983

" Free Cash Flows to Equity (FCFE) 1,330,886,181 | 36,470,849 | 31,477,405

' Terminal Value B . - -

" PV Factor 0.9951 | 0.8855 0.7879 |

"Net Present Value of the FCFE 1,324,426,097 | 32,293,582 | 24,800,064

Discounted Cash Flow

12/31/2027

12/31/2028

12/31/2029

12/15/2024
Net Income Before Taxes 32,267,700 | 32,595,551 32,948,217 |
Income Taxes Paid (8,913,118) | (9,000,569) |  (9,095,368)
" Depreciation & Amortization 81,882 62,712 48,764
| Interest Income Adjustment (891,252) (899,357) (907,388)
Equity in net earnings of associates {(1,148,500) | (1,150,250) (1,152,000)
"Net Cash Flows from Inves(ing Activities - - .
Other non-cash items 763,498 694,782 697,859
Free Cash Flows to Equity (FCFE) 22,160,211 | 22,302,870 22,540,083
Terminal Value ' ' 1 181,964,160
PV Factor 0.7010 0.6238 | 0.5550
Net Present Value of the FCFE 15,535,002 | 13,911,748 | 113,502,860

After adding all the net present values of the FCFEs, our computed value for KPHI using the DCF

method is Php 1,524,469,353 or Php 26.64 per share.
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2. Net Asset Value

For our second valuation methed, we applied the Net Asset Value method using KPHI's actual
unaudited financial statements as of December 31, 2024. We reviewed the financial statements and
adjusted the following accounts:

1. Investment in an Associate: This account pertained to GMRI's 25% investment in Consort
Land, Inc. (CLI). We used the appraisal reports on the noncurrent assets of CLI which were
lower than the reported values in the 2024 Financial Statements, thus we deducted Php
39,855,384 1o arrive at an ad)usted value of Php 390,494,770,

2. Investment Properties: Investment Properties pertained to the land owned by GRDC and
condominium units and parking slots owned by KPSI. Based on our computation of their net
market value using inputs from the appraisal reports and from Kepwealth, these properties
are worth Php 26,604,679. Hence, we added Php 23,624,897 to the Balance Sheet figure of
Php 2,979,782, so0 that the adjusted value matches our computed net market value.

3. Property and Equipment: Based on our discussion with Kepwealth, the Php 507,211
amount recorded as Property and Equipment as of December 31, 2024, pertained to office
furniture and fixture. The condominium units owned by KPHI and KPS| were fully depreciated
in the books of KPHI but based on the appraisal reports and information provided by
Kepwealth, the net market value of these units is Php 26,007,103, This net market value was
then added as an adjustment to the Property and Equipment account in our NAV
computation to arrive at an adjusted figure of Php 26,514,314,

All other assets and liabilities were retained as is. After deducting the liabilities from the adjusted
assets, we arrived at a total net asset value of Php 1,786,365,337. We deducted the noncontrolling
interest from the total equity to eliminate the portion of the recorded assets not owned by KPHI and
arrived at a net equity value of Php 1,550,779,423. This resulted in a per-share value of Php 27.10.

The NAV computation is presented in Annex A of this Report.

C.Methods Not Used

Relative Valuation (RV) - The RV method was not used in our valuation due to the lack of comparable
listed companies that are traded regularly. KPHI's future revenues will primarily be derived from
interest income.

Volume Weighted Average Price (VWAP) - Since KPHI is a publicly-listed company, we also obtained
its traded prices from Bloomberg. Based on our VWAP computations in Annex B, the Series-A and
Series-B Common Shares had a volume-weighted average share price of Php12.9346 and
Php15.5724, respectively, for a one-year period ending on December 15, 2024.
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While we initially considered the VWAP method as part of our valuation methodologies, we did not
apply this method since the shares of KPHI were not actively traded. For reference, Series-A
Common Shares were traded for a total of 142 out of the 246 business days for that period, with an
average traded value of Php 201,543, Series-B Common Shares, on the other hand, were traded for
a total of 66 days, with an average traded value of Php 153,459,

Aside from the one-year average price of the shares of KPHI, we also raviewed its one-month average
price to capture the shares’ more recent trading activity. Based on cur computation for a one-month
periodending on December 15, 2024, we noted that the shares had a volume-weighted average price
of Php 16.3063 and Php 18.2620 for Series-A and Series-B, respectively. Given the results of our
review, we arrived at the same conclusion that the VWAP method may not be representative of the
intrinsic value of the KPHI shares. The Series-A shares were traded for only 7 days out of the 21
trading days in the period that we covered, with an average traded value of Php 27,255 per day, while
the Series-B shares, on the other hand, were traded for 9 days, with an average traded value of Php
106,731 per day.
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VIl. Conclusion

Based on our review of the operation, financial condition and projections on the performance of
KPHI, we deemed the DCF and NAV methods to be most appropriate in valuing the Company.

Using the information submitted to and secured by MIB Capital and our pertinent analyses thereof,
our resulting range of value per share is between Php 26.64 to Php 27.10 per share. Based on this
range, we are of the opinion the tender offer price of PHP 27.40 per share is fair from a financial point
of view and provides a slight advantage to the shareholders of KPHI that will participate in the tender
offer.

Valuation Method Value Per Share
Discounted Cash Flow Php 26.64
Net Asset Value Php 27.10

This report was prepared by the Corporate Finance Group and subsequently reviewed and approved
by the President and Chairperson of MIB Capital. It did not go through any of the committees of our
firm for approval.

Report Prepared by:
MIB CAPITAL CORPORATION
)
g l"\’ -
- Mafflou C. Cristobal Dﬂ-{ Q?Gif&?.‘éfguia:
“Chairperson President
TIN # 120-104-398 TIN # 165-560-483

22/F Multinational Bancorporation Centre, 6805 Ayala Avenue, Makati City
PSE Accreditation valid up to three years from April 29, 2024, as contained in PSE Memorandum
No. 2024-0027

Date of Report: February 13, 2025
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Unaudited

Dec. 31, 2024

ANNEX A—-NET ASSET VALUE

Adjustments

Adjusted Figures

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 1,267,990,092 1,267,990,092
Receivables - net 4,649,630 4,649,630
Other current assets - net 1,552,807 1,552,807
Total Current Assets 1,274,192,529 1,274,192,529
Non-current assets
Lease receivables - net of current ) 5
portion
Financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive 85,000,000 85,000,000

' income (FVOCI)

| Investment in an associate 430,350,154 ~ (39,855,384) 390,494,770
Investment properties - nat 2,979,782 23,624,897 26,604,679
Property and equipment - net 507,211 26,007,103 26,514,314
Intangible assets, net 1,197,527 1,197,527
Total Non-current Assets 520,034,674 529,811,290
TOTAL ASSETS 1,794,227,203 1,804,003,819
TOTAL LIABILITIES 17,638,482 17,638,482
TOTAL EQUITY 1,776,588,721 1,786,365,337
Noncontrolling Interests (NCI) 232,160,486 3,425,428 235,585,914
TOTAL EQUITY = NET OF NCI 1,544,428,235 1,550,779,423
Number of Shares 57,233,019 57,233,019
NAV PER SHARE 26.98 27.10
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ANNEX B.1 - VWAP FOR SERIES-A COMMON SHARES (1YEAR)

Presented below is the sample VWAP computation for KPHI Series A Common Shares for a one-
year period ending on December 15, 2024.

SERIES-A Volume Weight \Ngu{;:(i::gcd Traded Value
12/13/2024 16.46 0 0.00% . -
12/12/2024 16.46 500 0.02% 0.00 8,230
12/11/2024 15.50 100 0.00% 0.00 1,550
12/10/2024 16.46 200 0.01% 0.00 3,292
12/09/2024 16.00 0 0.00% - .
12/06/2024 16.00 0 0.00% - -
12/05/2024 16.00 0 0.00% - .
12/04/2024 16.00 0 0.00% - .
12/03/2024 16.00 0 0.00% - .
12/02/2024 16.00 300 0.01% 0.00 4,800
11/29/2024 16.48 0 0.00% . .
11/28/2024 16.48 0 0.00% - -
11/27/2024 16.48 0 0.00% - .
11/26/2024 16.48 100 0.00% 0.00 1,648
11/25/2024 1648 | 9,300 0.42% 0.07 153,264
11/22/2024 1500 | 0 0.00% - -
11/21/2024 1500 | 0 0.00% . -
11/20/2024 1500 | 1,200 0.05% 0.01 18,000
| 11/19/2024 15.20 0 0.00% . -
11/18/2024 15.20 0 0.00% - -
11/15/2024 15.20 0 0.00% . .
11/14/2024 15.20 0 0.00% - -
11/13/2024 15.20 8,100 0.37% 0.06 123,120
11/12/2024 16.00 0 0.00% . .
11/11/2024 16.00 800 0.04% 0.01 12,800
11/08/2024 15.50 1,100 0.05% 0.01 17,050
11/07/2024 15.60 30,400 1.37% 0.21 474,240
11/06/2024 16.00 0 0.00% . .
11/05/2024 16.00 | 100 0.00% 0.00 1,600
11/04/2024 1540 | 0 0.00% . .
10/31/2024 15.40 200 0.01% 0.00 3,080
10/30/2024 16.20 1,600 0.07% 0.01 25,920
10/29/2024 1560 | 0 0.00% . -
10/28/2024 | 1560 | 0 0.00% . .
10/25/2024 | 15.60 15,300 0.69% 0.11 238,680
10/24/2024 | 1560 | 12,500 0.56% 0.09 195,000
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10/23/2024 16.20 400 0.02% 0.00 6,480
10/22/2024 16.20 300 0.01% 0.00 4,860
10/21/2024 16.48 0 0.00% - -
10/18/2024 16.48 200 0.01% 0.00 3,296
10/17/2024 16.40 2,100 0.09% 0.02 34,440
10/16/2024 16.48 100 0.00% 0.00 1,648
10/15/2024 16.40 16,100 0.73% 0.12 264,040
10/14/2024 16.20 100 0.00% 0.00 1,620
10/11/2024 16.10 0 0.00% - -
10/10/2024 16.10 100 0.00% 0.00 1,610
10/09/2024 16.00 0 0.00% - -
10/08/2024 16.00 800 0.04% 0.01 12,800
10/07/2024 15.60 200 0.01% 0.00 3,120
10/04/2024 16.20 0 0.00% - -
10/03/2024 16.20 0 0,00% - -
10/02/2024 16.20 300 0.01% 0.00 4,860
10/01/2024 16.38 200 0.01% 0.00 3,276
09/30/2024 15.30 7,300 0.33% 0.05 111,680
09/27/2024 16.48 100 0.00% 0.00 1,648
09/26/2024 16.00 300 0.01% 0.00 4,800
09/25/2024 15.00 2,200 0.10% 0.01 33,000
09/24/2024 16.48 0 0.00% - -
09/23/2024 16.48 0 0.00% - -
09/20/2024 16.48 1,800 0.08% 0.01 29,664
09/15/2024 15.50 6,400 0.29% 0.04 99,200
09/18/2024 15.50 0 0.00% - -
09/17/2024 15.50 26,000 1.18% 0.18 403,000
09/16/2024 14.30 0 0.00% - -
09/13/2024 14.30 0 0.00% - -
09/12/2024 14.30 0 0.00% - -
09/11/2024 14.30 100 0.00% 0.00 1,430
09/10/2024 15.10 0 0.00% - -
09/09/2024 15.10 0 0.00% - =
09/06/2024 15.10 100 0.00% 0.00 1,510
08/05/2024 15.50 Y 0.00% - -
09/04/2024 15.50 5,000 0.23% 0.04 77,500
09/03/2024 16.00 6,000 0.27% 0.04 96,000
09/02/2024 16.00 0 0.00% - -
08/30/2024 16.00 67,000 3.03% 0.48 1,072,000
08/29/2024 16.68 3,700 0.17% 0.03 61,716
08/28/2024 15.52 1,500 0.07% 0.01 23,280
08/27/2024 16.60 200 0.01% 0.00 3,320
08/22/2024 16.76 800 0.04% 0.01 13,408
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08/21/2024 16.00 2,300 0.10% 0.02 36,800
08/20/2024 16.00 700 0.03% 0.01 11,200
08/19/2024 16.00 2,200 0.10% 0.02 35,200
08/16/2024 16.30 4,700 0.21% 0.03 76,610
08/15/2024 16.40 12,600 0.57% 0.09 206,640
08/14/2024 16.42 2,400 0.11% 0.02 39,408
08/13/2024 16.46 6,000 0.27% 0.04 98,760
08/12/2024 16.80 500 0.02% 0.00 8,400
08/09/2024 16.86 1,200 0.05% 0.01 20,232
08/08/2024 16.88 6,200 0.28% 0.05 104,656
08/07/2024 16.28 2,900 0.13% 0.02 47,212
08/06/2024 16.96 0 0.00% - -
0B/05/2024 16.96 0 0.00% . -
08/02/2024 16.96 0 0.00% - -
08/01/2024 16.96 0 0.00% - -
07/31/2024 16.96 0 0.00% - -
07/30/2024 16.96 100 0.00% 0.00 1,696
07/29/2024 15.00 2,200 0.10% 0.01 33,000
07/26/2024 15.94 0 0.00% - -
07/25/2024 15.94 0 0.00% - -
07/23/2024 15.94 700 0.03% 0.01 11,158
07/22/2024 16.94 0 0.00% - -
07/19/2024 16.94 0 0.00% = &
07/18/2024 16.94 0 0.00% - -
07/17/2024 16.94 0 0.00% - -
07/16/2024 16.94 100 0.00% 0.00 1,684
07/15/2024 16.94 0 0.00% - -
07/12/2024 16.94 0 0.00% - -
07/11/2024 16.94 0 0.00% - -
07/10/2024 16.94 1,300 0.06% 0.01 22,022
07/09/2024 16.00 500 0.02% 0.00 8,000
07/08/2024 17.50 0 0.00% - -
07/05/2024 17.50 0 0.00% - -
07/04/2024 17.50 4,200 0.19% 0.03 73,500
07/03/2024 16.36 1,800 0.08% 0.01 29,448
07/02/2024 16.40 0 0.00% - -
07/01/2024 16.40 0 0.00% - .
06/28/2024 16.40 300 0.01% 0.00 4,920
06/27/2024 16.00 300 0.01% 0.00 4,800
06/26/2024 16.86 0 0.00% - -
06/25/2024 16.86 0 0.00% - -
06/24/2024 16.86 200 0.01% 0.00 3,372
06/21/2024 16.86 900 0.04% 0.01 15,174
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06/20/2024 16.22 35,800 1.62% 0.26 580,676
06/19/2024 18.50 14,700 0.66% 0.12 271,950
06/18/2024 20.05 700 0.03% 0.01 14,035
06/14/2024 20.30 200 0.01% 0.00 4,060
06/13/2024 20.70 0 0.00% = -
06/11/2024 20.70 500 0.02% 0.00 10,350
06/10/2024 20.60 2,300 0.10% 0.02 47,380
06/07/2024 19.80 4,000 0.18% 0.04 79,200
06/06/2024 19.50 2,000 0.08% 0.02 39,000
06/05/2024 20.40 0 0.00% - -
06/04/2024 20.40 600 0.03% 0.01 12,240
06/03/2024 20.10 4,200 0.19% 0.04 84,420
05/31/2024 19.00 2,800 0.13% 0.02 53,200
05/30/2024 18.72 36,200 1.64% 0.31 677,664
05/25/2024 22.50 700 0.03% 0.01 15,750
05/28/2024 22.95 0 0.00% - -
05/27/2024 22.95 1,300 0.06% 0.01 29,835
05/24/2024 22.95 21,600 0.98% 0.22 495,720
05/23/2024 23.45 82,600 3.73% 0.88 1,936,970
05/22/2024 19.40 15,500 0.70% 0.14 300,700
05/21/2024 19.76 4,300 0.19% 0.04 84,968
05/20/2024 18.02 100 0.00% 0.00 1,802
05/17/2024 19.80 5,400 0.24% 0.05 106,920
05/16/2024 20.00 6,800 0.31% 0.06 136,000
05/15/2024 20.75 18,500 0.84% 0.17 383,875
05/14/2024 18.34 105,900 4.79% 0.88 1,942,206
05/13/2024 18.52 175,700 7.94% 1.47 3,253,964
05/10/2024 12.60 2,500 0.11% 0.01 31,500
05/09/2024 12.52 0 0.00% - -
05/08/2024 12.52 1,500 0.07% 0.01 18,780
05/07/2024 14.50 9,800 0.44% 0.06 142,100
05/06/2024 12.30 100 0.00% 0.00 1,230
05/03/2024 12.30 13,900 0.63% 0.08 170,970
05/02/2024 12.20 1,500 0.07% 0.01 18,300
04/30/2024 12.20 12,000 0.54% 0.07 146,400
04/29/2024 13.00 11,800 0.53% 0.07 153,400
04/26/2024 12.10 21,800 0.99% 0.12 263,780
04/25/2024 12.20 800 0.04% 0.00 9,760
04/24/2024 12.02 100 0.00% 0.00 1,202
04/23/2024 13.50 9,700 0.44% 0.06 130,950
04/22/2024 12.36 4,500 0.20% 0.03 55,620
04/19/2024 12.60 41,700 1.88% 0.24 525,420
04/18/2024 13.00 29,200 1.32% 0.17 379,600
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04/17/2024 13.00 148,400 6.71% 0.87 1,929,200
04/16/2024 14.98 186,300 8.42% 1.26 2,790,774
04/15/2024 12.90 82,500 3.73% 0.48 1,064,250
04/12/2024 8.60 0 0.00% - -
04/11/2024 8.60 1,000 0.05% 0.00 8,600
04/08/2024 9.00 1,000 0.05% 0.00 9,000
04/05/2024 9.46 6,000 0.27% 0.03 56,760
04/04/2024 9.20 0 0.00% - -
04/03/2024 9.20 0 0.00% = .
04/02/2024 9.20 0 0.00% - -
04/01/2024 9.20 8,800 0.40% 0.04 80,960
03/27/2024 8.75 0 0.00% - -
03/26/2024 8.75 0 0.00% - -
03/25/2024 8.75 154,600 6.99% 0.81 1,352,750
03/22/2024 8.70 1,000 0.05% 0.00 8,700
03/21/2024 8.78 10,000 0.45% 0.04 87,800
03/20/2024 8.80 0 0.00% = :
03/19/2024 8.80 130,500 5.90% 0.52 1,148,400
03/18/2024 7.40 0 0.00% - -
03/15/2024 7.40 49,800 2.26% 0.17 369,260
03/14/2024 6.50 23,800 1.08% 0.07 154,700
03/13/2024 7.43 53,900 2.44% 0.18 400,477
03/12/2024 5.20 100 0.00% 0.00 520
03/11/2024 7.40 0 0.00% - -
03/08/2024 7.40 3,900 0.18% 0.01 28,860
03/07/2024 5.98 200 0.01% 0.00 1,196
03/06/2024 5.04 100 0.00% 0.00 504
03/05/2024 5.04 0 0.00% - -
03/04/2024 5.04 100 0.00% 0.00 504
03/01/2024 5.03 0 0.00% - -
02/29/2024 5.03 2,000 0.09% 0.00 10,060
02/28/2024 5.02 0 0.00% - -
02/27/2024 5.02 300 0.01% 0.00 1,506
02/26/2024 5.03 1,000 0.05% 0.00 5,030
02/23/2024 5.62 0 0.00% - Z
02/22/2024 5.62 0 0.00% - -
02/21/2024 5.62 0 0.00% - -
02/20/2024 5.62 0 0.00% - -
02/19/2024 5.62 0 0.00% - -
02/16/2024 5.62 200 0.01% 0.00 1,124
02/15/2024 5.62 100,100 4.52% 0.25 562,562
02/14/2024 7.42 700 0.03% 0.00 5,184
02/13/2024 5.50 44,900 2.03% 0.11 246,950
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02/12/2024 5.00 100 0.00% 0.00 500
02/08/2024 5.50 0 0.00% - -
02/07/2024 5.50 0 0.00% - -
02/06/2024 5.50 0 0.00% - -
02/05/2024 5.50 0 0.00% - -
02/02/2024 5.50 0 0.00% - -
02/01/2024 5.50 100 0.00% 0.00 550
01/31/2024 5.50 0 0.00% - -
01/30/2024 5.50 0 0.00% 5 -
01/29/2024 5.50 0 0.00% - -
01/26/2024 5.50 52,300 2.36% 0.13 287,650
01/25/2024 5.50 118,800 5.37% 0.30 653,400
01/24/2024 5.70 1,900 0.09% 0.00 10,830
01/23/2024 5.50 4,500 0.20% 0.01 24,750
01/22/2024 5.00 0 0.00% - -
01/19/2024 5.00 0 0.00% - S
01/18/2024 5.00 0 0.00% - -
01/17/2024 5.00 0 0.00% - -
01/16/2024 5.00 0 0.00% - -
01/15/2024 5.00 0 0.00% - -
01/12/2024 5.00 0 0.00% . -
01/11/2024 5.00 0 0.00% - -
01/10/2024 5.00 0 0.00% . -
01/09/2024 5.00 0 0.00% - -
01/08/2024 5.00 0 0.00% . -
01/05/2024 5.00 0 0.00% - -
01/04/2024 5.00 0 0.00% . -
01/03/2024 5.00 0 0.00% . -
01/02/2024 5.00 8,800 0.40% 0.02 44,000
12/29/2023 5.00 10,000 0.45% 0.02 50,000
12/28/2023 4.30 0 0.00% - =
12/27/2023 4.30 0 0.00% - -
12/22/2023 4.30 6,000 0.27% 0.01 25,800
12/21/2023 3.27 10,000 0.45% 0.01 32,700
12/20/2023 4.59 0 0.00% - -
12/19/2023 4.59 0 0.00% - -
12/18/2023 4.59 0 0.00% - -
12/15/2023 4.59 0 0.00% - 3

2 12.9346
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ANNEX B.2 ~ VWAP FOR SERIES-B COMMON SHARES (1YEAR)

Presented below is the sample VWAP computation for KPHI Series-B Common Shares for a one-
year period ending on December 15, 2024.

SERIES-B Volume Weight Wtd. Price Value
12/13/2024 20.75 100 0.02% 0.0032 2,075
12/12/2024 16.50 0 0.00% - -
12/11/2024 16.50 0 0.00% - -
12/10/2024 16.50 0 0.00% - -
12/09/2024 16.50 100 0.02% 0.0025 1,650
12/06/2024 16.50 0 0.00% - -
12/05/2024 16.50 0 0.00% . -
12/04/2024 16.50 0 0.00% - -
12/03/2024 16.50 16,000 2.46% 0.4059 264,000
12/02/2024 17.50 200 0.03% 0.0054 3,500
11/29/2024 16,50 0 0.00% - -
11/28/2024 16.50 1,100 0.17% 0.0279 18,150
11/27/2024 17.50 8,000 1.23% 0.2153 140,000
11/26/2024 18.96 0 0.00% - -
11/25/2024 18.96 10,000 1.54% 0.2915 189,600
11/22/2024 15.48 100 0.02% 0.0030 1,948
11/21/2024 19.98 17,000 2.61% 0.5222 339,660
11/20/2024 15.30 0 0.00% - -
11/19/2024 15.30 0 0.00% - -
11/18/2024 15.30 0 0.00% - -
11/15/2024 15.30 0 0.00% - -
11/14/2024 15.30 100 0.02% 0.0024 1,530
11/13/2024 15.76 100 0.02% 0.0024 1,576
11/12/2024 16.48 0 0.00% - -
11/11/2024 16.48 0 0.00% - -
11/08/2024 16.48 2,000 0.31% 0.0507 32,960
11/07/2024 16.48 0 0.00% - -
11/06/2024 16.48 0 0.00% - -
11/05/2024 16.48 400 0.06% 0.0101 6,592
11/04/2024 16.50 0 0.00% - -
10/31/2024 16.50 0 0.00% - -
10/30/2024 16.50 0 0.00% - -
10/25/2024 16.50 0 0.00% - -
10/28/2024 16.50 0 0.00% - -
10/25/2024 16.50 0 0.00% - -
10/24/2024 16.50 0 0.00% - -
10/23/2024 16.50 0 0.00% - -
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10/22/2024 16.50 0 0.00% - -
10/21/2024 16.50 300 0.05% 0.0076 4,950
10/18/2024 16.98 0 0.00% - -
10/17/2024 16.98 0 0.00% - -
10/16/2024 16.98 0 0.00% - =
10/15/2024 16.98 0 0.00% - -
10/14/2024 16.98 2,400 0.37% 0.0627 40,752
10/11/2024 16.50 0 0.00% - .
10/10/2024 16,50 0 0.00% - -
10/09/2024 16.50 0 0.00% - -
10/08/2024 16.50 0 0.00% - -
10/07/2024 16.50 0 0.00% - -
10/04/2024 16.50 0 0.00% - .
10/03/2024 16.50 0 0.00% - -
10/02/2024 16.50 0 0.00% - .
10/01/2024 16.50 0 0.00% - -
09/30/2024 16.50 0 0.00% - -
09/27/2024 16.50 200 0.03% 0.0051 3,300
09/26/2024 16.50 1,300 0.20% 0.0330 21,450
09/25/2024 14.20 100 0.02% 0.0022 1,420
09/24/2024 15.76 0 0.00% . ~
09/23/2024 15.76 0 0.00% - -
09/20/2024 15.76 0 0.00% - -
09/19/2024 15.76 17,000 2.61% 0.4119 267,920
09/18/2024 15.76 7,500 1.15% 0.1817 118,200
09/17/2024 15.76 0 0.00% - -
09/16/2024 15.76 14,700 2.26% 0.3562 231,672
09/13/2024 16.98 0 0.00% - -
09/12/2024 16.98 0 0.00% - -
09/11/2024 16.98 0 0.00% - -
09/10/2024 16.98 0 0.00% - -
09/09/2024 16.98 0 0.00% - -
09/06/2024 16.98 43,600 6.70% 1.1383 740,328
09/05/2024 17.16 23,200 3.57% 0.6121 398,112
09/04/2024 17.20 8,600 1.32% 0.2274 147,920
09/03/2024 16.90 0 0.00% - -
09/02/2024 16.90 0 0.00% - -
08/30/2024 16.90 0 0.00% - -
08/29/2024 16.90 0 0.00% - -
08/28/2024 16.90 0 0.00% - -
08/27/2024 16.90 0 0.00% - -
08/22/2024 16.90 0 0.00% - -
08/21/2024 16.90 0 0.00% - *
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08/20/2024 16.90 0 0.00% - =
08/19/2024 16.90 0 0.00% - -
08/16/2024 16.90 100 0.02% 0.0026 1,690
08/15/2024 16.90 0 0.00% - -
08/14/2024 16.90 0 0.00% - -
08/13/2024 16.90 0 0.00% - -
08/12/2024 16.90 0 0.00% - -
08/09/2024 16.90 0 0.00% - -
08/08/2024 16.90 0 0.00% - -
08/07/2024 16.90 0 0.00% - x
08/06/2024 16.90 0 0.00% - -
08/05/2024 16.90 0 0.00% - -
08/02/2024 16.890 0 0.00% - =
08/01/2024 16.90 0 0.00% - -
07/31/2024 16.90 0 0.00% - -
07/30/2024 16.90 0 0.00% - -
07/29/2024 16.90 0 0.00% - -
07/26/2024 16.90 0 0.00% - -
07/25/2024 16.90 0 0.00% - -
07/23/2024 16.90 0 0.00% - -
07/22/2024 16.90 0 0.00% - -
07/19/2024 16.90 2,300 0.35% 0.0598 38,870
07/18/2024 16.96 1,700 0.26% 0.0443 28,832
07/17/2024 19.92 0 0.00% - -
07/16/2024 19.92 0 0.00% - =
07/15/2024 19.92 0 0.00% - -
07/12/2024 19.92 0 0.00% - -
07/11/2024 19.92 0 0.00% - .
07/10/2024 19.92 0 0.00% - -
07/09/2024 19.92 0 0.00% - -
07/08/2024 19.92 0 0.00% - -
07/05/2024 19.92 0 0.00% - -
07/04/2024 19.92 0 0.00% - -
07/03/2024 18.92 0 0.00% - -
07/02/2024 19.92 200 0.03% 0.0061 3,884
07/01/2024 19.96 0 0.00% - -
06/28/2024 19.96 0 0.00% - .
06/27/2024 19.96 200 0.03% 0.0061 3,992
06/26/2024 20.75 0 0.00% - -
06/25/2024 20.75 0 0.00% - -
06/24/2024 20.75 100 0.02% 0.0032 2,075
06/21/2024 18.74 200 0.03% 0.0058 3,748
06/20/2024 20.95 0 0.00% - .
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06/19/2024 20.95 0 0.00% - -
06/18/2024 20.95 2,300 0.35% 0.0741 48,185
06/14/2024 20.85 300 0.05% 0.0096 6,255
06/13/2024 20.25 3,200 0.49% 0.0996 64,800
06/11/2024 21.00 3,000 0.46% 0.0969 63,000
06/10/2024 21.00 7,300 1.12% 0.2357 153,300
06/07/2024 21.00 0 0.00% - -
06/06/2024 21.00 0 0.00% - =
06/05/2024 21.00 0 0.00% - -
06/04/2024 21.00 200 0.03% 0.0065 4,200
06/03/2024 26.70 0 0.00% - -
05/31/2024 26.70 0 0.00% = -
05/30/2024 26.70 0 0.00% - -
05/25/2024 26.70 0 0.00% - -
05/28/2024 26.70 0 0.00% - -
05/27/2024 26.70 0 0.00% - =
05/24/2024 26.70 26,500 4.07% 1.0879 707,550
05/23/2024 23.90 20,700 3.18% 0.7607 494,730
05/22/2024 21.80 0 0.00% - -
05/21/2024 21.60 19,500 3.00% 0.6476 421,200
05/20/2024 22.65 0 0.00% - -
05/17/2024 22.65 0 0.00% - -
05/16/2024 22.65 200 0.03% 0.0070 4,530
05/15/2024 22.65 1,200 0.18% 0.0418 27,180
05/14/2024 18.00 47,800 7.35% 1.3229 860,400
05/13/2024 18.00 58,100 8.93% 1.6079 1,045,800
05/10/2024 12.40 0 0.00% - -
05/09/2024 12.40 0 0.00% - -
05/08/2024 12.40 0 0.00% - -
05/07/2024 12.40 25,500 3.92% 0.4862 316,200
05/06/2024 12.40 52,000 8.00% 0.9914 644,800
05/03/2024 12.40 38,000 5.84% 0.7245 471,200
05/02/2024 12.40 35,000 5.38% 0.6673 434,000
04/30/2024 12.42 20,000 3.08% 0.3819 248,400
04/29/2024 12.00 2,000 0.31% 0.0369 24,000
04/26/2024 13.00 0 0.00% - -
04/25/2024 13.00 0 0.00% - -
04/24/2024 13.00 0 0.00% - -
04/23/2024 13.00 0 0.00% - -
04/22/2024 13.00 0 0.00% - -
04/19/2024 13.00 0 0.00% - -
04/18/2024 13.00 700 0.11% 0.0140 9,100
04/17/2024 13.00 4,000 0.62% 0.0800 52,000
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04/16/2024 14.92 4,200 0.65% 0.0963 62,664
04/15/2024 11.50 38,200 5.87% 0.6754 439,300
04/12/2024 8.00 0 0.00% - -
04/11/2024 8.00 0 0.00% - -
04/08/2024 8.00 0 0.00% - -
04/05/2024 8.00 0 0.00% - -
04/04/2024 8.00 0 0.00% - -
04/03/2024 8.00 0 0.00% - -
04/02/2024 8.00 0 0.00% - -
04/01/2024 8.00 0 0.00% - -
03/27/2024 8.00 0 0.00% - -
03/26/2024 8.00 0 0.00% - -
03/25/2024 8.00 0 0.00% - -
03/22/2024 8.00 6,100 0.94% 0.0750 48,800
03/21/2024 8.00 0 0.00% - -
03/20/2024 8.00 0 0.00% - -
03/19/2024 8.00 0 0.00% - -
03/18/2024 8.00 0 0.00% - -
03/15/2024 8.00 6,100 0.94% 0.0750 48,800
03/14/2024 7.50 0 0.00% - .
03/13/2024 7.50 43,600 6.70% 0.5028 327,000
03/12/2024 7.46 0 0.00% - -
03/11/2024 7.46 0 0.00% - -
03/08/2024 7.46 0 0.00% - -
03/07/2024 7.46 100 0.02% 0.0011 746
03/06/2024 6.01 0 0.00% - -
03/05/2024 6.01 0 0.00% - -
03/04/2024 6.01 0 0.00% - .
03/01/2024 6.01 2,000 0.31% 0.0185 12,020
02/29/2024 6.01 100 0.02% 0.0008 601
02/28/2024 6.01 300 0.05% 0.0028 1,803
02/27/2024 7.83 0 0.00% - -
02/26/2024 7.83 0 0.00% - -
02/23/2024 7.83 0 0.00% - -
02/22/2024 7.83 0 0.00% - -
02/21/2024 7.83 0 0.00% - -
02/20/2024 7.83 0 0.00% - -
02/19/2024 7.83 0 0.00% - -
02/16/2024 7.83 0 0.00% - -
02/15/2024 7.83 100 0.02% 0.0012 783
02/14/2024 7.97 0 0.00% - -
02/13/2024 7.97 0 0.00% - -
02/12/2024 7.97 0 0.00% - -
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02/08/2024 7.97 0 0.00% - .
02/07/2024 7.97 0 0.00% - -
02/06/2024 7.97 0 0.00% - =
02/05/2024 7.97 100 0.02% 0.0012 797
02/02/2024 7.00 300 0.05% 0.0032 2,100
02/01/2024 7.00 0 0.00% - -
01/31/2024 7.00 0 0.00% - -
01/30/2024 7.00 2,500 0.38% 0.0269 17,500
01/29/2024 7.00 0 0.00% - -
01/26/2024 7.00 0 0.00% - -
01/25/2024 7.00 0 0.00% - -
01/24/2024 7.00 300 0.05% 0.0032 2,100
01/23/2024 7.20 0 0.00% - -
01/22/2024 7.20 0 0.00% - -
01/19/2024 7.20 0 0.00% - -
01/18/2024 7.20 0 0.00% - -
01/17/2024 7.20 0 0.00% - -
01/16/2024 7.20 0 0.00% - .
01/15/2024 7.20 0 0.00% - .
01/12/2024 7.20 0 0.00% - .
01/11/2024 7.20 0 0.00% - .
01/10/2024 7.20 0 0.00% - .
01/09/2024 7.20 0 0.00% > z
01/08/2024 7.20 0 0.00% - o
01/05/2024 7.20 0 0.00% - -
01/04/2024 7.20 0 0.00% - -
01/03/2024 7.20 0 0.00% - -
01/02/2024 7.20 0 0.00% - -
12/29/2023 7.20 0 0.00% - ~
12/28/2023 7.20 0 0.00% - -
12/27/2023 7.20 0 0,00% - 3
12/22/2023 7.20 0 0.00% - -
12/21/2023 7.20 0 0.00% - =
12/20/2023 7.20 0 0.00% - .
12/19/2023 7.20 0 0.00% - -
12/18/2023 7.20 0 0.00% - =
12/15/2023 7.20 0 0.00% - r
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ANNEX B.3 ~ VWAP FOR SERIES-A COMMON SHARES (1 MONTH)

Presented below is the sample VWAP computation for KPHI Series ACommeon Shares for a one-
month period ending on December 15, 2024:

Weighted Traded

ERIES-A Price Vol c
S S rice olume Price Value

| 12/13/2024 16.46 - - - .

| 12/12/2024 16.46 500 |  0.0427 0.7034 8,230.00
12/11/2024 15.50 100 0.0085 |  0.1325 1,550.00
12/10/2024 16.46 200 0.0171 | 0.2814 3,292.00
12/09/2024 |  16.00 . - - -

|_12/06/2024 | 16.00 £ | . : -
12/05/2024 16.00 : . . .

| 12/04/2024 | 16.00 : . | - =
12/03/2024 16.00 : - — |

| 12/02/2024 | 16.00 300 0.0256 0.4103 | 4,800.00
11/29/2024 16.48 . - - .
11/28/2024 16.48 - : . .
11/27/2024 16.48 - =T - -
11/26/2024 16.48 100 0.0085 0.1409 1,648.00
11/25/2024 16.48 9,300 0.7949 13.0995 153,264.00
11/22/2024 |  15.00 . . - -
11/21/2024 15.00 - - - .
11/20/2024 15.00 1,200 0.1026 |  1.5385 18,000.00
11/19/2024 |  15.20 - - . - J
11/18/2024 15.20 - - : . |
11/15/2024

16.3063
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ANNEX B.4 - VWAP FOR SERIES-B COMMON SHARES (1 MONTH)

Presented below is the sample VWAP computation for KPHI Series B Common Shares for a one-
month period ending on December 15, 2024:

SERIES-B Price Volume Weight Wt:i}?}‘l(}d e
Price Value

12/13/2024 20.75 100 0.0019 0.0394 2,075.00
12/12/2024 16.50 2 . .
12/11/2024 16.50 . .
12/10/2024 16.50 - = - .
12/09/2024 16.50 100 0.0019 0.0314 1,650.00
12/06/2024 16.50 = . .
12/05/2024 116.50 . - - -
12/04/2024 16.50 . ; . .
12/03/2024 |  16.50 16,000 0.3042 5.0190 264,000.00
12/02/2024 |  17.50 200 0.0038 0.0665 3,500.00
11/29/2024 16.50 . . - -

" 11/28/2024 |  18.50 1,100 0.0209 0.3451 18,150.00
11/27/2024 17.50 8,000 0.1521 2.6616 140,000.00

| 11/26/2024 18.96 . : - .
11/25/2024 18.96 10,000 0.1901 - 3.6046 189,600.00
11/22/2024 19.48 100 0.0019 0.0370 1,948.00
11/21/2024 19.98 17,000 0.3232 6.4574 339,660.00
11/20/2024 15.30 . - e
11/19/2024 15.30 - =
11/18/2024 15.30 X - -
11/15/2024 15.30 o ” -
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ANNEX C - CERTIFICATE OF RELIANCE

CERTIFICATE OF RELIANCE
4 Febeuary 2025
MIB Copital Corporation

22/F Multinational Bancorporation Centre
6805 Ayala Avenue, Makati City

Attention : Mr. Dindo Antonlo T. Cagulat
President

Subject 3 Certificate of Rellance

Genttemen:

This is to certify that to the best of our personal knowtedge, the SsSUMPUONS, revenue
projections, cost and capital expenditure estimates as well 8s the projected balance sheets,
income statements, and cash flow statements (collectively, “the Financial Projections”)
submitted by Kepwealth, Inc. 10 MIB Capital Corporation ("MIB Capital”) for the purpose of
valuing Keppel Philippines Holdings, Inc. (“KPHI") represent the most likely scenarios to occur
and are free from any material misstatement, whether due to fraud of error.

We 8ls0 certity that the information we disclosed about KPHI's operations, structure,
ocganization, industry standing, market shade, and other relevant information ks accurato at the
time of the disclosure.

Further, we shall indemnify and hotd harmiess MIB Capital and its directors, officers, employees
mmmmum.mocwmmwmmmumacmwxm
on the Financial Projections in performing the sald valustion,

Very truty yours,
Keopwealth, Inc.

Y- AP
Alanh, ra M&I/‘M‘Wﬂ Mun
President Director
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ANNEX D - Declarations pursuant to SEC Memorandum Circular No. 13 Series of 2013

MIB CAPITAL B Lo oA T
N CORPORATION R e
| — — SN

February 5, 2025

Declarations pursuant to SEC Memorandum Circular No. 13 Series of 2013

In preparing the fairmess opinion report on the planned tender offer for delisting purposes to be made
by Kepwealth, Inc. (“Kepwealth®) to the sharcholders of Keppel Philippines Holdings, Inc., ("KPHI"),
MI8 Capital Corporstion [*MIB Capital®) declares the following:

1. The fairness opinion prepared by MIB Capital did not express an opinion about the fairness of the
compensation in the plonned tender offer to any of KPHI's directors, officers or employces relative
to the compensation to KPHI's sharcholders.

2. MIB Capital acted as a fairmess opinion provider to Kepwealth as the buyer of the KPHI shares. MIB
Capital will be compensated a fixed amount in its role as fairness opinion provider and its fees are
not contingent on the successful completion of the tender offer.

3. MIB Capital is not a related party to Kepwealth and KPHI. MIB Capital does not have other
circumstances or cngagements, direct or indirect with Kepwealth and KPHI that may influence of
tend to influence, the objectivity and reliability of our fairness opinion report,

4. MIB Capital has no business interest or family relationship with Kepweatth or KPHI, or any of their
respoctive directors, officers or major stockholders that coutd, or could reasonably be perceived to,
materially interfere with the exercise of the professional judgment of the firm, its representative or
any member of the engagement team, in carrying out their responsibilities in assessing the fairness
of KPHI's securitics, as required under Rule 19.2.6.1 of the 2015 Implementing Rules and
Regulations of the Securitics Regulation Code (the “2015 SRC Rules®).

5. MIB Capital is compliont with MIB Capital's Goneral Engagement Operating Guidelines for
Purposes of Issuing Fairness Opinions and Valuation Repons.

MIB CAPITAL CORPORATION
-~

’:' / \ -
‘Marilou C. Cristobal Mm

Chairperson President

Valuation of Keppe! Philippines Holdings, Inc.



ANNEX E: Overview of MIB Capital Corporation

MIB Capital Corporation was established in 1972 as Multinational Investment Bancorporation to
make available a broad spectrum of financial intermediation services, arranging funding for
businesses relevant to their changing requirements across their varied stages of development. Over
the years, operating within an environment in a continued state of flux, we have adopted optimum
flexibility in the nature and delivery of our services. We have shifted business focus in anticipation of
and response to the demands of our clients.

We are not owned by any family or vested interest group whose objectives or interest may conflict
with those of the clients we service. We are completely independent and non-aligned. We operate
under a unique corporate structure which we call "Corporate Partnership” which imposes unlimited
liability on our partner-officers for their professional acts involving conflicts of interest. This
independence, professionalism and total commitment to our clients have given us the widest
latitude to deal with the broadest spectrum of selected clients and to work with any financial
institution, domestic or foreign.

MIB Capital is a non-aligned, professional and ALL Filipino institution. Our Board of Directors is
comprised of the following:

Marilou C. Cristobal Chairperson

Dindo Antonio T. Caguiat Director / President

Eduardo C. Rojas Director / Treasurer

Romeo G, Rodriguez Director / Corporate Secretary
Celso L. Samaniego Director/ Senior Advisor

Valuat:on of Keppel Philippines Holdings, Inc.



ANNEX F: MIB Capital’s Profile of Key Directors

Marilou C. Cristobal

Chairperson

She graduated with a degree in AB Economics from the University of Sto. Tomas (summa cum laude)
in 1875 and completed the Senior Business Economics Program from the Center for Research and
Communication (now University of Asia and the Pacific) in 1995, She has more than four decades of
involvement in investment banking. She was a two term President and long-time Director of the
Investment House Association of the Philippines. She is also an active member of the Financial
Executives Institute of the Philippines, Management Association of the Philippines and Women's
Business Council of the Philippines.

Dindo Antonio T, Caguiat

Director and President

He graduated with a B.S. Psychology degree from Ateneo de Manila University and obtained his
Master of Science in Finance degree from the University of the Philippines. He has more than 20
years of experience in Finance and Investment Banking and he has been the President of MIB Capital
Corporation since 2020. He also worked at Intel Technology Philippines in various financial roles for
five years. He was elected to the Board of the Investment House Association of the Philippines (IHAP)
for three terms.

Eduardo C. Rojas

Director and Treasurer

He graduated with a degree in AB Economics from the Ateneo de Manila University in 1969, He also
completed an International Financial Management Course from the Centre Detudes Industrielles in
Hongkong. He has over 50 years of experience in the money and capital markets, He is an active
member of the Financial Executives of the Philippines and Rotary Club of Makati.

Romeo G. Rodriguez

Director and Corporate Secretary

He graduated with a double degree in Liberal Arts-Commerce from the De La Salle University in 1966
and finished his MBA in Finance from the University of Sta. Clara in Santa Clara, CAUSAiIn 1870. He
has been involved in investment banking for more than four decades, He is a Director and a member
of the Executive Committee of MIB Capital Corporation. He is an active member of the Rotary Club
of Manila.

Celso L. Samaniego

Director and Senior Advisor

He graduated with a degree in Business Administration - Accounting from the University of the East
in 1966 (magna cum laude) and placed 10th in the CPA board examination. He started his career in
BANCOM and carries with him more than fifty years of experience in finance. He was a TOYM
awardea.

Valuation of Keppel Philippines Holdings, Inc.



REPUBLIC OF THE PHILIPPINES)
CITY OF MAKATI )S.S.

AFFIDAVIT OF PUBLICATION

I, ADELA GERSALIA MENDOZA, of legal age, Filipino, married and a resident of
14 Registration St. SSS Homes North, Quezon City Philippines after having duly sworn
to in accordance with law, hereby declare and testify.

1. That ] am the Sales Diractor — Classified Advertising of the PHILIPPINE DAILY
INQUIRER, INC., publisher of the Philippine Daily Inquirer which is being published daily
in English, of general circulation with editorial and business address at Chino Roces St.

cor. Yague and Mascardo Sts., Makati.

2. That at the order of
KEPPEL PHILIPPINES
HOLDINGS, INC.

RE: TO THE HOLDERS OF COMMON SHARES
OF KEPPEL PHILIPPINES HOLDINGS, INC.

Text of which would be described as
follows:
AS PER ATTACHED

Has been published in the Philippine Daily
Inquirer in its i1ssuefissues of:

Affiant Further Sayeth
Naught, Makati Philippines

ADELA G. MENDOZA
Affiant

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before me this
N
| ; exhibited {0 me her Driver's
License No. N02-01-455507 issued at Quezon City
valid until October 25, 2033 and her

3 ‘P4518249, bearing her photograph '
m r:; ATTY. JOSH R
. tctary Public Makati O
BookNo. ____ Un¥ll Dee, 31, 2025 -
Series of 2025. Appointment do, M-016-(2024-2028) ¢

PIR No. 10466007 Jan. 2, 2025/ Meketi
IBD Lifetienn Mo, NARGY Rall o 45700
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commen shares), The Tender Offer price for the Tender Otler shares
shal be P27 40 per common share. /

The Tender Offer will be conducted for the purpose of pursuing a
volurtary delisting of KPHI shares or of KPHI from The Philppine
Stock Exchange, Inc. (the "PSE"), subjact 1o the concitions referred to
in the next paragraph. The Tonder Offer will be lsunched a3 scon as
stockholders’ approval on the voluntary delistng of KPHI i Mh
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AFFIDAVIT OF PUBLICATION

|, ADELA GERSALIA MENDOZA, of legal age, Filipino, married and a resident of
14 Registration St. SSS Homes North, Quezon City Philippines after having duly swomn
to in accordance with law, hereby declare and testify.

1. That | am the Sales Director — Classified Advertising of the PHILIPPINE DAILY
INQUIRER, INC., publisher of the Philippine Daily Inquirer which is being published daily
in English, of general circulation with editorial and business address at Chino Roces St.
cor. Yague and Mascardo Sts., Makati.

2. That at the order of
KEPPEL PHILIPPINES
HOLDINGS, INC.

RE: TO THE HOLDERS OF COMMON SHARES
OF KEPPEL PHIIPPINES HOLDINGS, INC.

Text of which would be described as
follows:
AS PER ATTACHED

Has been published in the Philippine Daily
Inquirer in its issue/issues of:

Affiant Further Sayeth
Naught, Makati Philippines

ADELA G. MENDOZA
Affiant

B D SWORN 10 before me this
day of
PHILIPPINES, affiant exhibited to me her Driver's
License No, N02-01-455507 issued at Quezon City
valid until October 25, 2033 and her

3 84515249, bearing her photograph ?
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SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
SEC FORM 17-A

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 17
OF THE SECURITIES REGULATION CODE AND SECTION 141
OF THE CORPORATION CODE OF THE PHILIPPINES

For the fiscal year ended 31 December 2024
SEC Identification Number 62596
BIR Tax Identification No, 000-163-715-000

KEPPEL PHILIPPINES HOLDINGS, INC.

Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter

Philippines

Province, country or other jurisdiction of inc ation or organization

Industry Classification Code: [f]'(ssc Use Only)

Unit 3B, Country Space I Bldg., 133 Sen. Gil Puyat Ave,, Salcedo Village,

Barangay Bel-Air, Makati City

Address of registrant’s principal office Postal Code
(632) 8892-1816 1200

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code

N.A.

Former name, former address and former fiscal year, if changed since last report
Securities registered pursuant to Sections 8 and 12 of the SRC, or Sections 4 and 8 of the RSA
Number of Shares of Common Stock

Title of each Class Outstanding (as of 31 Dec 2024)
Common - Class ‘A’ P1.00 Par Value 35,756,070
Common - Class ‘B’ PL.00 Par Value 21,476,949
Total 7

(Net of Treasury Shares of 15,940,481)

Are any or all of the securities listed on a Stock Exchange?

Yes[/] No[ ] Philippine Stock Exchange Common Shares of Stock
Check whether the registrant:
has filed all reports required 1o be filed by Section 17 of the SRC and SRC Rule 17 thereunder
or Section 11 of the RSA and RSA Rule 11(a)-1 thereunder, and Sections 26 and 141 of the
Corporation Code of the Philippines, during the preceding twelve (12) months (or for such
shorter period the registrant was required to file such reports);
Yes [/] No | ]
Has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.
Yes [/] No [ )

Aggregate market value of the voting stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant:
#168,229,793 as of 31 December 2024 closing price (KPH R16.46; KPHB R18.84)

Documents Incorporated by Reference:
None
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PART 1 - BUSINESS AND GENERAL INFORMATION

()

(b)
(©

(@

(¢)

(M

Keppel Philippines Holdings, Inc. (hereinafter to be referred to as "Company" or "KPH")
was incorporated in July 1975 under the former name of Keppel Philippines Shipyard, Inc.
The Company was established as a subsidiary of Keppel Ltd. (KL), formerly Keppel
Corporation Limited (KCL) of Singapore to carry out ship repair and shipbuilding activitics
in the Philippines. In 1993, the Company was converted into an investment holding
company under the name of Keppel Philippines Holdings, Inc. KPH shares are being traded
at the Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE).

Currently, KPH has two core businesses: namely, investment holdings and real estate,
The Company is not involved in any bankruptcy, receivership, or similar proceedings.

There is no material reclassification, merger, consolidation, purchase, or sale of a significant
amount of assets not in the ordinary course of business.

The Company does not have any patents, trademarks, licenses, franchises, concessions,
and/or royalty agreements.

As an investment holding company, KPH has five (5) regular employees as of December
2024 and six (6) from 2020 10 2023. There is no collective bargaining agreement between
the Company and the employees.

Brief Description of Business

KPH has two main business segmemts: Investment Holdings and Real Estate. The
contribution from each segment of the business to the consolidated revenues and net income
of the Company is stated in Note 18 of the audited financial statements.

Real Estate

KPH as Parent Company owns office space at Fedman Suites, while KPSI Property, Inc.
(KPSI), a wholly owned subsidiary of KPH, owns and leases out the office spaces in Country
Space | Building at Makati City.

Goodwealth Realty Development Corp. (GRDC), 51% owned by KPH, owns and leases
parcels of land in Batangas City.

Goodsoil Marine Realty, Inc. (GMRI), wholly owned by GRDC and effectively 51% owned
by KPH, owns and leases the land in Bauan, Batangas 1o Seatrium Philippines Marine, Inc,
(SPMI) formerly Keppel Philippines Marine Inc. (KPMI) used for the construction and repair
of all types and classes of vessels, the fabrication of offshore marine structures together with
the related services and operations of a shipyard. GMRI is registered as an Ecozone
Developer/Operator with the Philippine Economic Zone Authority (PEZA) since 2007. The
land was sold in March 2024 to an external party. As a result of the sale of GMRI's land, lts
lease thereof to SPMI was terminated. GMRI also ceased to be a PEZA Developer/ Operator
as of September 3, 2024,

Consort Land, Inc. (CLI), 25% owned by GMRI and effectively 13% owned by KPH, owns
and leases the land in Subic, Zambales to Scatrium Subic Shipyard Inc. (SSSI) formerly
Keppel Subic Shipyard, Inc. (KSSI) used for the construction and repair of all types and
classes of vessels and fabrication of offshore marine structures. CLI is registered with PEZA
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as an Ecozone Developer/Operator of the Subic Shipyard-Special Economic Zone and
distributes power to its locators.

2 - Properties

The Company owns the following properties:

Owned by Property Description Area
KPH Two (2) office condominium units at Fedman Suite in

Makati City 166 sqm
KPSI Two (2) office condominium units and five (5) parking

slots at Country Space 1 Building in Makati City 345 sqm
GRDC Five (5) lots of residential land in Batangas City 1,500 sgm
CLI Land and building located in Subic, Zambales 819,743 sqm

The properties owned by the Company and its subsidiary and associates are free from any lien.
3 - Legal Procecdings

On June 2, 2021, the Parent Company sold its land rights in a 10.4 has. property located in Bauan,
Batangas to a non-related company. The property is the subject of an ongoing case in the
Regional Trial Court (RTC) in Batangas. As part of the conditions of the sale, the necessary
motions for substitution were made in court to replace the Company with the buyer as the new
plaintiff. On March 10, 2022, the RTC granted the Parent's Company's motion for substitution
resulting in the extinguishment of any probable liabilities. Thereafter, PNOC filed a Petition for
Certiorari with the Court of Appeals (CA) with the latter rendering judgment in favor of PNOC
on October 25, 2023. Motions for reconsideration were filed on November 24, 2023. In an
Amended Decision dated July 18, 2024, the CA granted the respondents’ Motion for
Reconsideration, vacated the October 25, 2023 Decision, and dismissed the Petition for Certiorari,
The Petitioners assailed the CA Amended Decision before the Supreme Court through a Petition
for Review on Certiorari under Rule 45 dated September 20, 2024, and prayed for the Court to
reinstate the CA’s October 24, 2023 Decision. The case is still pending as of this period

4 - Submission of Matters to a Vote of Sccurity Holders
There were no matters submitted 1o a vote of security holders during the third and fourth quarters
of the fiscal year covered by the report. The last meeting of the Company's stockholders was the
annual stockholders’ meeting, which was held on 14 June 2024,

PART Il = OPERATIONAL AND FINANCIAL INFORMATION

5- Market Price of and Dividends on Registrant’s Common Equity and Related
Stockholder Matters

(a) Market Information
The principal market of the Company’s common equity is the Philippine Stock Exchange
(PSE) where it was listed on 26 August 1987. The high and low closing prices for each

quarter within the last two (2) fiscal years and first quarter of 2025 as traded at the Philippine
Stock Exchange are as follows:
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STOCK PRICES
2024 2023

High Low High Low

First Quarter A"PS80 | A #4.99 |'A B.60 | A 85.12

'B'B800 | ‘B 8601 | ‘B P648 | ‘B 435

Second Quarter | ‘A’ 825.00 | A #9.00 | ‘A" 8730 | ‘A’ 85.00

‘B #2395 | ‘B P850 | ‘B #9.37 | 'B’ 8655

Third Quarter | ‘A’ BI19.98 | ‘A"RI3.02 | ‘A" #7.82 | ‘A #4.02 |
‘B RI19.92 | ‘B’ BI1.88 | ‘B 810.44 | ‘B’ £4.86

Fourth Quarter | ‘A" 81648 | ‘A" ®13.52 | ‘A $6.48 | ‘A" 83.27

‘B'820.75 | ‘B’ #1530 | ‘B 7.40 | ‘B’ R4.50

2025
High Low
First Quarter ‘ATR27.40 ‘ATR1440
(Jan to Mar 17)
‘B' R 27.40 ‘B #1548
(b) Holders

The number of sharcholders of record owning both KPH and KPHB shares as of 31
December 2024 was 407,

Common shares outstanding as of 31 December 2024 were 57,233,019, broken down as

follows:

Nationality Class No. of Shares Percentage
Filipino A 35,756,070 62.47
Filipino B 4,228,282 1.39
Foreign B 17,248,667 30.14

Total 57,233,019 100.00

The top 20 stockholders as of 31 December 2024 are as follows:

No. of %
Shareholder Shares Held
1. | Kepwealth, Inc. 30,532,930 | 53.348
2. | Keppel Lid. 16,894.087 | 29.518
3. | PCD Nominee Corp. ~ Filipino 6,824,397 11.924
4. | International Container Terminal Services, Inc, 2,121,287| 3.706
5. | PCD Nominee Corp. — Foreign 147922  0.898
6. | Soh Ngoi May 83,179 0.145
7. | Willy Y.C. Lim 60.175 0.105
8. | Edbert G. Tantuco 50,017 0.087
9. | Emilio C. Tiu 23,238 0.041
10. | National Book Store, Inc. 22422 0.039
11. | Ang Guan Piao 21,900 0.038
12. | Manolo Z. Alcasabas 21,577 0.038
13. | Willy Yew Chai Lim 20,085 0.035
14, | Ma. Victoria R. Del Rosario 17.938 0.031
15. | Ramon R. Del Rosario Jr. 17.938 0.031
16. | Liwayway Sy 17.938 0.031
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17. | Dr. Victorino Medrano Jr. &/or Ofelia R. Medrano 13,952 0.024

18. | Procurador General De Padres Franciscano de Manila 11,211 0.020

19. | Josefina Tengco Reyes 11,211 0.020

20. | Barcelon Roxas Securities Inc. 10,077 0.020
(¢) Dividends

The declaration and payment of dividends will depend, among others, upon the Company's
eamings, cash flow, capital requirements and financial condition in addition to other factors.
Cash dividends are subject to approval by the Board of Directors (BOD) but no stockholders’
approval is required. Dividends are payable to stockholders whose names are recorded in
the stock and transfer books as of the record date fixed by the Board. The Company declared
cash dividends in 2024, 2023, and 2022. Details of cash dividend are as follows:

Y2024 Y2023 Y2022
| Date of BOD Approval June 14 June 16 June 17
Record Date July 5 July 7 July 7
Payment Date July 31 Aug2 July 31
Amount of Dividend per Share | 80.20 or 20% | ®0.100r 10% | B0.10 or 10%
Amount Paid 811,446,604 | 85,723,302 #5,723.842

(d) Recent Sales of Unregistered Securitics

There have been no sales of securities within the past three years which were not registered
under the Securities Regulation Code (SRC). Neither is there any claim for exemption from
registration made by the Company.

6 - Management’s Discussion and Analysis
Results for the Year
Year Ended 2024

Keppel Philippines Holdings, Inc, (KPH) and its subsidiaries (the “Company™) recorded a net
income of 81.1 billion in 2024, #22.3 million in 2023, and R12.3 million in 2022. The reasons
for the changes in net income are as follows:

The Company earned 81.3 billion net gain from the sale of investment property of its 51% owned
subsidiary, GMRI, of its land with a total arca of 24.9 hectares located in Bauan, Batangas to a
non-related third party for 81.5 billion on March 7, 2024. The sale comes after a strategic review
of investments and the opportunity to sell the land at valuation. The cost of the land, commission
and real property tax totaling #227.9 million were charged against the proceeds.

In 2024, the Company eamed interest income from short-term bank deposits of #81.4 million
higher than #32.5 million in 2023 and in 2022 of #6.7 million. The Company did earn interest
from loans in 2022 of R10.1 million. Loans in 2022 were fully paid in the same year. The increase
in interest from short-term bank deposits was mainly due to an increase in interest rates ranging
from 5.75% to 6.125% in 2024 as against from 4.375% to 6% in 2023, and 0.4% 10 5% in 2022,
Interest rates on the loan are agreed upon with the related party on a comparable market rate basis
on the date of granting or renewal of the loan. Interest rates on loans range from 2.9% to 5.0% in
2022,
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The equity in net eamings of associate - CLI as of 31 December 2024 amounted to #12.9 million
as compared to 81.6 million, and 810.0 million in 2022. Increase or decrease in equity in net
eamnings of associate depends upon the net income realized by CLI during the years. The
Company received a cash dividend from CLI amounting to #5.2 million, and 8#7.0 million in 2023
and 2022, respectively, and none in 2024,

Rental revenue for 2024 amounted 1o 84.6 million, as against in 2023 of 812.8 million and in
2022 of 811.2 million. The decrease in lease rental was due to the termination of lease remtal
from SPMI as a result of the Batangas land sale effective in March 2024. The remaining lease
rental comes from leases of condominium units of KPSI and some lots owned by GRDC.,

Management fees charged to related parties amounted to #1.4 million both for 2024 and 2023 and
1.6 million in 2022, The decrease in 2024 and 2023 as compared with 2022 was due to timing
difference in booking of the 4th quarter 2021 new accounting service fiees from a related company
booked only in 2022,

In February 2020, the Parent Company entered into a payroll service agreement with related
companies with regards to the payroll system upgrade of the KPMI, KSSI and the Parent
Company. Payroll service fees carned for the year 2022 amounted to 83.4 million. The
agreement was terminated in November 2022.

Operating expenses amounted to #49.7 million in 2024 as against 819.1 million in 2023 and in
2022 of #29.0 million. The increase of R30.6 million in 2024 as against 2023 was due 1o the
following: a) loss on impairment on long-term lease contract with SPMI of 825.7 million; b)
provision for impairment losses for CWT and VAT by #4.8 million; c.) salaries and allowances
by 81.4 million and professional fees by 82.2 million. These were partially offset by lower taxes
and licenses by #2.8 million and by repair and maintenance expenses by #0.8 million. The
operating expenses for 2024 were also higher than in 2022 by 820.6 million due to the impairment
on long-term lease of 825.7 million, higher professional fees by #2.6 million and provision for
impairment of #2.7 million. These were partially offset by lower salaries and allowances by #3.1
million, taxes and licenses by #3.5 million, repairs and maintenance by 1.4 million, contractual
services by 81,1 and depreciationamortization expense by 80,7 million,

The Company has unrealized fair value gain on financial asset fair value through other
comprehensive income from a golf-club share of #15.0 million in 2024, 812.0 million in 2023,
and 814.0 million in 2022. The Company recognized deferred tax liability of #12.7 million for
15% capital gain tax if the golf-club share is sold in the future, The Company also recognized
loss on remeasurement of retirement benefits based on retirement actuarial retirement plan
amounting to #0.5 million in 2024 and R1.4 million in 2023 and gain of R1.7 million in 2022.

The cash position of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2024 amounted 10 81,268
million as compared to the same period last year of B575.5 million. The increase of B692.5
million is due to the proceeds from the sale of investment property of #1,474.4 million and
interest received from deposits of B79.5 million. This was offset by payment of dividends to
shareholders of #638.4 million, payment of taxes of 8206.6 million, contribution to the retirement
fund of R0.8 million and net cash absorbed by operations of 815.7 million.

Total current receivables in 2024 relating to interest receivable amounted to 84.6 million as
against 82.8 million in 2023. The current portion of long-term receivable in 2023 amounted to
#1.1 million and none in 2024,

Onher current assets as of 2024 amounted to 81.6 million and R0.8 million in 2023. Movements
in other current assets came from the following: a) Creditable Withholding Tax (CWT) of 84,6
million, b) input VAT by 83.0 million, c) prepaid expenses of R1.1 million and d) advances to
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employees and others of B0.4 million. Provisions for impairment were provided for CWT of 84.6
million and Input VAT 83.0 million,

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) was revalued at
million #85.0 million and #70.0 million as at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Investment in an associate increased from 8417.6 million in 2023 to R430.5 million this year.
The increase of B12.9 million relates to the equity share in net income of CL1 amounting to B51.5
million in 2024, In 2023, CLI had equity share of 81.6 million which was offset by dividend of
#5.2 million. In 2024, CLI did not issue dividends.

Investment properties, Property and equipment and Intangible assets — net of depreciation and
amortization as of 2024 amounted to B4.7 million as against $207.6 million in 2023, The decrease
of 8202.9 million was mainly due to the sale of land at Bauan, Batangas carried at #202.3 million,
depreciation for the year of 0.8 million and cost of new office equipment of B0.2 million,

Total liabilities increased from #6.4 million in 2023 1o £17.6 million this year. The increase was
due 10 the recognition of deferred tax liability amounting to ®#12.8 million for the fair value other
comprehensive income (FVOCI) financial asset at FVOCI,

Total equity as of 31 December 2024 amounted to 81,776.7 million and R1,295.0 million in
December 2023. Retained eamings amounted to 81,351.6 million as of December 2024 as
compared to R773.5 million in December 2023. The increase in retained earnings was due to
higher net income after non-controlling interests of R589.5 million partially offset by a cash
dividend of R11.4 million. The Company also had an unrealized fair value gain on financial
assets at fair value through other comprehensive income of 2.3 million and remeasurement loss
on retirement benefit obligation of 80.5 million. The Company did not purchase any treasury
shares this year. Non-controlling interest of minority shareholders decreased from 8330.4 million
in 2023 1o $#232.2 million due to its recognition of A528.8 million shares in the net income of the
Company offset by B627.0 million cash dividends.

The equity attributable to equity holders of the parent amounted to R1,544.3 million and R964.6
million as of December 2024 and 2023, respectively.

The net book value per share attributable to the equity holders of the parent as of December 2024
was 826.99 as against December 2023 of 816.85, The earnings per share attributable to the equity
holders of the parent as of December 2024 and 2023 were B10.30 and B0.31, respectively.

Year Ended 2023

Keppel Philippines Holdings, Inc. (KPH) and its subsidiaries (the “Company™) recorded a net
income of 822.3 million in 2023, #12.3 million in 2022, and #269.2 million in 2021. The reasons
for the changes in net income are as follows:

In 2023, the Company eamed interest income from short-term bank deposits of 832.5 million
higher than in 2022 of 86.7 million and in 2021 of #0.9 million. The Company did not eam
interest from loans in 2023 as compared with RB10.1 million in 2022 and 88.6 million in 2021,
This was due to the termination and full repayment of loans in 2022. Movement in interest carned
was brought by the changes in interest rates over the years and granting and repayment of loans.,
The increase on interest from short-term bank deposits was mainly due to increase in interest
rates ranging from 5% to 6% in 2023 as against from 0.4% to 5% in 2022, and 0.4% to 0.5% in
2021. Interest rates on loan are agreed upon with the related party on a comparable market rate
basis on the date of granting or renewal of the loan, Interest rates on loans range from 2.9% to
5.0% in 2022 and 3.1% to 3.8% in 2021.
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Rental revenue for 2023 amounted to B12.8 million as against in 2022 of 811.2 million and #9.1
million in 2021. Rental revenue in 2023 is 81,6 million higher than in 2022 due to an increase in
rental rate amounting to #0.4 million and full year recognition of lease rental from external party
of 1.2 million. The rental revenue in 2022 was higher than in 2021 due to the non-continuance
of rental concessions which were given both in 2021 and 2020 due to difficult business
environment arising from the COVID-19 pandemic which affected the operation of SPMI. The
rental concession has been properly studied and justified to be within market practices.

The equity in net earnings of associate - CLI as of 31 December 2023 amounted to #1.6 million,
as against #10.0 million and #6.7 million in 2022 and 2021, respectively. Increase or decrease
in equity in net eamings of associate depends upon the net income realized by CLI during the
years. The Company received a cash dividend from CLI amounting to #5.2 million, 7.0 million
and #7.5 million in 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively.

Management fees charged to related partics amounted to #1.4 million in 2023, #1.6 million in
2022 and P0.8 million in 2021. The increase of 0.8 million from 2021 as against 2022 and 2023
was due to service fees earned by the Parent Company with its new accounting services agreement
entered with a related company in 2021. The decrease in 2023 as compared with 2022 was due 1o
timing difference in booking of the 4th quarter 2021 pew accounting service fees from related
company booked only in 2022,

In February 2020, the Parent Company entered into a payroll service agreement with related
companies with regards to the payroll system upgrade of the KPMI, KSSI and the Parent
Company. Payroll service fees earned for the year 2022 amounted to #3.4 million as against R3.6
million in 2021. The agreement was terminated in November 2022,

In June 2021, the Company camed a onc-off gain from the sale of land rights on a property in
Bauan, Batangas amounting to #345.6 million. The rights were sold to a non-related third-party
buyer for a gross price of #358.6 million. A cash deposit to the Supreme Court of #4.1 million,
related legal expenses of R1.8 million, and commission expense of 7.2 million incurred and paid
in 2021, were applied against the gross price resulting to net gain of 8345.6 million. There is no
similar transaction in 2022 and 2023.

Operating expenses amounted to #19.1 million this year as against in 2022 of #29.0 million and
#22.0 million in 2021. Lower expenses by #9.9 million in 2023 as against 2022 were due to the
decrease in salaries and allowances, taxes and licenses, depreciation and amortization, repairs and
maintenance, utilities, membership dues and subscriptions, travel and transportation, and
recovery of impairment loss on VAT booked in prior years. While the year 2022's operating
expenses was higher than in 2021 by #7.0 million due to higher taxes and licenses, repairs, and
maintenance. Also, in 2022 there was a provision for impairment on creditable withholding tax
of B1.7 million as against recovery of provision for impairment in creditable withholding tax of
#4.7 million in 2021.

The Company has unrealized fair value gain on financial asset fair value through other
comprehensive income from a golf-club share of R12.0 million in 2023, R14.0 million in 2022,
and #9.0 million in 2021. The Company also recognized loss on remeasurement of retirement
benefits assets based on retirement actuarial retirement plan amounting to 1.5 million in 2023,
gain of 81.7 million and 82.0 million in 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Financial Condi

The cash position of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023 amounted to #575.5
million as against the same period last year of 8583.0 million. The decrease of #7.5 million was
from payment of dividend of #35.0 million, cash absorbed by operations of #1.8 million and
income tax paid of R7.2 million. This was offset by the interest received from short-term deposits
of B31.4 million and cash dividend received of #5.2 million.
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Total receivables both current and non-current in 2023 are at the same level as last year of 829.8
million. Imerest receivable from bank deposits amounted 1o 82.8 million this year as against last
year of 81.6 million, The current portion of long-term receivable is at 81.1 million both in 2023
and 2022.

Other current assets are almost at same level both in 2023 and 2022 of #0.8 million. Movements
in other current assets came from the following: a) increase in creditable withholding tax by #0.4
million which was offset by decrease in allowance of 80.4 million; b) increase in advances to
employees and others by 80,1 million; ¢) decrease in prepaid expenses by 80.4 million; and d)
the provision on Input VAT in 2022 of 80.6 million was fully utilized.

Available-for-sale financial assets related to a quoted club share at fair value price as of December
2023 and 2022 amounted to #70.0 million and #58.0 million, respectively.

Investment in an associate decreased from 8421.2 million in 2022 to #417.6 million this year.
The net decrease of #3.6 million was due to an equity share in net income of CLI of #1.6 million
reduced by the cash dividend received this year amounting to #5.2 million,

Investment properties, Property and equipment and Intangible assets — net of depreciation and
amortization as of 2023 amounted to #207.6 million as against B208.4 million in 2022, The
decrease of B0.8 million was due to the depreciation for the year. There were no purchases or
disposal made during the year.

Total liabilities slightly increased from 85.1 million in 2022 to #6.4 million this year. The
increase of 81.3 million was due to recognition of retirement liability of R0.8 million, increase in
accrual of expenses and other payables of PO.4 million and increase in advance rental and deposits
of #O.1 million.

Total equity as of 31 December 2023 amounted to £1,295.0 million and #1,297.2 million in
December 2022. Retained carnings amounted to ®#773.5 million as of December 2023 as
compared to #761.4 million in December 2022, The increase in retained earnings was due to
higher net income after non-controlling interests of #17.8 million partially offset by a cash
dividend of #5.7 million. The Company also had an unrealized fair value gain on financial asset
at fair value through other comprehensive income of 812.0 million and remeasurement loss on
retirement benefit obligation of #1.5 million, The Company did not purchase any treasury shares
this year. Non-controlling interest of minority shareholders decreased from R355.2 million in
2022 to #330.4 million due to its recognition of 4.5 million shares in the net income of the
Company and #29.3 million cash dividends.

The equity attributable to equity holders of the parent amounted 10 #964.6 million and #942.0
million as of December 2023 and 2022, respectively. The net book value per share as of
December 2023 was 816,85 as against December 2022 of #16.46. The earnings per share
attributable to the equity holders of the parent as of December 2023 and 2022 were 80.31 and
#0.08, respectively,

Year Ended 2022

Keppel Philippines Holdings, Inc. (KPH) and its subsidiaries (the “Company™) recorded a net
income of R12.2 million in 2022, B269.2 million in 2021, and #26.1million in 2020. The reasons
for the changes in net income are as follows:

The Company carned interest income from loans granted to related companies and from short-
term bank deposits. The Company eamed total interest income of 816.8 million in 2022, #9.6
million in 2021, and #12.1 million in 2020. The interest earned from loans amounted to R10.1
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million in 2022, #8.6 million in 2021, and #11.3 million in 2020. Movement in interest eamed
was brought by the granting and repayment of loans and changes in interest rates over the years.
Interest rates on loan are agreed upon with the related party on a comparable market rate basis on
the date of granting or renewal of the loan. Interest rates on loans range from 2.9% to 5.0% in
2022, 3.1% 10 3.8% in 2021 and 3.4% t0 4.9% in 2020, There was a new loan granted in 2022
which amounted to #8100 million. Outstanding loan receivable of 8340 million were fully paid
in November 2022. On the other hand, interest from short-term deposits and T-bills amounted to
6.7 million in 2022 and #0.9 million both in 2021 and 2020. The increase on interest was mainly
due to a higher amount placed for time deposits and T-bills in 2022 and an increase in interest
rates ranging from 0.4% to 5% in 2022 as against 0.4% to 0.5% p.a. in 2021 and 0.5% to0 3.6%
p.a. in 2020.

Rental revenue for Year 2022 amounted to #11.2 million as against #9.1 million in 2021 and
#33.3 million in 2020. Rental revenue in 2022 is higher than in 2021 due to the non-continuance
of rental concessions during the year. Rental concessions were given both in 2021 and 2020 due
to difficult business environment arising from the COVID-19 pandemic which affected the
operation of KPML. The rental concession has been properly studied and justified to be within
market practices. Remtal revenues in 2022 and 2021 were lower than in 2020 due to the
termination of lease rental on properties in Bauan, Batangas to a third party in December 2020.

The equity in net earnings of associate - CLI as of 31 December 2022 amounted to #10.0 million,
as against 86.7 million and B7.6 million in 2021 and 2020, respectively. Increase or decrease in
equity in net eamings of associate depends upon the net income realized by CLI during the years.
The Company received a cash dividend from CLI amounting to 87.0 million, #7.5 million and
8.7 million in 2022, 2021, and 2020, respectively.

In February 2020, the Parent Company entered into a payroll service agreement with related
companies with regards to the payroll system upgrade of the KPMI, KSSI and the Parent
Company. Payroll service fees camed for the year 2022 amounted to 83.4 million as against #3.6
million in 2021 and R1.1 million in 2020. The agreement was terminated in November 2022,

Management fees charged to related parties amounted to ®1.6 million in 2022 as against #0.8
million from 2021 10 2020. The increase of B0.8 million was due to service fees eamed by the
Parent Company with its new accounting services agreement entered with a related company,
Bay Philippines Holdings Corp., a Philippines-incorporated company, and member of the Keppel
Group

In June 2021, the Company camed a one-off gain from the sale of land rights on a property in
Bauan, Batangas amounting to #345.6 million. The rights were sold to a non-related third-party
buyer for a gross price of #358.6 million. A cash deposit to the Supreme Court of 84.1 million,
related legal expenses of 1.8 million, and commission expense of #7.2 million incurred and paid
in 2021, were applied against the gross price resulting to net gain of R345.6 million. There is no
similar transaction in 2022,

Operating expenses amounted to #29.0 million, 822.0 million, and #24.9 million in 2022, 2021
and 2020, respectively. The year 2021 had lower expenses than in 2022 and 2020 mainly due to
recovery of provision for impairment in creditable withholding tax of 84,7 million in 2021 as
against provision of 81.7 million this year. There was also an increase in maintenance expenses
relating to various payroll services in 2022 of B1.6 million as against 1.2 and £#0.2 million in
2021 and 2020, respectively,

The Company has unrealized fair value gain on financial asset fair valve through other
comprehensive income from a golf-club share of B14.0 million in 2022, #9.0 million in 2021, and
loss of 82.0 million in 2020. The Company also recognized gain on remeasurement of retirement
benefits assets based on retirement actuarial retirement plan amounting to 81,7 million in 2022,
#2.0 million in 2021 and loss in 2020 of 81.1 million.
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Financial Condition

The cash position of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2022 amounted to R#583.0
million as against the same period last year of #341.1 million. The increase of 8241.9 million
was from net loan collected/granted of #240.0 million, interest received from short-term deposits
and loan receivable of R15.1 million, cash dividend received of #7.0 million and net proceeds
from disposal of fixed asset of #3.4 million. This was partially offset by net cash absorbed by
operation of #7.4 million, cash dividend paid of R15.6 million, buy-back of treasury shares of
#0.7 million, income tax paid of 0.4 million, and purchase of office equipment of 80.3 million.

Total receivables both current and non-current this year amounted to B29.8 million from #272.5
million as of last year. The net decrease of #242.7 million was due mainly to the repayment of
loan by a related party amounting to 8240 million.

Other current assets decreased from 81.7 million to #0.8 million this year, The decrease was due
to higher provision for impairment of creditable withholding tax of #1.6 million and input VAT
of 0.1 million this year. While in 2021, there was net recovery of B4.6 of provision for
impairment of creditable withholding tax which was fully applied against tax payment.

Available-for-sale financial assets related to a quoted club share at fair value price as of December
2022 and 2021 amounted to R58.0 million and 844.0 million, respectively.

Investment in an associate increased from #418.2 million in 2021 to R421.2 million this year.
The net increase was due to equity share in net income of CLI of 10,0 million reduced by the
cash dividend received this year amounting to #7.0 million.

Investment properties, Property and equipment and Intangible assets — net of depreciation and
amortization & of 2022 amounted to #8208.4 million as against #212.9 million in 2021. The
decrease was due to the disposal of computer hardware and software related to the payroll system
amounting to B4.5 million.

Total liabilitics slightly increased from 84.9 million in 2021 to ®5.1 million this year. The
increase was due to advanced rentals and security deposits of new external tenant.

Total equity as of 31 December 2022 amounted to 81,297.2 million and R1,285.6 million in
December 2021, Retained eamings amounted to #761.4 million as of December 2022 as
compared to #762.6 million in December 2021. The decrease in retained eamings was due to
lower net income after non-controlling interests of 84.5 million partially offset by a cash dividend
of 8#5.7 million. The Company also had an unrealized gain on fair value of financial asset at fair
value through other comprehensive income of R14.0 million and remeasurement gain on
retirement benefits 81.7 million, The Company also bought back its own shares amounting to
#0.7 million, Non-controlling interest of minority shareholders also recognized #7.7 million
shares in the net income of the Company and received dividends of 89,9 million.

The equity attributable to equity holders of the parent amounted to 8#942.0 million and #928.2
million & of December 2022 and 2021, respectively. The net book value per share as of
December 2022 was R16.46 as against December 2021 of R16.19. The eamings per share
attributable to the equity holders of the parent as of December 2022 and 2021 were 80.08 and
#4.61, respectively.
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Plan of Action for 2025

KPH shall focus on maintaining and adding value on its investment properties. Among others,
the strategies may include the purchase of shares of stock, purchase of additional investment
properties, and increasing occupancy and rental rates. Certain properties may be considered for
sale where it can contribute the best value to the Company and its shareholders, Investment
properties of strategic value shall be reviewed for further investments where appropriate. Further,
given the sale of Bauan, Batangas property, the proceeds therefrom contributed to KPHI having
significantly higher cash balance compared to December 31, 2023. With this, KPHI will review
its options for the best use of its cash,

Key Performance Indicators

The key performance indicators of the Company for the last three (3) fiscal years are follows:

Particulars 2024 2023 2022
Current Ratio
(Current Assets/Current Liabilities) 37274 | 163.48 | 188.02
Acid Test Ratio or Quick Ratio
(Monetary Current Asscts/Current Liabilities) | 372.28 | 163.27 | 187.75
Solvency Ratio
(Net Income + Depreciation)/Total Liabilitics | 63.45 3.62 2.68
Debt to Equity Ratio
(Total Liabilities/Stockholders’ Equity) 0.01 0.01 0.004
Assets to Eguity Ratio 1.01 1.01 1.00
Debt Ratio
(Total Liabilities/Total Assets) 0.01 0.01 0.004
Return on Assets (%)
(Net Income/Total Assets) 62.33 1.71 0.94
Return on Equity (%)
(Net Income/Stockholders’ Equity) 62.95 1.72 0.94
Net Profit Margin (%)
(Net Income/Total Revenues 8135 45.92 28.20
Earnings per Share Attributable to Equity
Holders of Parent (R) 10.30 0.31 0.08
Book Value per Share Attributable to Equity
Holders of Parent (R) 26.99 16.85 16.46

There are no known events that may trigger direct or contingent financial obligation that is
material to the Company, including any default or acceleration of an obligation that was not
disclosed. There are no material off-balance sheet transactions, obligations (including contingent
obligations), and other relationships of the Company with unsolicited entities or other persons
created during the reporting period that has not been disclosed. The Company has no material
commitment to capital expenditures for the next twelve (12) months that would need to raise or
generate funds for.

There are no known trends, commitments, events, or uncertainties that will have a material
impact, whether favorable or unfavorable, on the revenues or income from continuing operations
of the Parent Company. There are also no off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements,
obligations (including contingent obligations), and other relationships of the Parent Company
with unconsolidated entitics or other persons created during the ycar.
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7 - Financial Statements

The audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended 31 December 2024
and schedules listed in the accompanying Index to Financial Statements and Supplementary
Schedules are filed as part of this Form 17-A,

The financial statements attached to the report include the audited statements of financial position,
statements of income, statements of comprehensive income, statements of changes in
stockholders’ equity, statements of cash flows and notes to the financial statements. Such reports
form part of the attachment to the SEC Annual Report Form 17-A.

8 - Information on Independent Accountants and Other Related Matters

(a) External Audit Fees and Services

(b)

(1)  Audit and Related Fees — For 2024, the Company appointed Isla Lipana & Co. (PwC)
to audit the current year's financial statements. The aggregate fee billed by Isla Lipana
for the audit of the Company's annual financial statements was #0.6 million in 2022 to
2024. There have been no other services performed by Isla Lipana for the last three (3)
years. The services performed by the Company's external auditors and the fees are
reviewed by the Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee (ARCC) prior to submission
to the Board of Directors for approval.

(i) Tax Fees ~No tax fees were paid for the years 2022 to 2024,

(iii) Other Fees — No other fees were paid for the years 2022 10 2024,

(iv) Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee’s Approval Policies & Procedures — The
Committee evaluates proposals based on the quality of service, commitment for
deadline and fees, The Committee may require a presentation from cach proponent to
clarify some issues.

Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

Accounting standards in accordance with PFRS are stated in Note 20 to the financial
statements. For the last three (3) fiscal years, there have been no disagreements with the
independent accountants relating to accounting principles or practices, financial statements
disclosure, or auditing scope or procedure.

PART 111 - CONTROL AND COMPENSATION INFORMATION

9 « Directors and Executive Officers of the Issuer

(2) Directors, Including Independent Directors, and Executive Officers

There are seven (7) members of the Board, three (3) of whom are independent directors.
The term of office of each member is one (1) year except when the director is elected by the
Board of Directors during the term. The members of the Board of Directors are elected at
the Annual Stockholders® Meeting to hold office until the next succeeding annual meeting
and until their respective successors have been elected and qualified. A director who is
elected to fill any vacancy holds office for the unexpired portion of the term of his
predecessor.
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The current members of the Board of Directors are the following:

Board of Directors

(i

(i)

Tan Kuang Liang, 50, Singaporean, has been the Chairman and regular Director of
the Company since April 3, 2024. He joined Keppel Group in 2012 and is currently
the President of Keppel Land Indonesia and Regional Investments, Before his current
appointment, he was the General Manager for Operational excellence with oversight
on Sustainability, Safety, Corporate social responsibility, and Project management at
Keppel Management Ltd. (KML). Prior 10 joining KML, he led CapitaLand’s South
China operations, Jurong China group's business development, and worked in CPG
Consultants. He is currently the Chairman of the Board and President of Keppel
Philippines Properties, Inc. since 10 February 2023.

Mr. Tan graduated with BSc Building (2nd Upper Hons) from the National University
of Singapore and completed his MSc. Sustainable Building Design (Merit) from the
University of Nottingham under BCA-WDA Scholarship in 2016. He is a Green Mark
Advanced Accredited Professional and a member of the Singapore Institute of
Arbitrators and Society of Project Managers,

Alan L Claveria, 54, Filipino, has been the President and regular Director of the
Company since 14 September 2017. Prior to his appointment, he was the Senior
Manager, Administration and Corporate Affairs of Keppel Philippines Marine, Inc, He
is concurrently the President and Director of KPS| Property, Inc., Goodwealth Realty
Development Corp., Goodsoil Marine Realty, Inc., Consort Land, Inc., and Consort
Capital, Inc. He provides advice in matters relating to corporate affairs and
communication, administration, human resources, and real estate, drawing from his
experience from holding various positions in Keppel's present and previously owned
business units involved in shipbuilding and ship repair, towage and salvage,
investment, and real estate. Mr. Claveria holds a Master’s in Business Administration
degree from the Ateneo Graduate School of Business and finished BS Management,
Major in Legal Management at the Ateneo de Manila University, He has been with
Keppel in the Philippines for over 20 years.

(iii) Celso P, Vivas, 78, Filipino, has been an Independent Director of Keppel Philippines

Holdings, Inc. since June 2005 and is currently the Company’s Lead Independent
Director and Chairman of the Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee. He is currently
an Independent Director, Chairman of the Governance, Nomination and Compensation
Committee and member of the Audit and Compliance Committee of Keppel Philippine
Propertics, Inc.; Chairman of Megawide Construction Corp.'s Audit and Compliance
Committee and member of both the Board Risk Oversight Committee, and Governance,
Nomination and Compensation Committee; Chairman of Republic Glass Holdings
Corp.’s Governance, Nomination and Compensation Committee, and member of the
Audit and Compliance Committee, He is also an Independent Director of Goodsoil
Marine Realty, Inc., Goodwealth Realty Development, Inc., and Consort Land Inc.,
subsidiaries & related companies of KPHI. He was Independent Director and Chairman
of the Audit Committee of Keppel Philippines Marine, Inc. and Keppel Subic Shipyard,
Inc. till June 2022. He was Risk Consulting Partner and Assurance Business Advisory
Partner of SGV & Company until his retirement in 2001, Mr, Vivas obtained his
Bachelor’s Degree in Business Administration (Cum Laude) from the University of the
East. He also obtained a Master's Degree in Business Management from the Asian
Institute of Management (SGV & Co. Scholar). He is also a graduate of Company
Directors’ Course from Australian Institute of Company Directors (ICD Scholar), Mr,
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Vivas is a Certified Public Accountant and has over 50 years of experience in audit,
finance, enterprise risk management, and corporate governance.

(iv) Ramon J. Abejuela, 75 years old, Filipino, has been an Independent Director of

v)

Keppel Philippines Holdings, Inc. since 14 September 2017. He is also the Chairman
of the Corporate Governance and Nomination Committee and member of the Audit,
Risk and Compliance Committee of Company. He was an Independent Director of
Keppel Philippines Properties, Inc. (KEP) from November 1999 to June 2008. He was
re-clected as Independent Director in 2009 and is curremly the Chairman of the Audit
and Compliance Committee and member of the Governance, Nomination and
Compensation Committee of KEP. He serves as Independent Director and Chairman of
the Audit Committee of Mabuhay Vinyl Corporation as of July 2022 to present. He
served as Independent Director of Keppel Philippine Marine, Inc. and Keppel Subic
Shipyard, Inc. in June 2020 to June 2022. He also serves as Director and Vice
Chairman of the Board of Philippine Nutri-Foods Corporation and NCP Publishing Inc.
since 2004, Mr, Abejuela holds a Bachelor of Science in Chemical Engineering Degree
(cum laude) from De La Salle University and a Master's Degree in Business
Management - General Management Curriculum from the Asian Institute of
Management. Mr. Abejuela has more than 45 years of experience in the field of
financial planning, control, and consultancy.

Leonardo R. Arguclles, Jr., 75, Filipino, has been an Independent Director of Keppel
Philippines Holdings, Inc. since 19 June 2020 and Keppel Philippines Properties, Inc.
since 13 August 2020, He is a member of the Audit Risk and Compliance Committee
and Corporate Governance and Nomination Committee of the Company. He is also a
member of the Audit and Compliance Committee and Governance, Nomination and
Compensation Committee of KPPI. He was the President and Director of Unicapital
Securities Inc. (Stockbroker) from 2001 to March 2019 and Managing Director of
Unicapital, Inc (Investment House) from 2003 to March 2019, He was an Advisory
Board Member of Basic Energy Corporation (listed company) from 2012 to 2019 and
Director of Des Eaux Utilities Corp from 2007 to March 2019. He was an Independent
Director of Royal Bank of Scotland, Manila Branch from 2002 to 2009 and Anglo
Philippines Holdings (listed company) from 2004 to 2007. He was Executive Director
of Keppel IV1 Investments from 1989 to 1997. He graduated from Ateneo de Manila
University with AB Economics. He has more than 45 years of experience in the field
of investment banking.

(vi) Stefan Tong Wai Mun, 53, Malaysian, has been a regular Director of the Company

(vii)

since June 2007 and had been the President from same period until 14 September 2017.
He has been a regular Director of Keppel Philippine Properties, Inc. since June 2007
and has been elected as regular Director of Seatrium Philippines Marine, Inc. (formerly
Keppel Philippines Marine, Inc.) in February 2010 and Executive Vice-President in
June 2011, He is also a regular Director of various Keppel and Seatrium companies in
the Philippines. Mr. Tong graduated from University of Western Australia with a
Bachelor's Degree in Accounting and Finance (Honors), He is a Chartered Accountant
and a member of the Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand. He has more
than 25 years of experience in banking, finance, and real estate.

Felicidad V. Razon, 64, Filipino, has been a regular Director of the Company since
May 2014. She joined the Company as Finance Manager in May 2008 and has been
appointed as Treasurer in June 2008 and elected/appointed as Vice President/Treasurer
in November 2013. She is also a regular director and officer of KPH related companies.
Prior to Keppel Group, Ms, Razon was the Finance Manager/Officer of Benguet
Corporation's fully owned subsidiaries involved in manufacturing. shipping and freight
forwarding. She graduated from Polytechnic University of the Philippines with
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Bachelor of Science Degree in Commerce Major in Accountancy and is a Certified
Public Accountant. She has more than 35 years of experience in her field of profession.

Executive Officers
(i) Alan L Claveria - President - (See foregoing Director’s profile)

(ii) Felicidad V. Razon, Vice President / Treasurer / Compliance Officer / Corporate
Information Officer — (See foregoing Director’s profile)

(iii) Maria Melva E. Valdez, Corporate Secretary, 65, Filipino, has been the Corporate
Secretary of the Corporation since 1999, She also served as Director of Keppel
Philippines Holdings, Inc. (KPHI) from 24 June 2008 to 11 June 2009. She is a Senior
Partner of the law firm of Bello Valdez and Esguerra Law Offices, She is the Chairman
of the Board of Directors & President of Servier Philippines, Inc., Director & President
of Taurus First Properties, Inc., and Corporate Secretary of Sagara Metro Plastics
Industrial Corporation; Atty. Valdez also holds directorship positions in the following
companies: Leighton Contractors (Phils), Inc., Asia Contractors Holdings, Inc., Cambe
Dental Billing Services, Inc., KPSI Property, Inc., Opon Realty & Development Corp.,
and Opon-KE Properties, Inc.; a member of the Board of Trustees of the AIM Scientific
Research Foundation, Inc., FIF Foundation, Inc. and a Trustee & Treasurer of
Philippine-Japan Economic Cooperation Committee, Inc. She has been the Corporate
Secretary of KPHI, Keppel Philippines Properties Inc., and Mabuhay Vinyl
Corporation (listed corporations), Seatrium Philippines Marine, Inc., Seatrium Subic
Shipyard, Inc., Keppel Batangas Shipyard, Inc., and various Keppel companies in the
Philippines. She is likewise the Corporate Secretary of Asian Institute of Management,
EMS Services International Inc., Wartsila Philippines Inc., Calamba Medical Center,
Inc., Calamba Cancer Center, Inc., Saint John the Baptist Medical Center, Inc., Kopiko
Philippines Corporation, Toyota Corolla Sapporo Philippines Holdings, Inc., Trabajo
Services, Inc., VS Industries Philippines, Inc., Suretrac Holdings, Inc., and Asia Control
Systems Philippines, Inc. Atty. Valdez is a member of the Philippine-Japan Society,
Inc. and Philippine-Italian Association. Atty. Valdez graduated from the University of
the Philippines as a holder of degrees of Bachelor of Arts in Political Science and
Bachelor of Laws. She is a regular lecturer of the Paralegal Training Program of the
University of the Philippines Law Center and is an adjunct faculty member of the Asian
Institute of Management. She is the Chairperson of the Membership Committee of the
Inter-Pacific Bar Association, She has more than 37 years of working experience in
her field of profession as a lawyer,

i Pamela Ann T. Cayabyab, 42, Filipino, has been the Asst. Corporate Secretary of the
Company since 7 May 2021. She has been the Asst. Corporate Secretary of other
companies such as Mabuhay Vinyl Corporation (a listed company) and MVC Properties
Ine, since November 2020; Fujita Philippines Construction and Development, Inc., since
April 2017; Keppel Philippines Properties, Inc. (a listed company) since June 2021 and
various Keppel companies; Brother International Philippines Corp. since May 2015;
PPG Coatings (Philippines) Inc. since March 2012; Tosoh Polyvin Corporation since
March 2011 and various non-stock condominium corporations/foundation. She is
likewise the Corporate Secretary of Gruppo EMS Inc., EMS Resources Technology Inc.,
EMS Services Philippines, Inc., and Creotec Philippines Inc., and Toyota Corolla
Sapporo Philippines Holdings, Inc. since April 2024, Atty, Cayabyab is a Senior Partner
of Bello Valdez & Esguerra Law Offices. She obtained her Bachelor of Arts in Political
Science from the University of the Philippines — Diliman in 2003 and her Juris Doctor
degree from the Ateneo de Manila University School of Law in 2007. She was admitted
to the Philippines Bar in 2008.
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(b)

()

(@)

Significant Employees

There are no employees other than the officers mentioned in the preceding subsection who
are expected to make a significant contribution to the business.

Family Relationship

There are no family relationships up to the fourth civil degree either by consanguinity or
affinity among directors, officers, and persons nominated or chosen by the company to
become directors, officers, any security holder of certain record, beneficial owner, or
management,

Involvement in Certain Legal Proceedings

Regarding the knowledge and/or information of the Company, none of the directors and
officers was involved in any bankruptcy proceedings during the last five (5) years. Neither
have they been convicted by final judgment in any criminal proceedings, or been subjected
to any order, judgment, or decree of competent jurisdiction, permanently or temporarily
enjoining, barring, suspending, or otherwise limiting their involvement in any type of
business, securities, commodities, or banking activities, nor found in an action by any court
or administrative bodies to have violated a securitics and commodities law or regulation,

10 - Executive Compensation

As the Company is an investment holding company, it has two (2) senior officers, namely the
President, Vice President/Treasurer.

The total aggregate compensation (inclusive of benefits) of the senior officers of the Company
during the last two (2) fiscal years and the projected aggregate compensation to be paid for the
current fiscal year are as follows:

Other Annual

Description Year Salary (in Php) Bonus Compensation
Aggregue for All 2025 Estimate 5,645,000 None None
Officers 2024 4.271,000 None Noae
2023 5,181,000 None None
Aggregate for All | 5055 poimate | 6,145,000 None Noae

Officers

& Directors as a 2024 6,400,000 None None
Group 2023 5,831,000 None None

Under the Company's By-Laws, directors shall reccive such compensation for their services from
time to time as may be fixed by the stockholders. There are no warrants or options held by the
Company’s officers and directors. The Company does not have any other arrangements pursuant
to which no director is compensated directly or indirectly for any service provided as a director.
There are also no special employment contracts with executive officers of the Company. The
Company has no existing options, warrants or rights to purchase any securities,
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11 - Security Ownership of Certain Record and Beneficial Owners and Management

Security Ownership of Certain Record and Beneficial Owners

As of 31 December 2024, the Company knows of no one who beneficially owns in excess of 5%
of the Company's common stock except as set forth in the table below:

Name of Beneficial
Title of Name, Address of Record/ Owner & Citizenshi No. of Percent
Class Beneficial Owner Relationship with P 1 SharesHeld | of Class
Record Owner
Common | Kepwealth, Inc. ' ‘AT 28817182
Unit 3B, Country Space | Bldg. ‘B': 1,715,748
133 Sen. Gil J. Puyat Ave., Alan 1. Claveria Filipino
Salcedo Village, Brgy. Bel-Air, (Director) 30,532,930 | 5335
Makati City
Common | Keppel Ltd. ?
I Harbour Front Ave,, #18-01 f A sBs.
Keppel Bay Tower, Singapore Tan K?ang Liang | Singaporean B': 16894087 | 29.52
098632 (Directon)
Common| PCD Nominee Corp.? Filigino ‘AT 4,389,651
37/F Emterprisc Bldg., Filini ‘B 2434746
Ayala Avenue, Makati City Fo::no ‘B
6972319 1218

1. Kepwealth, Inc. is majority-cwned by Kepventure, Inc. The Chairman, or b his absence, the President of Kepwealth,
Inc. (s duly auhorized as proxy 1o vore in the shares of Keprwealtk, Inc. in the Company.

2. Keppel Lid (KL}, formerly Keppel Corporation Lid. (KCL) is listed in the Singapore Siock Exchange, The Chalrman
of the Board, or in his absence, the President o in his absence, the Chairman of the meeting. shall have the right io
vorte or divect voting or disporition of the shareholdings of KL in the Company.

3. PCD Nominee Corp. is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Philippine Central Depositery, Inc. (PCD). It iz the
registered owner of the shares in the books of the Comparey's transfer agents in the Philippines. The beneficial
owners of such shares are PCD's participonts. PCD holds the shares on their beneficial owner’s hehalf or on behalf
of their (PCD) clients. PCD is @ private company organized by the mafor lnstitutions actively participating in the
Philippine caplial markets to implement an automated book-entry system of hardling securities transoctions in the
Philippines.

Security Ownership of Management as of 31 December 2024

Amount and
) -sule Name of Beneficial Owner Bt of | Citizenship | Percent
Ownership
Tan Kuang Liang / Chairman / Director ‘B Irn) Singaporean -
Alan I. Claveria / President/Director ‘A 38(r) Filipino -
Celso P. Vivas / Lead Independent Director ‘AT I(r) Filipino -
Ramon J. Abej /1 Director ‘At L) Filipino -
Common | Leonardo R. Arguelles / Independent Director ‘B 1n Filipino -
Stefan Tong Wai Mun / Director ‘B 1(r) Malaysian -
Felicidad V. Razon / Vice President/Treasurer /Director! ‘A 1) Filipino .
Maria Melva E. Valdez / Corporate Secretary - Filipino -
Pamela Ann T. Cayabyab' Asst, Corp. Sec. - Filipino -
‘A'i4l; ‘B3
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Eree float level

The Company has 17.13% or 9,805,958 shares owned by the public out of the 57,233,019 total
outstanding shares as of 31 December 2024,

12 - Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

In the ordinary course of business, the Company has transactions with its affiliates. The
significant transactions with affiliates are as follows:

Oustandng
fecel vatie
Notes 3034 33022 4 NGY Vemsandcondmons
Enttes wnder common contral
Loans (a) Outstmnding Balance is

SPMl collecttio in cah, with terms.
Prncps 3 « (240,000,000) . of B9 % 50 days subject for
Intorest income 3 - - s - renowdl, interest-beatng.

5551 . unsecwred 2024 and 2023 .o
Principal . . - - (2022-2M 10 50%)

: 2865 794 :
Leases ()
Rervial income
- 1880918 10711818 - «  Outstandng balance s
Keppel VI Invvestment, Inc. colecitie i Cash wihin the
300,000 300,000 303,000 - Srst five (5) days of each
Keppel Enargy and POnth, No-lerest
120,000 1 1 . g unsecured.
7 420000 2280118 n,ﬁﬁ: 3 .

Advance remals Outstanding balance is 10 be
W . . - (2%.000) (25.000) applied on the last monthly
KECI - - . (19,000 (10.000) sertal a2 Be end of lease toem,

I3 non-rtevest bearng and
wraecwed.
730 : PSE05 (128693
Vancus expenses and charpes (<)
- 2105 «  Outstanding balarce is

Koppel Enterprises Services colectitie in cash on demand.

Pre Ly, 108,007 0N - = non-nterest beadng and
ursecued
Payrod sarvice fees ()

$881 . - 1,006,629 .

29 C T -

- "J -
Management fees (e}

Bay Hadngs, bac. 606,000 £60,000 825 000 -

KECI 240,000 240,000 240.000 . .

LUy 180,000 180,000 180.000 -

1 1

o (KPMD X . :'gg
neore

Commission ()

Corsont Land 2,048,000 -
Duector's foes
KPP . 140,000 232,000 -
Associates
Cash dridends recenved & « 523850 A4 - balance is
cobecibie i cah on pary-out
St a8 Bppeoved by the
relsted party's BOD, non-
merest beaing and
unsecured.
Shaveholders of Parert Compeny
Cash dvicdends declared and paid Outsiansag balance

Kepwealy, Inc. 6,300,586 3050280 206292 - < payable in cash on pay-out

KL AIT8IE 1680800 1480400 - < e 3% pproved by the

Oy 1,961,200 950,600 01,160 (I51.8%8)  (785,714) Parert Company's BOD, non-

e irteveat beaning and
1014 TIA88d SYH3E  STpaer (SN (eRTia) snsecued.
OQuistandng balance s
Vanous expenses and charges () oolectitie in cash on demand,
KL BT 978 5270 22,900 . aon-interest Searng and
nc . . 20131 - - nsacured.
Managerrent fees (e}
ne 276,000 276000 278000 - -
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(a) Loans

The Group granted short-term, interest-bearing loans to SPMI and SSSI. The loans were fully
paid in November 2022 and no loans granted thereafter.

2022

January 1 - 240,000,000

New loans granted - 100,000,000

Collections - (340,000,000)

December 31 - -
(B) Leases

The Group leases certain investments properties to related parties. SPMI formerly known as
KPMI is no longer considered as related party of the Group effective March 1, 2023,

2024 2023 2022

External party 4,191,450 10,539,288 99,809
Related party 420,000 2,280.118 11,131,815
4,611,450 12,819,406 11,231,624

(¢} Various expenses and charges

The Group paid for various reimbursable expenses which are utilized in the normal operations of
SPMI and Keppel Enterprise Services Pie. Ltd. amounting to nil and P106,907 in 2023 (2022 -
P221,859 and P377,035), respectively. There are no similar transactions in 2024,

(d) Payroll service fees

In 2020, the Group entered into payroll service agreements with SSSI and SPMI for the use of
the payroll system of the Group, The Group charges these parties at agreed service fees for the
one-time and recurring charges incurred by the Group. These agreements are considered renewed
cvery year thereafter and subject 1o mutual amendments or termination by the parties. The
agreement was terminated effective November 2022.

(e) Management fees

Since 2013, the Group had management agreements with related companies with monthly
management fees which are subject 1o change depending upon the extent and volume of services
provided by the Group. The services cover regular consultancy, handling of financial reporting,
persoanel and administration services including payroll and other govermment documentary
requirements. The agreements are considered renewed every year thereafler, unless one (1) party
gives the other a written notice of termination at least three (3) months prior to the expiration
date.

In April 2021, the Parent Company signed an accounting services agreement Bay Philippines
Holdings Corp., an entity under common control, with monthly fee of 855,000 excluding out-of-
pocket expenses. The services cover handling of financial reporting and government
documentary requirememts. The agreement is subject to automatic annual renewal until
terminated by either party at any time by giving not less than 90 days written notice to the other
party. The agreement was terminated last December 6, 2024,
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() Commission

In 2024, the Group also entered into one-time agreement with CLI to assist the latter in the sale
of its improvements in a piece of land at Subic, Zambales with the Company eaming a 3%
commission or P2.1 million.

PART IV - CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
13 - Corporate Governance

Per SEC Memorandum Circular No. 15, Series of 2017 and SEC Memorandum Circular No. 10,
Series of 2019, publicly listed companies such as KPH is required to submit an Integrated Annual
Corporate Governance Report (I-ACGR). The Company e-filed its I-ACGR for the year 2023
on 30 May 2024, There was no Advisement Report in 2023 since there was no material
transaction reaching the 10%-of-total-assets limit.

PART V - EXHIBITS AND SCHEDULES
14 - Exhibits and Reports on SEC Form 17-C
{a) Exhibits - See accompanying Index to Exhibits
(b) Reports on SEC Form 17-C — The Company has filed all reports on Form 17-C (Current

Report) on matters needed in compliance with the SEC’s SRC during the fiscal year 2024
as follows:

29 Jan 2024 | Results of Regular Board of Directors Meeting - 29 January 2024

(AFS) for the year ended 31 December 2023 and release of said AFS
e Approval of the 2023 Annual Report (SEC Form 17-A) and Sustsinability Report
*  Setting of the Annual Stockholders Meeting on June 14, 2024
* _ Re-appointment of External Auditor for 2024

e Appeoval of KPH's 2023 Consolidated and Parent Company Audited Financial Statements

7 March 2024 | Results of Special Board of Dircctors Meetings — 7 March 2024
e Approval of the Sale of Goodsoil Marine Realty Inc.'s Land

3 April 2024 | Results of Special Board of Directoes Mecting — 3 April 2024

10 May 2024 | Results of Regular Board of Directors Mecting - 10 May 2024

o Approval of the 1" Quarter 2024 Financial Results - SEC Form 17Q

e Presentation of Fimal Lists of Candidates for Regular and Independent Directors

s __Approval of the Integrated Annual Corporate Governance Report (I:ACGR) for 2023

*__Rasignation of Kevin Chng Chee Keong and Election of new Disectoe and Chairman

14 Jue 2024 | Results of Regular Board of Directors Meeting - 14 June 2024
* Approval of Directors' Remuneration for 2024
o Declaration of Cash Dividend - declaration of 20% or $0.20 per share cash dividend 10 all

ssockholders of record of the Company as of $ July 2024 to be paid on or before 31 July 2024

14 June 2024 | Resulis of the Annual Stockholders’ Mecting - 14 June 2024
* Appointment of External Auditor, Isla Lipana & Co. (PwC) for the financial year 2024
* Election of Directors for year 2024- 2025
* Approval of the Corporation’s Audited Financial Statements for the year ended
31 December 2023
* Approval of Directors' Remuneration
 Declarstion of Cash Dividends

14 June 2024 | Results of Organizational Meeting = 14 June 2024

* Election of Officers foe the ensuing year 2024- 2025

* Appointment of chairman, members of the various committees and compliance
officer/corporate information officer

13 Aug 2024 | Results of Regular Board of Directors Mecting < 13 Aug 2024
*Approval of the 2nd Quarter 2024 Financial Results (SEC Form 17Q)

12 Nov 2024 | Results of Regular Board of Directors Meeting - 12 November 2024
*Approval of the 3rd Quanter 2024 Financial Results (SEC Form 17Q)
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Upon the written request of the stockholder, the Company undertakes to furnish said stockholder
a copy of SEC Form 17-A free of charge, except for exhibits attached thereto which shall be
charged at cost. Any written request for a copy of SEC Form 17-A shall be addressed as follows:

Keppel Philippines Holdings, Inc.
Unit 3-B Country Space 1 Building
133 Sen. Gil Puyat Avenue, Salcedo Village
Barangay Bel-Air, Makati City 1200

Attn: The Corporate Secretary
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 17 of the Code and Section 141 of the Corporation Code,
the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf b) the undersigned, thereunto

duly authorized, in the City of on

KEPPEL PHILIP S N

[ssuer
i/
Alan I Claveria i . Razon
Presidemt Vnce ident / Treasurer
ap 2 & W8
SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN 10 before me this day of 2025; affiants
exhibiting to me their Tax Identification Numbers (TIN), as follows:
N Tax Identification Numt

Alan |, Claveria
Felicidad V. Razon

Doc No. 379

Page No.
Book No
Series of 2025,
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 17 of the Code and Section 141 of the Corporation Code,
the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto
duly authorized, in the City of on .

1IPPIN N IN
Issuer

By: g! :
Mavria Melva. E, Valdez

Corporate Secretary

) .)"‘) m‘)

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before me this v day of 2025; affiants
exhibiting to me their Tax Identification Numbers (TIN), as follows:

Names ; ificat]

Maria Melva E. Valdez _

Doc No. _ 286 ﬁ e

Page No.
: C.CARLOS
Book No :
Series of 2025, Nty b Pasia oy Aoposiment N, 24 (2004.205)
VAL UNTIL 31 DECEMBER 2025
178 Floor, Robinsons Equitsble Towsr No. 4 ADB Avencs
cer. P. Poveda Oeive Ortiges Certer, Pasig Cty

18P No 42082014 Jausry 2025 Terac
PTR No. 08383111 ancy 2025 ey

NWMWungg
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Keppel Philippines Holdings, Inc.
Sustainability Report 2024

Contextual Information

Disclosure ‘Amount

Name of Organization Keppel Philippines Holdings, Inc.

Location of Headguarters Unit 3-B Country Space 1 Bulldings, 133 Sen, Gil Puyat
Avenue, Salcedo Village, Makati City, Philippines

Location of Operations Makati City and Province of Batangas

Report Boundary: Legal entities This report cavers Keppel Philippines Holdings, Inc. (KPHI),
(e.g. subsidiaries) included in this the helding company, and its subsidiaries, namely, KPSI
report Property, Inc., Goodwealth Realty Development, Inc. and
Goodsoil Marine Realty, Inc.

Business Model, including Primary | Investment holdings and real estate

Activities, Brands, and Services

| Reporting Period 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024
Highest Ranking Person responsible | Alan I Claveria, President
for this report
Materiality Process

Explain how you applied the materiality principle (or the materiality process) in identifying your
material topics.

The assessment of material topics was guided by the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) principles for
defining report content in terms of significant economic, environmental, and social impacts and
information that would substantively influence the assessments and decisions of our stakeholders,
The AccountAbility AA100 Standard S-part materiality test was also used to identify material issues
relevant to (1) direct short-term financial performance, (2) the company's abllity to deliver on its
strategies and policies, (3) best practice norms exhibited by peers in the industry, (4) stakeholder
behavior and concerns, and (5) regulatory or non-regulatory societal norms.

Sustainability Framework

The organization has adopted the Sustainability Framework of the Keppel Group with its three strategic
theusts of (1) Responsible Business; (2) People and Community; and (3) Environmental Stewardship.

Pecple are the most important
assat in the organization. We are
committed to growing and
nurturing our talent pool 1o ensure
that cur employees reach their full
potential in a safe, secure and
healthy work environment.

We also take cognizance of the
symbiotic relationship of cur
business and the community where v .
we operate. We shall initiate, - >k
partnerships with our stakeholders R e

a5 we both work towards Y
sustainable and inclusive growth, -




ECONOMIC

Economic Performance
Direct Economic Volue Generoted and Distributed

Disclosure Amount Units
(In PhP Mn)
Direct economic value generated {revenue) 1,374.53 PhpP
Direct economic value distributed:
3. Operating costs 39.35 PhP
b. Employee wages and benefits 768 PhP
<. Payments to suppliers, other opéerating costs 1.08 PhP
d. Dividends given to stockholders 638.42 PhP
€. Taxes given to government 208.21 PhP
What is the impact and where does it Which stakeholders are Management Approach
occur? What is the organization's affected? ' 4
involvement in the impact?
In 2024, the economic value generated by | The employees, government | The organization ensures
the organization was distributed to its and suppliers are impacted that all transactions are
stakeholders with a 1:0.65 economic value | by the economic properly recorded, audited
generation to distribution ratio, 2.86% of | performance of the and reported based on
the economic value generated was used organization. accounting policies and
to cover operating cost, 0.56% was pald as disclosures. Aside from the
employees wages and benefits, 46.45% third line of defense
was redistributed to stockholders as cash provided by the Internal
dividends and 15.15% went back to the Auditor as per Internal Audit
government as taxes and fees. This Standards and the oversight
redistribution of economic value by the by the Audit, Risk and
organization enables its stakeholders to Compliance Committee, an
further regenerate and redistribute the independent external
economic value in the economic system, auditor periodically
examines the finandal
statements,
What are the Risk/s identified? Which stakeholders are Management Approach
affected? :
The organization’s revenue is derived The employees, It is the policy of the
mostly from rental income from the lease | stockholders and the organization to ensure that
of its real estate properties, interest government stakeholders every related party
income from short-term loans extended are affected by the manner | transaction is made at arm'’s
to other parties and from placement in T- | by which related party length, the terms are fair,
bills and time deposits. transactions are being and they will inure to the
conducted by the best interest of the
Some of these transactions are made with | organizations and how the | company, its shareholders,
related parties to maximize the synergy same are managed and subsidiaries and affiliates
within the group. The risk of contractual comply with regulatory and that they are compliant
rates below market with related partles requirements. with legal and regulatory
and corruption exists during the requirements,
generation and distribution of these
economic values, The Keppel Group of
Companies has set out anti-




bribery compliance
framework, management
systems and standards that
the organization must
adhere 10 in order 10 assure
the ethical conduct of its
business. Whistle-blower
and Insider Trading policies
are also in place. Employees
also undergo periodic anti-
bribery and corruption
training to underscore the
organization's commitment
to a zero-tolerance
approach towards bribery.

affected?
With business going back to pre-pandemic | The employees,
level, the businesses of the tenants are stockholders and the The Management shall
slowly picking up and rates can be government stakeholders continue to maximize the
progressively increased or marked to are impacted as the lease of its properties and to
prevailing market rate. revenue sources maintain a healthy mix of
determine the revenue source between
Third party tenants that are not related to | organization's ability to related and non-related
the Xeppel Group still holds an important | generate and distribute parties.
role in the revenue mix of the economic value.
organization,

The organization shall develop its governance platform, strategies, risk management framework and
method of measuring dimate-related targets in the succeeding reporting cycle. It shall assess the risks,
mitigation strategies and also business opportunities associated with climate change from the Board to
the employee ranks. Considering the nature of its business as a holding company with a relatively small
emironmental footprint and a relatively small number of employees, the organization shall Identify
climate-related initiatives in the community where it operates with whom it can have a meaningful
partnership in climate-related initiatives.

Governance Strategy Risk Management Mwlaand‘hr!m'
Please refer to the above stated
inputs.

Recommended Disclosures

Please refer to the above stated
Inputs.

Amount Units
Percentage of procurement budget used for significant locations of 100 %
operations that is spent on local suppliers




What s the Impact and where does it Which stakeholders are ‘Management Approach

occur? What Is the organization’s affected?

involvement in the impact?

As a rule, the organization taps the local The sefection and awarding | Materials and equipment

supply chain, whenever applicable, forits | process entails interaction are procured from

operating requirements, between the suppliers and responsible and reputable

the employees. vendors. The organization

enforces and applies
diligence, vetting and
accreditation process for its
suppliers.

Although KPHI's procurement expenditure | The choice of supplier and The Company implements

is relatively small, there remains the risk the conduct of the the Keppel Group's

of awarding contracts to suppliers who transaction between the “Supplier Code of Conduct™

may not meet industry standards or may supplier’s representative which sets out the standard

be non-compliant to government and our employees will of conduct that the suppléer

regulations, which may negatively impact | potentially have an impact must adhere to,

on the reputation of the organization. to the sustainability of our

Aside from not getting the best value for | transactions with the Part of the requirement for

money, the risk of corruption exists in parties. supplier accreditation is for

each procurement transaction. the vendor to endorse

Moreover, the company's
brand and reputation will be
at stake should there be
impropriety in the
procurement process and
violations of government
regulations by the vendor.

Keppel's supplier code of
conduct.

What are the Opportunity/ies Identified?

affected?

The supplies needed by the organization
can be sourced from Micro, Smakl and
Medium Enterprises (MSME).

MSMEs and their
employees as well as the
government are
stakeholders in the supply
chain,

With MSMEs accounting for
about 99% of business
establishments in the
Philippines, KPHI continues
to prioritize local supphiers
for Its requirement so that
there will be indusive
economic growth and also
for economic value to be
distributed back to this
growing but vulnerable
economic sector.




Anti-corruption

nti-corruption Policies and Pr
Disclosure Quantity Units
Percentage of employees to whom the organization’s anti- 100 %
corruption policies and procedures have been communicated to
Percentage of business partners to whom the organization’s anti- 100 %
corruption policies and procedures have been communicated to
Percentage of directors and management that have received 100 %
anti-corruption training
Percentage of employees that have received anti-corruption 100 EY
tralning
What is the impact and where does it Which stakeholders are ‘Management Approach
occur? What is the organization’s affected? -
involvement in the impact?
The Company considers integrity and Any violation of anti-bribery | The Company will continue
accountability as part of its core values. policy will impact on the with its strategy to prevent

Everyone is to act ethically and honestly,

entire Company and its

corruption, fraud, and other

as everyone in the organization is stakeholders. unethical or lllegal conduct by

responsible to all of its stakeholders. providing regular training on
the subject to its employees

The Keppel Group's anti-bribery and and implementing related

corruption policies and procedures are policies to safeguard the

communicated at the Board level, where organization and its

the tone from the top is set, and at the stockholders’ interest against

employee level, where the front liners corporate improprieties.

have operational interactions and

transactions with outside parties. Itis

imperative that af stakeholders

understand the importance of conducting

corruption-free transactions and in

compliance with Keppel's Code of

Conduct.

The organization shall ensure that these Aside from the suppliers, There are no reported

anti-corruption policies and procedures their acts and omissions will | incidents of corruption during

are communicated to its suppliers to avold | also impact and Imperil the | the reporting period. All

exposing the Company’s business, Company's abdlity to suppliers are informed of,

resources and reputation at risk, operate Its business. required to abide by and to
dedare acceptance of and

adherence to Keppel's
Supplier Code of Conduct.




What are the Opportunity/ies identified? | Which stakeholders are Management Approach
The anti-bribery and corruption program | The suppliers and Management will continue
of the Company will enable it to secure employees in the with the training of its
best value for its procurement procurement process are employees on policies with
requirements, key players in the anti- regards 1o anti-bribery and
bribery and corruption corruption and for vendors'
program, adherence 10 these policies.
Ingidents of G ’
Disclosure Quantity Units
Number of incidents in which directors were removed or 0 o
disciplined for corruption
Number of incidents in which employees were dismissed or 0 #
disciplined for corruption
Number of incidents when contracts with business partners 0 #
were terminated due to incidents of corruption
Number of incidents in which directors were removed or 0 (]
disciplined for corruption
What is the impact and where doesit | Which stakehoiders are Management Approach
occur? What is the organization’s ‘affected? AT Ot
involvement in the impact?
There are no reported incidents of All stakeholders (employees, | The Company has an annual
corruption from the Board to the customers, governments, anti-corruption awareness
operations level. The organization has shareholders and investors, | and training. A Whistle
zero tolerance for fraud, bribery, suppliers and local Blower policy is also in place.
corruption and violation of laws and communities) will be
regulations, affected by the incidence
(and even just the
perception) of corruption in
the organization.
affected? ,
The risk of corruption Is present whenever | Same as above. Same as above.
the members of the organization interacts
with its stakeholders.
affected? ‘
Professionalism, Integrity and good Same as abm The same level of
governance guide the organization’s professionalism and ethical
business philosophy. tenets shall be present in all
instances of the organization's
interaction with its
stakeholders.




ENVIRONMENT

Resource Management

Disclosure Quantity Units
Energy consumption (renewable sources) 0 G)
Energy consumption (gasoline) 0 GJ
Energy consumption (LPG) 0 G)
Energy consumption (diesel) 0 GJ
Energy consumption (electricity) 26,021 kKWh

R : : :

Disclosure Quantity Units
Energy reduction (gasoline) 0 GJ
Energy reduction (LPG) 0 GJ
Energy reduction (diesel) 0 GJ
Energy reduction (electricity) 0 kWh
Energy reduction (gasoline) 0 kWh
What is the Impact and where does it Which stakeholders are Management Approach
occur? What ks the organization’s affected?
involverment In the impact?

As the organization only consumes energy | N.A, Although not a material topic,

supplied from the grid through the private the Management continues

electricity distribution utility company, with its practice of energy

Meralco, for its small office operation, its consesrvation by switching off

energy consumption does not have a the office aircon during lunch

material impact to the organization and its break and turning off the lights

stakeholders, in areas that are not used.

What are the Risk/s Identified? Which stakeholders are Management Approach
affected?

N.A. N.A NA

What are the Opportunity/ies identified? | Which stakeholders are Management Approach
affected?

N.A, NA NA

Wi g thin 1 o

Disclosure Quantity | Units
Water withdrawal 125 Cubic meters
Water consumption 125 Cubic meters
Water recyded and reused 0 Cubic meters




What Is the Impact and where does it Which stakeholders are ‘Management Approach
occur? What is the organization's ‘affected?
involvement in the impact?
As the organization only consumes water | NA, Although not a material topic,
drawn from the water concessionaire, the Management constantly
Manila Water Co, inc.,, for use by its reminds its employees to
employees at the office, water conserve water with simple
consumption does not have a material acts such as turning off the
Impact to the organization and its faucet when not in use.
stakeholders.
What are the Risk/s identified? Which stakeholders are Management Approach
” | n e a3 - L
N.A. NA. N.A,
What are the Opportunity/fies identified? | Which stakeholders are Management Approach
affected? %
N.A N.A NA
Material by it o
Disclosure Quantity | Units
Materials used by welght or volume
* renewable 0 kg/ers
* non-renewable 0 kg/lters
Percentage of recyclable input materials used to manufacture the 0 %
| organization's primary products and services
What Is the impact and where does it Which stakeholders are Management Approach
occur? What is the organization’s affected?
involvement in the impact?
Due to the nature of the business as a NA. NA
holding company, the Company does not
have production input materials for it to
provide 10 generate revenue,
NA NA N.A
What are the Opportunity/ies identified? | Which stakeholders are Managemant Approach
affected?
NA. N.A NA.




Units

Operational sites owned, leased, managed in, or adjacent to,
protected areas and areas of high biodiversity value outside
protected areas

An assodiate owned
and leased its coastal
property along
Batangas Bay in the
Municipality of
Bauan, Province of
Batangas until its sale
in March 2024,

Habitats protected or restored

NA.

ha

IUEN®7 Red Ust spedies and national conservation list species
with habitats in areas affected by operations

NA.
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International Union for Conservation of Nature

What is the impact and where does it
occur? What is the organization’s
Iinvolvement in the impact?

Which stakeholders are
affected?

The organization leased property(ies) to
other parties and has no control over the
operations of its lessee. Nonetheless, the
tenant of the Batangas property is a
member of the Batangas Coastal
Resources Foundation, Inc. (BCRMF) that
monitors and protects the local coastal
environment of Batangas Bay together
with the local Philippine Coast Guard
(PCG). The lessee is also being regulated
and menitored by the Department of
Environment and Natural Resources-
Environmental Management Bureau
(DENR-EMB) Region IV-A. There has been
no reported violations or negative findings
of its operations. The lessee has sold its
assets and the lessor has sold the land to
another party in March 2024,

NA NA.

What are the Risk/s Identified?

N.A.

NA

N.A.

NA

Environmental impact management
A Emisal
GHG

Disclosure

Units

Direct {Scope 1) GHG Emissions

NA

Tonnes CO2e




Energy indirect (Scope 2} GHG Emissions NA. Tonnes CO2e¢
Emissions of ozone-depleting substances (ODS) NA, Tonnes
occur? What Is the organization’s affected? iUl
involvement in the impact?
The nature of the organization's business | NA. NA
3s a holding company does not involve
emissions to the environment.
Nonetheless, it is noted that the operation
of the tenant of its subsidiary is subject to
annual testing and monitoring for air
quality and submissicn of a seml-annual
Compliance Monitoring Report (CPR) to
the DENR-EMB, The lessee has Its Permit
to Operate for its generator sets. There
has been no reported violations or
negative findings of its operations, The
lessee has sold its assets and the lessor
has sold the land to another party in
March 2024.
What are the Risk/s identified? Which stakeholders are Management Approach
affected?
NA NA NA,
: : i > . :
NA NA NA.
Air pollitants
Disclosure Quantity Units
NOx NA. kg
SOx N.A. kg
Persistent organic pollutants (POPs) N.A. kg
Volatde organic compounds (VOCs) NA, kg
Hazardous air pollutants (HAPs) NA, kg
Particulate matter (PM) NA, kg
What is the impact and where does it Which stakeholders are Management Approach
occur? What is the organization’s affected? ‘ STy Y
involvernent in the impact?
Please refer to inputs in the previous NA. NA.
section,
What are the Risk/s Identified? Which stakeholders are Management Approach
affected? :
NA, NA NA.
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What are the Opportunity/ies Identifled? | Which stakeholders are. Management Approach
affected?
NA NA N.A.
and Hazardous Wa
Solid Waste
Disclosure Quantity Units
Total solid waste generated NA kg
Reusable NA g
Recydable N.A kg
Composted NA. @
Incinerated NA. g
Residuals/Landfilled NA. kg
2 What Is the organization’s » " , el 4o
involvement in the impact?
The nature of the organization’s business | N.A, NA.
as a holding company operating from an
office space does not involve material
amount of solid and hazardous wastes.
Nonetheless, it is noted that the tenant of
its subsidiary s subject to the regulations
and monitoring by DENR-EMB. The tenant
submitted Self-Monitoring Report to the
regulatory agency and is compliant in this
regard prior to the sale of its asset to
another party In March 2024,
el
N.A, NA 'N.A.
-‘I","'.l,"? y PSRN
N.A. NA. N.A.
Hazardous Waste
Disclosure Quantity Units
Total weight of hazardous waste generated NA kg
Total weight of hazardous waste transported NA, kg
What Is the impact and where does it Which stakeholders are ‘Management Approach
Involvement in the impact? ' \
Please refer to previous section, N.A NA.
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' affected?
NA. NA. NA. )
NA. NA NA,
Efluents
Disclosure Quantity | Units
Total volume of water discharges NA, Cubic meters
Percent of wastewater recycled NA. %
What is the impact and where does it Which stakeholders are ‘Management Approach
occur? What is the organization's affected? 3. A
involvement in the impact?
The nature of the organization's business | N.A. NA.
a5 3 holding company operating from a
small office space does not generate
substantial amount of effluents.
Nonetheless, it is noted that the tenant of
its subsidiary is subject to the regulations
and monitoring by DENR-EMB. A third
party contractor regularly sampled and
analyzed water discharge from the
property and certified it to be compliant
as per DENR standard prior to the tenant’s
sale of its asset to another party in March
2024.
NA NA. N.A.
What are the Opportunity/ies Identified? | Which stakeholders are Management Approach
affected? p
NA NA, N.A.
Environmental compliance
Non-¢ i with Environmenis nd Requlat
Disclosure Quantity | Units
Total amount of monetary fines for non-compliance with environmental 0 PhP
laws and/or regulations
No. of non-monetary sanctions for non-compliance with environmental 0 i
laws and/or regulations
No. of cases resolved through dispute resolution mechanism 0 (]
What is the impact and where does it Which stakeholders are Management Approach
occur? What is the organization’s affected?
involvement in the impact?




N.A, N.A. N.A
What are the Risk/s identified? Which stakeholders are Management Approach
N.A. N.A, N.A.
N.A NA, NA.

SOCIAL

Employee Management

Employee Hiring and Benefils
Employee dala
Disclosure Quantity Units
Total number of employees 6 ]
3. Number of female employees 4 "
b. Number of male employees 2 n
Attrition rate 0% rate
Ratio of lowest paid employee against minimum wage 1.15:1.00 ratio
Employee benefits
List of Benefits Y/N % of female % of male
employeeswho | employees who
5SS Y 25.00% 0%
PhilHealth Y 25.00% 0%
Pag-1BIG Y 25.00% 0%
Parental leave
*  Maternity leave Y 0% N/A
»  Paternity leave Y N/A 0%
¢ Solo parent leave Y 16.67%
Vacation leave Y 100% 100%
Sick leave Y 100% 100%
Medical benefits (aside from
PhilHeaith) Y 100% 100%
Housing assistance (aside from Pag-1B1G) N N/A N/A
Retirement fund (aside from SSS) Y 0% 0%
Further education support (i.e, Educ, loan) Y S0% 100%
Company stock options N N/A N/A
Telecommuting N N/A N/A
Flexible-working Hours N 100% 100%
{Others)
Medical Reimbursement = 100% 100%
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What is the impact and where does it occur? What is the
organization’s involvement in the impact? '

The organization provides falr employment benefits with
0.56% of the economic value generated during the
reporting period redistributed as employees’ wages and
benefit.

A corporate wellness program continues to be
implemented that includes an annual physical exam for all
employees, a vaccination campaign to employees and
family members and sharing of health alerts.

The Company shall ensure compliance with
labor and employment laws,

it shall continue to monitor the impact and
measure the effectiveness of the corporate
weliness program by reviewing metrics such
as sick leave and medical reimbursements
levels.

It shall continue to have dialogues with its
employees with regards to wages,
performance review and the strategic
direction of the organization. Talent,
performance and training review and
maonitoring are included under the Workday
system for the employees.

What are the Risk/s identified?

The Company’s talent pool includes contingent workers
whose age are the past retirement age. Majority of its
employees now qualifies for early retirement and a number
of the workforce are nearing the age of compulsory
retirement. The Company has noted a short tenure by
Millennials employed in the organization, With this talent
pool characteristic brings with it a "shallow bench” problem
that may lead to disruption In the business operations
should the talents voluntarily or involuntarily discontinue
their employment with the Company,

The Management reviews succession
planning and employee retention strategy.
It has shifted its talent acquisition to target
ex-Keppel employees and/or senior
employees. It shall also consider tapping
the talent pool of other companies under
the Keppel Group.

The Company shall also work towards a
leaner and asset light organization as part of
Keppel's strategy for its Vision 2030,

What are the Opportunity/ies Identified?

S

Other Keppel companies in the Philippines have a large
talent pool that the company can tap to fill In gaps In its
workforce.

Management reaches out to other Keppel
business units for excess personnel in their
manpower resources that can be
transferred or stationed to the company on
2 short-term or permanent basis should the
need arise,

Employee Training and Development

Disclosure Quantity Units

Total training hours provided to employees 185.50 hours
a. Female employees 134,00 hours
b. Male employees 51.50 hours

Average training hours provided to employees 30.92 hours/employee
a, Female employees 33.50 hours/employee
b. Male employees 25.75 hours/employee
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What is the impact and where does it occur? What Is the
organization’s involvement in the impact?

The Company believes that people are one of the key
drivers to the sustainability of the business. The
organization continues to invest in training and
development programs for its employees and remains
committed to nurturing an efficient, well-trained and well-
informed team.

Employees undergo annual e-training on anti-Bribery and
other Keppel Group policies. They are also required to
provide an annual dedaration of conflict of interest.

The Company is committed to growing and
nurturing its talent pool to ensure that
employees reach their full potential by
improving their competency through
continuous training and development in
their respective field.

The Management continues to identify the
training needs of its emplayees vis-a-vis the
strategic direction of the Company and to
provide the necessary programs to fill in
those training gaps so as 1o ensure that our
employees also grow together with the
business. The Company was able to achieve
an average of 30.92 training hours per

employee during the period.
A lack of awareness and inadequate training may The Management provides courses and
potentially expose the organization to financial reporting information on the latest regulatory

risk and occupational health and safety risk.

developments, industry standards and
practices with regular updates from its
external auditors and legal counsels to
ensure propar recognition, treatment,
recording and disclosure of financial
transactions in compliance with the
regulatory environment.

The Company shares occupational health
and safety procedures that is relevant to
the office environment with regular safety
alerts and bulleting posted on the office
bulletin board and shared through e-mail or
WhatsApp.

It shall continue to identify workplace
hazards and risks with constant dialogues
with and reminders for the employees.

The employees have designated key roles in
case of an emergency in the office building.
The office takes part in the scheduled
earthquake, fire and evacuation drills
conducted by the building administration in
partnership with the Makati Gty police and
fire departments,

What are the Opportunity/ies Identified?

Online training presents benefits to companies as it
provides easy access to a wide-array of subject matter
experts at reduced cost. There is also better employee

The Company has continued with online
learning as the preferred and safest mode
of training for the organization,
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productivity as they need not leave the office and use up
time traveling to the training venue,

Labor-Management Relatigns

Disclosure

Quantity

% of employees covered with Collective Bargaining
gfeements

Number of consultations conducted with employees
concerning employee-related policies

What is the impact and where does it occur? What s the
organization’s involvement in the impact?

This topke is not considered material due to the size of the
workforce and the absence of a union in the organization.
Nonetheless, it Is noted that the Management promates
open dialogue and clear communication with its employees
and is able to interact with the workforce in an informal
manner to discuss company policles and procedures,
operational concerns and action items.

N.A

mmmw:mnm»

N.A

What are the Opportunity/ies Identified?

NA

er n n

Disclosure

Quantity

‘Units

% of female workers in the workforce

66.67%

%

% of male workers in the workforce

33.33%

%

Number of employees from indigenous communities
and/or vulnerable sector *

1

* Vuinerable sector includes, elderly, persons with disabilities, vwinerable women, refugees, migrants,
internally disploced persons, people living with HIV and other diseases, solo porents, and the poor or

the base of the pyramid (BOP; Class D and ).

What is the impact and where does it occur? What is the
organization’s involvement in the impact?

Our employment statistic shows gender diversity with
higher representation of women in the workforce. No
Incidence of discrimination has been reported during the
reporting period.

Employees are pravided with an equal opportunity for
training and development for them to grow to their full
potential. Promotion, recognition and compensation and
other conditions of employment are based on merits.

The organization’s hiring policies ensure

equal employment opportunities for all
with due consideration to diversity and

Inclusion.

The company also abides by the Keppel
Group's Corporate Statement on Human
Rights, The statement can be accessed at

this lnic:

16




<https://www. kepcorp.com/en/file/sustain
ability/our-focus-areas/keppel-group-
corporate-statement-on-human-rights. pdf>

What are the Risk/s Identified?

Non-compliance with laws and regulations will not only
have a significant financial impact but can also potentially
damage the reputation of the organization,

The organization closely monitors
developments in the local law and
regulations to ensure that its business and
operations are fully compliant.

What are the Opportunity/les Identified?

Diversity in the workplace creates a creative and productive
environment.

The organization continues to encourage
diversity in its ranks and provide equal

opportunity in its hiring process.
| i Human his
Occupational Health and Safety

Disclosure Quantity Units
Safe Man-Hours 13,807 Man-hours
No. of work-related injuries 0 H]

No. of work-related fatalities 0 o

No. of work-related Hll-health 0 L

No. of safety drills 0 B

mbmmmmmumvmam
Wstwdmnlnmw

The organization recorded 13,807 safe man-hours without
lost time incident during the reporting period. There were
no recorded incidents or injuries at the workplace.

The company will oon(inue 10 nurture an
Incident-free workplace where safety is
everyone’s responsibility.

Wihat are the Risk/s Identified?

AREEN T -.:~Ay‘-:_ o ‘_‘(‘f‘.v,'-__ -y

-l

A work environment that is unsafe and unhealthy will
unduly expose employees to injuries or illnesses that can
result to medical cost, absenteeism, lower productivity and
quality of service and low morale.

The organization abides by Keppel's S key
safety principles: (1) Every incident is
preventable. (2) Health, Safety &
Environment (HSE) is an integral part of our
business. (3) HSE is a line responsibility. (4)
Everyone is empowered to stop any unsafe
work, (5) A strong safety culture is achieved
through tearmmwork.

-~

Although most of the work is done while sitting on a chalr,
there are still hazards that pose danger to one’s life and
limb in the office with many of these injuries preventable,

The organization shall continue with its
safety information campaign that identifies
hazards present in the office environment.
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f n ight

Disclosure

Quantity Units

forced or child labor

No. of legal actions or employees’ grievances involving 0 n

Do you have policies that explicitly disallows violations of labor Laws and human rights (e.g. harassment,

bullying) in the workplace? Yes.

What is the organization’s involvement in the
impact? e

Topic Y/N | If Yes, cite reference in the company
policy .

Forced Labor Y Keppel Group's Corporate Statement on Human
Rights, The statement can be accessed at this link:
<https://www.kepcorp.com/en/file/sustainability/
our-focus-areas/keppel-group-corporate-
statement-on-human-rights pdf>

Child Labor Y As above

Human Rights Y As above

What is the impact and where does it occur?

. = i I .
y A. v

There Is no forced or child kabor or any human

The Company shall continue to provide a

rights violations in the organization. harmonious and ethical work environment that is
conducive to personal and professional growth,
What are the Risk/s Identified?

Human rights violations and infraction of labor
laws have grave legal consequences and may cause
irreparable damage to the company’s brand and
reputation.

All directors and employees as well as the
organization's third party associates shall abide with
Keppel's Code of Conduct and uphold Keppel's
Statements on Human Rights,

What are the Opportunity/ies identified?

e

The organization shall continue to guard against
labor and human rights violation in the workplace.

Defined labor and human rights standards to which
all employees are entitled will underscore the
company's commitment towards a fair and just
workplace.

Supply Chain Managemen

Do you have a supplier accreditation policy? If yes, please attach the policy or link to the policy:

The organization is using vendors that have already been accredited by related party(ies). In this regard,
the Company has formally adapted these policies and procedures and requires new suppliers and
contractors to go through the formal process of assessment and accreditation of suppliers as well as an

evaluation of supplier performance.

Do you consider the following sustainablility topics when accrediting suppliers?

The following topics shall be taken into consideration, where applicable, when accrediting supplier,




Topic

Y/N

If Yes, cite reference in the supplier policy

Environmental performance

Please refer to response in the previous question.

Forced Labor

Child Labor

Human Rights

Bribery and corruption

organization’s involvement In the impact?

What is the impact and where does it occur? What is the

reporting period,

A formal supplier accreditation policy and procedure has
been implemented in the organization during the previous

The supplier accreditation policy shall guide
the Company in the selection of suppliers of
goods and services maving forward,

What are the Risk/s Identified?

Unqualified or dublous suppliers and contractors may be
awarded supply contracts and deliver goods and services
with poor quality resulting to costly rework, damage or

The company has a formal supplier
accreditation policy and supplier
performance evaluation in place,

delay to the business operations,
The company evaluates and accredits suppliers based on Same as above,
the policy.
Relationship with Community
Significant Impacts on Local Communities
Operations with Location Vulnerable | Does the Collectiveor | Mitigating
significant (positive or groups (if nnkuhr individual rights ,momm(lf
negative) impacts on applicable) | operation that have b«n mnd_vn) or
(exclude CSR projects; on indigenous | or particular Nt measures.
this has to be business people (Y/N)? | concern forthe | (if positive)
Office space Makati City NA. N None NA
Real estate Bauan, NA N None NA.
Batangas*®*
Real estate Batangas City N.A. N None NA.

*  Vulneroble sector includes chifdren and youth, elderly, persons with disabilities, vuinerable women,
refugees, migrants, internally disploced persons, people living with HIV and other diseases, solo

parents, ond the poor or the bose of the pyramid (BOP; Class D and E)

** Sold in March 2024

For operations that are affecting IPs, indicate the total number of Free and Prior Informed Consent
(FPIC) undergoing consultations and Certification Preconditions (CPs) secured and still operational and
provide a copy or link to the certificates If available: N.A

Certificates Quantity Units
FPIC process is still undergoing 0 #
CP secured 0 ¥
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organization’s involvement in the impact?

What is the impact and where does it occur? What is the | Management Approach
organization’s involvement in the impact? ¢
NA NA
What are the Risk/s identified? Management Approach
NA ﬂA.
N.A. NA.
u r Management
Customer Sqtisfoction
Disclosure Score Did a third party _conduct the
customer satisfaction study (Y/N)?
Customer satisfaction The organization has No
not yet conducted a
customer satisfaction
survey.
What Is the impact and where does it occur? What ks the Mmmlw

The organization leases office space and real estate to other
Keppel companies and to external parties. It Is responsible
for managing the properties and making sure that the
tenants are able to enjoy the use of the leased premises.

Interactions with tenant will éontlm;e on a
regular basis and shall be conducted in a
professional manner.

The Management shall continue to scope
trends and issues in the real estate market
to remain competitive and updated,

maumWsw

A customer who is not happy with the organization's
services may being its business elsewhere leading to loss of
revenue due to tenant attrition.

As property owner and lessor, the
organization continues to engage with its
tenant to find out any concerns relating to
the leased premises <o as to keep these
tenants satisfied and encourage them to
renew their contracts and go for long-term
leases,

The Company continues to engage with its
tenants to determine their concerns during
the pandemic period which resulted to the
extension of the lease rebates during the
year.

What are the Opportunity/ies identified?

Management Approach

The organization will be in 2 better position to understand
the expectations and perceptions of its clientele with the
planned customer survey,

The Management will draw up the tenant
retention plan based on the results and
takeaways from the survey,




Health and Sofety

Disclosure Quantity Units
No. of substantiated complaints on product or 0 "
service health and safety*

No. of complaints addressed N.A. #

*Substontioted comploints include compiaints from customers that went through the organizotion’s
formal communication channels and grievonce mechanisms as well as comploints thot were lodged to

ond acted upon by government ogencies.

What is the impact and where does it occur? What is the
organization’s involvement in the impact? '

There has been no complaints about the company's
services or on matters relating to health and safety in the
workplace. The organization is committed 1o provide an
incident-free workplace and to prevent injury and ill health
to our stakeholders.

The organization shall conduct its business
in 3 manner that values and protects the
safety of its employees, other people who
are involved in Its operations, customers
and the public. It shall strive to prevent all
accidents, Injurles and occupational
ilinesses through safety information

lead to incidence of injury and ill health to the employees
and other stakeholders.

campaigns.
What are the Risk/s Identified? Management Approach
The lack of a safety and health policies and measures may The organization has adopu.dlnnd

formalized the safety and health policies of
the Keppel Group In its workplace to
underscore its commitment of ensuring an
Intident-free workplace and to prevent
injury and ill bealth to its stakeholders.

What are the Opportunity/ies identified?

The formal adoption of heaith, safety and customer
relations policies and program for a good customer
experience will benefit of the stakeholders and ensure
repeat transactions from happy customers and support
from employees working in a safe and healthy
environment.

Same as above,

Marketing and labeling

Disclosure

Quantity

Units

No. of substantiated complaints on marketing and labeling*

0

No. of complaints addressed

NA,

* Substontiated compioints include complaints from customers that went through the organization’s
formal communicotion channels ond grievance mechanisms as well as complaints that were lodged to

and acted upon by government agencies.

What Is the impact and where does it occur? What Is the
organization’s involvement in the impact?
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Due to the nature of the business, marketing and labeling
are not considered as material topics. Nonetheless, it
should be noted that the organization s using the Keppel
brand that is subject to trademark and intellectual property
rights,

NA,

What are the Risk/s Identified?

N.A,

What are the Opportunity/ies Identified?

N.A,

Disclosure

Quantity Units

No. of substantiated complaints on customer privacy®

0 #

No. of complaints addressed

0 k3

No. of customers, users and account holders whose
information is used for secondary purposes

0 =

* Substantioted comploints include complaints from customers that went through the organization’s
formol communication channels and grievance mechonisms as well as complaints that were lodged to

and acted upon by government agencles.

What is the impact and where does it occur? What Is the
organization’s involvement in the impact?

The organization transacts with corporate legal entitles and
indivicuals for its investment and real estate transactions
that require individuals to provide personal data,

The organization shall abide by the Data
Privacy Act of 2012 (R.A. 10173) and require
its employees to undergo training to
familiarize themselves with the regutations
and the need to protect personal data
provided by customers and other

What are the Risk/s Identified?

stakeholders,

~

Fallure to protect the rights of individuals and exercise the
obligations of organizations with respect to the collection,
storage, use, disclosure, retention, and disposal of personal
data may potentially lead to complaints from data subjects,
Investigations by the National Privacy Commission (NPC)
and imposition of penalty thereby also putting the
reputation of the organization at risk.

In compliance with the NPC directive under
R.A. 10173, the organization shall draw up a
Privacy Management Program and Privacy
Manual during the next reporting period.

What are the Opportunity/ies identified?

The proposed Privacy Management Program will lead to
better ilentification of privacy and data protection risks
and controls throughout the data lifecyde.

The organization shall conduct a privacy risk
assessment and provide recommendations
on its existing organizational, physical,
technical as well as legal measures for data
privacy vis-a-vis the requirements of the
Data Privacy Act, its Implementing Rules
and Regulations and related
memorandums.
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Data Security

Disclosure Quantity Units
No. of data breaches, including leaks, thefts and losses of 0 #
data

tion’s , IMMI

Information technology is a tool used in every aspect of
business operations. Aside from bringing value to the
organization, it also brings with it potential risks and
security threats that need to be adequately mitigated and
properly addressed. Business data captured and stored in

The organization is guided by the Keppel
Group's "End User Computing Policy” that
promotes responsible use of computing
resources and specifies the appropriate and
consistent levels of security controls across

the system are vulnerable to data breach, hacks, theft and | Its computing environment.
losses in the absence of appropriate levels of security

controls.

What are the Risk/s identified? Management Approach

Data-breach risk, data management and data privacy risk
are present whenever information technology is used in the
organization.

The company shall continue 10 provide
annual training and periodic reminders on
data security, data management and data
privacy and to conduct periodic technology
and data risk assessment.

The organization will continue to identify weak links in the
system and to be vigilant in safeguarding its data.

Due to its small organization, the company
will tap and leverage on the expertise of IT
experts within the Keppel Group.

UN SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT GOALS

Product or Service Contributions to UN SDGs

Key products and services and its contribution to sustainable development.

As a holding company, it generates economic value from the lease of its real estate properties and
Interest income from loans extended to other parties. How these activities contribute to selected UN
Sustainable Goals are shown in the table below,

Strategk Material S00s Approach Societal Valoe / | Potential Management
Thrust Issues Contridution 1o | Negative Approach to
UN $0Gs Impact of Negative
Contribution Imgact
Seataining Corporate Professicnalism, | The value The risk of The
Growth Goverrance integrity and penerated by corruption & QOGN
£00d povermanie | the operations present has 2er0
sk guide KPHI's aredatrituted | whenever the | tolerance for
Management busicess back as membes of fraud, bobery,
philosophy. employment the corruption and
opportunities, organization violation of
The organization | besiness for Interacts with | laws and
ensures that all sepphers and reguiations.
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traniactions e | taxes for the s Saleguard
fair, generates government. Stakeholders. measures snd
value for its reporting
stakeholders and mechanisms
comphes we in place.
with legal and
KPHI has Asunsale and | 1t shall strictly
achieved 1er0 unheaithy Abide by the
ot ime office Ceppel
Intdents with eavieonment Group's S key
no work-related | may expose safety
Practices, jury or employees 10 | geinciples and
Talernt Hinesses. work and corporate
Macagement heakh statement on
& Human Safetyisone of | hasaeds. human rights.
mghas Keppel's core
values, Owr
polcies snd
procedures are
fooused on
ensering safety
in the entire
crpanization,
Nurturing Community The company Members of The company
Communities | Development remains vuinerable hal seek cut
steadfast in its sectors ren organiations
commitment 10 | the risk of and forge
have inclusive beng partnership
partnership excluded from | with them for
with its growth. communty
stakeholders development
driven by the nravves.
COMMON vision
of a better ide
for ndividuals
and a healthy
emvironment.

Note: The "Governance” part of the Environment, Social and Governance sustainability topics is not
part of this Sustainability Report. It is covered in the Integrated Annual Corporate Governance
ﬂepoﬂ (I-ACGIl) of the Company. The i—ACGR can be accessed at this link:
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FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The management of KEPPEL PHILIPPINES HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES (the
“Company”) is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements
including the schedules therein, for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, in accordance
with the prescribed financial reporting framework indicated therein, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability
to continue as going concern, disclosing, as applicable matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.

The Board of Directors reviews and approves the financial statements including the schedules attached
therein and submits the same to the stockholders or members.

Isla Lipana & Co., the Philippine member firm of PwC, the independent auditor appointed by the
shareholders, has audited the financial statements of the Company in accordance with Philippines
Standards on Auditing, and in its report to the shareholders or members, has expressed its opinion on
the fairness of presentation upon completion of such audit.
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STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSIBILITY
FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The management of KEPPEL PHILIPPINES HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES (the
“Company”) is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements
including the schedules therein, for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, in accordance
with the prescribed financial reporting framework indicated therein, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability
to continue as going concern, disclosing, as applicable matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.

The Board of Directors reviews and approves the financial statements including the schedules attached
therein and submits the same to the stockholders or members.

Isla Lipana & Co., the Philippine member firm of PwC, the independent auditor appointed by the
shareholders, has audited the financial statements of the Company in accordance with Philippines

Standards on Auditing, and in its report to the shareholders or members, has expressed its opinion on
the fairness of presentation upon completion of such audit.

TAN KUANG LIANG
Chairman of the Board

ALAN L. VERIA
President

FELICIDAD V. RAZON
Vice President/Treasurer

Signed this 26th day of February 2025

A member of the Keppel Geoup of Singapore
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Independent Auditor's Report

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Keppel Philippines Holdings, Inc.

Unit 3-8, Country Space 1 Building

133 Sen. Gil Puyat Avenue, Salcedo Village
Barangay Bel-Air, Makati City

Qur Opinion

In our opinicn, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all materal respects,
the consolidated financial position of Keppel Philippines Holdings, Inc. (the *Parent Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together, the “"Group®) as at December 21, 2024 and 2023, and their consolidated financial
performance and their consolidated cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended

December 31, 2024 in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS) Accounting
Standards.

What we have audited
The consolidated financial statements of the Group comprise:

¢ the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2024 and 2023;

* the consolidated statements of income for each of the three years in the perniod ended
December 31, 2024;

* the consolidated statements of total comprehensive income for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2024;

* the consolidated statements of changes in equity for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2024,

¢ the consolidated statements of cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2024; and

* the notes to the consoldated financial statements, comprising material accounting policy information
and other explanatory information.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audits in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing (PSA). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Auda of the
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion,

independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants in
the Philippines (Code of Ethics), together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
consolidated financial statements in the Philippines, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with these requirements and the Code of Ethics.

Isla Lipana & Co., 26th Floor, AIA Tower, 8767 Paseo de Roxas, 1226 Makati City, Philippines
T: +63 (2) 8845 2728, www.pwe.com/ph
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Independent Auditor's Report

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Keppel Philippines Holdings, Inc.

Page 2

Our Audit Approach

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement
in the consolidated financial statements. In particular, we considered where management made subjective
judgments; for example, in respect of significant accounting estimates that involved making assumptions
and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. As in all of our audits, we also addressed the
risk of management override of internal controls, including among other matters, conskieration of whether
there was evidence of bias that represented a risk of material misstatement due to fraud.

We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform sufficient work to enable us to provide an opinion on
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the Group, the
accounting processes and controls, and the industry in which the Group operates.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Independent Auditor's Report

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of

Keppel Philippines Holdings. Inc.
Page 3

The key audit matter identified in our audit pertains to the impairment assessment of the investment in an

associate.

Key Audit Matter

How our Audit Addressed the
Key Audt Matter

Impairment assessment of the
investment in an associate

Impairment assessment of the
investment in an asscciate requires the
Group to make an estimation that can
materially affect the consolidated
financial statements, The investment in
an associate represents 24% of the
Group's consolidated total assets,

Impairment of investrment in an
associate is assessed in accordance
with the guidance set in Philppine
Accounting Standards (PAS) 36,
Impairment of assets.

Refer to Note 6 to the consolidated
financial statements for the disclosures
of the Group's investment in an
associate, Note 21.1 (d) for the
disciosures on critical accounting
estimates and assumptions, and

Note 22 6 for the disclosures on
material accounting policy of the
Group's investment in an associate.

We obtained an understanding of management's impairment
assessment process, including key assumptions used to
determine the recoverable amount of the investment in an
associate, The recoverable amount was based on fair value
less cost of disposal, derived from the Group's ownership
interest in the associate’s net assets, considering the fair
value of its associate’s investment property as determined by
a third-party appraiser.

We agreed the associate’s net assets, primarily investment
property (prime lots), against its audited financial statements
as at the reporting date. The associate's investment property
is carried at cost and classified as investment property
following the requirements of PAS 40,

We reviewed management’s consideration of the fair value of
the associate’s investment in property by agreeing such fair
value to the relevant disclosures in the notes to the
associate’s audited financial statements and third-party
appraiser repont. Our evaluation confirmed that the carrying
value of the investment in an associate does not exceed its
recoverable amount, supporting its full recoverability with no
resulting impaiment.

We coordinated with the component auditor for the associate
and reviewed the component auditor's group reporting
deliverables, including the audited financial statements of the
associate. We also reviewed the audit procedures performed
by the component auditor over the third-party appraisal repon
including the assessment on the appropriateness of the fair
valuation methoedclogy, reasonableness of the estimates and
assumptions used and key inputs on the determination of the
fair value of the investment property and the assessment of
the third-party appraiser's competence, independence and
objectivity.
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Independent Auditor's Report

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Keppel Philippines Holdings, Inc.

Page 4

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information
included in the SEC Form 20-1S (Definitive Information Statement) and SEC Form 17-A or Annual Report,
but do not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor's report thereon. The SEC Form
20-1S (Definitive Information Statement) and SEC Form 17-A or Annual Report are expected to be made
available to us after the date of this aud®or's report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we will not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audits of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information identified above when these become available and, in doing so, consider whether the other
MmemMWMWIWﬂMWMWWM
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

When we read the SEC Form 20-1S (Definitive Information Statement) and SEC Form 17-A or Annual
Report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the
matter to those charged with governance and, if required by Securities Regulation Code 68, to the
Securities and Exchange Commission.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with PFRS Accounting Standards, and for such internal control as

determines i necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
matedial misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group's
ability to continue as a going concerm, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group

of 1o cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor's Report

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Keppel Philippines Holdings, Inc.

Page 5

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

QOur objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with PSA will always detect a material misstatement when # exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to infiuence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with PSA, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audt, We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audtt procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management,

Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence oblained, whether a material uncertainty exists related 10 events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, If we
conciude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required o draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial staterments or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up 1o the date of our
auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audi to obtain sufficient apprepriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the
audit work performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit

opinion.
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Independent Auditor's Report
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of

Keppel Philippines Holdings, Inc.
Page 6

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit,

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevam
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all refationships and other
matiers that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken
1o elminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with govemance, we determine those matters that
were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We descride these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that
a matter should not be communicated in cur report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Imelkda Dela Vega-
Mangundaya.

Isla Lipana & Co.

Deia Vi gundaya
Paftner
CPA Cert. No. 0090670
PTR No. 0024586, issued on January 3, 2025, Makati City
TIN 152-015-124
BIR A.N. 08-000745-047-2024, issued on October 30, 2024; effective unti October 29, 2027
BOA/PRC Reg. No. 0142, effective until November 14, 2025

Makati City
February 26, 2025
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Statements Required by Rule 68
Securities Regulation Code (SRC)

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Keppel Philippines Holdings, Inc.

Unit 3-B, Country Space 1 Buikding

133 Sen. Gil Puyat Avenue, Salcedo Village
Barangay Bel-Air, Makati City

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Keppel Phiippines Holdings, Inc. (the *Parent
Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the ‘Group®) as at and for the year ended December 31, 2024,
on which we have rendered the attached report dated February 26, 2025. The supplementary information
shown in the Reconcilation of the Parent Company's Retained Eamings Available for Dividend Declaration
as at December 31, 2024, Map of Relationships of the Companées within the Group as at
December 31, 2024, and Schedules A, B, C, D, E, F, and G as at December 31, 2024, as additional
components required by the Revised Rule 68 of the SRC, are presented for purposes of filing with the
Securities and Exchange Commission and are not required parts of the basic consolidated financial
statements. Such supplementary information are the responsibility of management and have been
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audt of the basic consolidated financial statements. In
our opinion, the supplementary information have been prepared in accordance with the Revised Rule 68 of
the SRC.

Isla Lipana & Co.

I Dela Vi a

Parther

CPA Cen. No, 0090670

PTR No. 0024586, issued on January 3, 2025, Makati City

TIN 152-015-124

BIR AN. 08-000745-047-2024, issued on October 30, 2024; effective until October 29, 2027
BOA/PRC Reg. No. 0142, effective until November 14, 2025

Makati City
February 26, 2025

Isla Lipana & Co., 29th Floor, AIA Tower, 8767 Paseo de Roxas, 1226 Makati City, Philippines
T: +63 (2) 8845 2728, www.pwe.com/ph
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Statements Required by Rule 68
Securities Regulation Code (SRC)

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Keppel Philippines Holdings, Inc.

Unit 3-B, Country Space 1 Building

133 Sen. Gil Puyat Avenue, Sakedo Village
Barangay Bel-Air, Makati City

We have audited in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing, the consolidated financial
statements of Keppel Philippines Holdings, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the "Group”) as at

Decamber 31, 2024 and 2023 and for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2024,
and have issued our report thereon dated February 26, 2025. Our audits were made for the purpose of
forming an opinion on the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole. The
Supplementary Schedule on Financial Soundness Indicators, including their definitions, formulas,
calculation, and their appropriateness or usefulness to the intended users, are the responsibility of the
Group’s management. These financial soundness indicators are not measures of operating
performance defined by Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS) Accounting Standards. and
may not be comparable to similarly titled measures presented by other companies. This schedule is
presented for the purpose of complying with the Revised Rule 68 of the SRC issued by the Securities
and Exchange Commission, and is not a required part of the basic consolidated financial statements
prepared in accordance with PFRS Accounting Standards. The components of these financial
soundness indicators have been traced to the Group's consolidated financial statements as at
December 31, 2024 and 2023 and for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2024
and no material exceptions were noted.

Isla Lipana & Co.

| a Dela Vi undaya

CPA Cert. No. 0090670

PTR No. 0024586, issued on January 3, 2025, Makati City

TIN 152-015-124

BIR A.N. 08-000745-047-2024, issued on October 30, 2024, effective until October 29, 2027
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Keppel Philippines Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Financial Position

As at December 31, 2024 and 2023
(All amounts in Philippine Peso)

Notes 2024 2023
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 2 1,267,990,082 575,523,245
Receivables, net 3 4649630 3,832,366
Prepayments and other current assets, net “ 1,552 807 773,812
Total current assets 1,274,192,529 580,129,423
Non-current assets
Lease receivables, net of current portion 3 - 25,088,981
Financial asset at fair value through
othar comprehensive income (FVOCI) 5 85,000,000 70,000,000
Investmeant in an asscciate 6 430,469,847 417,612,030
Investment properties, net 7 2,979,782 205,288,439
Property and equipment, net 8 507,210 501,338
Intangible assets, net 9 1,197,528 1,850,725
Total non-current assets 520,154,367 721,241,513
Total assets 1,794 ,346,896 1,301.370,938
Liabilities and equity
Current liabilities
Accrued expenses and other current labilties 10 3,149,306 3,101,837
Advance rental and deposits 7 267,589 405,589
Income tax payable 17 1,585 41131
Total current liabilties 3,418 480 3,548,557
Non-current liabilities
Retirement benefit obligation 12 803,474 B37,483
Advance rental and deposits, net of current portion 7 660,236 628,796
Deferred income tax kabilities 17 12,756,293 1,353,544
Total non-current liabilties 14,220,003 2,819,823
Total liabilities 17,638,483 6,388 380
Equity
Share capital 13 73,173,500 73,173,500
Share premium 73,203,734 73,203,734
Treasury shares 14 (26,004,530) (26,004,530)
Revaluation resarve on financial asset at FVOCI 5 71,719,458 69,422,057
Remeasurement on retirement benefit obligation 12 836,945 1,348,030
Retained i 14 1,351.560,170 773,457 128
Attributable to equity holders of the parent 1,544 489277 964 600,919
Non-centroling interests 222 232219136 330,401,637
Total equity 1,776.708,413 1,295 002,556
Total liabilities and equity 1,794.346,896 1,301,370,936

(The notes on pages 1to 41 are integral part of these consolidated financial statements)



Keppel Philippines Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Income

(Al amounts in Philippine Peso)

For each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2024

Notes 2024 2023 2022
Revenues and income
Gan on sale of investment properties, net 7 1272083759 - -
Interest income 2.1 81444123 32,476,233 16,820,587
Eguity in net earnings of an associate 6 12,857,817 1,608,657 10,005,764
Rental income 7 4611450 12,819,406 11,231,624
Commission income 1" 2,058,000 - -
Management fees 1" 1,361,000 1,416,000 1,581,000
Payroll service fees 1" - - 3,354 824
Other income 236,316 156,889 435 501
Total revenues and income 1,374 852 465 48 477,185 43,469,100
Operating expenses 18 (49.678.376)  (19.079.913)  (29,034,343)
Income before income tax 1,324,974 089 29,397,272 14,434,757
Income tax expense 17 (206,634.214) 134 633 177,014
Net income for the year 1.118,339.875 22,262,639 12.257.743
Attributable to:
Equiy holders of the parent 589,548 646 17,768,305 4,525,592
Non-controlling interests 222 528,790 4,494 334 7,732,151
1,118,339.875 22,262 639 12.257.743
Eamnings per share attributable to
equity holders of the parent 15 10.30 0.31 0.08

(The notes on pages 1to 41 are integral part of these consolidated financial statements)



Keppel Philippines Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Total Comprehensive Income
For each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2024

(All amounts in Philippine Peso)

Notes 2024

2023 2022

Net income for the year 1,118,339 875

22262639 12,257,743

Other comprehensive income (loss)
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:
Unrealized fair value gain on financial asset at
fair value through other comprehensive
income, net 5 2,297 401
Remeasurement loss on retirement benefit

12,000,000 14,000,000

obligation 12 (512,085)  (1,460,335) 1,709,905

S5 1,785,316 10,539665 15705 905

Total comprehensive income for the year 1.120,125,191 32802304 27.967.648
Attributable to:

Equity holders of the parent 581,334,962 28,307,970  20,235497

Non-controlling interests 222 528,790,229 4,494 334 7.732.151

1,120,125,191 32,802,304 27967 648

—————

(The notes on pages 1 to 41 are integral part of these consolidated financial statements)
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Keppel Philippines Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2024
(All amounts in Philippine Peso)

Notes 2024 2023 2022
Cash flows from operating activities
Income before income tax 1,324,974,089 29,387,272 14,434,757
for.
Loss on lease termination 3,18 25717328 - -
Provision for (reversal of) impairment losses, net 4 4,383,769 (418,217) 1,723,738
Depreciation and amortization 89 778,317 787 1% 1,465,903
Ratirement benefit expense 12 291,389 426,588 660,465
Unrealized foreign exchange gain (214,776) . -
Equity in net eamings of an associates 6 (12,857,817) (1,608657)  (10,005,764)
Imerest income 2 (81,444,123) (32,476,233) (16,820,588)
Gain on sale of investment properties, net T (1,272,083,759) . -
Gain on dispasal of proparty and equipment and
in assatls 89 . - 150,741
Operating loss before changes in assets and liabiities (10,457 583) (3,893,128) (8,671.,231)
Changes in operating assets and lablities:
Decrease (increase) inc
Recewvables - 1,081,891 3,221,089
Other curent assets (5,162.764) 480,563 (1.219.091)
Increase (decrease) in:
Accrued expenses and other current liabilties 47 469 374,535 (390,899)
Advance rental and (106.560) 112,758 696,664
Net cash absorbed by opearatons (15,675,438) (1,843,351) (6.351,468)
Intarest recaived from cash and cash equivalents 79,544 968 31,370,857 5.110, am
Contributions 1o the retirement fund 12 (837,483)
Income taxes pakd (206.620.065 217 224
Net cash (used in) from operating activites (143 ,592.019) 22,310,282 (3, ,ggg)
ash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from sale of investment properties, nat 7 1474392416 - -
Purchase of property and equipment 8 (128,962) - (208,250)
Cash dvidends received 6,11 . §,239,859 6985479
Principal coliection of loans to related parties 1 - - 340,000,000
Interest received from loans to a related party - . 11,238 438
Net proceeds from disposal of property and equipment
and intangible assets 89 - - 3,354,564
Loans provided o a related party 11 - - (100
Net i ing activities 1,474 263 424 5,239 858 261,373,231
ash flows from financing activities
Dividends paid to: 14
Non-controlling interests (626,972,730)  (29,307.425) (9,869,809)
Equity holders of the parent (11,448 804) (5,723.302) (5,723,842)
Purchase of treasury shares 14 - . (723,531)
Net cash used in activites (638419,334)  (35030.727)  (16,347,182)
Netincrease (decrease) in cash and cash
equivalents 892,252,071 (7.480585) 241,906,824
Cash and cash equivalents
Al January 1 575,623,245 583,003,831 341,097,007
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash
equivalents 214,776 . -
At December 31 2 1267990092 575,523,245 583 003,831

(The notes on pages 1 to 41 are integral part of these consolidated financial statements)



Keppel Philippines Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

As at December 31, 2024 and 2023

and for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2024
(All amounts are shown in Philippine Peso unless otherwise stated)

1 General information

Keppel Philippines Holdings, Inc, (the “Parent Company”) and its subsidiaries, KPS| Propenty, Inc. (KPSI), and
Goodwealth Realty and Development Corporation (GRDC), including GRDC's subsidiary, Goodsod Marine
Reaity Inc. (GMRI), collectively referred to as the "Group®, were incorporated in the Philippines.

The Parent Company was registered with the Philippine Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) on
July 24, 1975 with registered office address at Unit 3-8, Country Space 1 Buiding, 133 Sen, Gil Puyat
Avenue, Salcedo Village, Barangay Bel-Air, Makati City. The Parent Company Is involved in investment
holding. The subsidiaries are involved in the real estate industry, particularly in the lease of s properties to
affiliates which are incorporated and domicied in the Phiippines.

In 1887, the Parent Company became a publicly-listed entity through intial public offering (IPO) of its shares.
There were no subsequent offerings after the IPO. The Parent Company's shares are publicly traded in the
Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE).

As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, the shareholders are the following:

Percentage of
ownership
Kepwealth, Inc. 53.4%
Keppel Corporation Limited (KCL) 29.5%
Public 17.1%

As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Parent Company’s percentage of ownership in its subsidiaries are as
follows:

Percentage of

ownership
KPS| 100%
GRDC 51%
GMRI 51%

GRDOC is 44%-owned by Keppel Philippines Marine, Inc. Retirement Plan (KPMI Retirement Plan) and 5%-
owned by Seatrium Philippines Marine, Inc. (SPMI) formerly known as Keppel Philippines Marine, Inc. (KPMI)
in 2023 and 2022. GRDC owns 93.8% of GMRI, thus, including the Parent Company's 3.2% separate interest
in GMRI, the Parent Company has 51% effective ownership on GMRI.

The ultimate parent company of the Group is KCL, a company incorporated and domiciled Singapore and

listed in the Singapore Exchange. Effective January 1, 2024, KCL changed its company name to Keppel Ltd,
(KL).

The Parent Company has five (5) regular employees as at December 31, 2024 (2023 - 4). The administrative
functions of the subsidiaries are handled by the Parent Company’s management.

As at December 31, 2024, the Parent Company has 233 (2023 - 237) shareholders (excluding treasury
shares), respectively, owning at least 100 or more shares each.



At a special meeting held by the Board of Directors (BOD) of the Parent Company on February 20, 2025, the
Board of Directors approved the filing of an application by the Parent Company for its Voluntary Delisting from
the PSE in accordance with the Amended Voluntary Delisting Rules of the PSE, the Securities Regulation
Code and its Implementing Rules and Regulations (as amended), and any or all applicable rules related
thereto, subject to (1) the approval of the stockholders of the Parent Company of the Voluntary Delisting, (2)
the completion of the Tender Offer by Kepwealth, Inc. (Kepwealth), the Parent Company’s majority
shareholders; and (3) Kepwealth owning, upon completion of the Tender Offer, and together with its then
existing shareholdings, a total of at least 95% of the issued and outstanding common shares of the Parent
Company or such percentage as the PSE may allow to affect the Voluntary Delisting of the Parent Company.

As stated in the Letter of Intent (Letter) dated February 20, 2025, which the Parent Company received from
Kepwealth of even date, the latter intends to do a Tender Offer at a price of P27.40 per share which is higher
than: (i) the highest valuation of the Parent Company's shares based on the faimess opinion and valuation
report (Report), dated February 13, 2025, prepared by an independent valuation provider in accordance with
applicable Philippine regulations and (i) the Volume Weighted Average Price (VWAP) of the Parent
Company's shares for one year immediately preceding and including the date of the board meeting (which is
also the trading day immediatedy prior to the expected date of posting of the disclosure of the approval by the
Parent Company’s BOD of the Voluntary Delisting on PSE EDGE. The Letter also states that in the event that
the tendered shares are not sufficient to reach the Voluntary Delisting Threshold, the Tender Offer shall
nevertheless be completed with the acquisdtion by Kepwealth from the public of the Parent Company’s shares
not exceeding approximately 7.13% or such percentage as will ensure that the Parent Company remains
compliant with the minimum public ownership requirement of 10%. Kepwealth will launch the Tender Offer as
soon as the relevant corporate approvals on the Voluntary Delisting are obtained by the Parent Company.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been approved and authorized for issuance by the
BOD on February 26, 2025.

2 Cash and cash equivalents
The account as at December 31 consists of:

2024 2023 _
Cash in banks 8,330,073 5,833,504
Cash equivalents 1,250,660.019 569,689,851

1,267,990.092 575,523,245

Cash in banks eam interests at the prevailing bank deposit rates, Cash equivalents are shont-term
investments, which are placed in financial institutions for varying periods with maturities of up to three (3)
months, and earned interest at annual rates that ranged from in 5.75% to 6.125% in 2024

(2023 - 4.375% 10 6.0%).

Interest income earned amounted to P81.4 million in 2024 (2023 - P32.5 million and 2022 - PS.7 million).
Interest recesvable amounted to P4 8 million as at December 31, 2024 (2023 - P2.8 million) (Note 3).

Unrealized foreign exchange gain amounted to P214,776 in 2024 (2023 - nil) presented as part of Other
income in the consolidated statement of income.

(2)



3 Receivables, net
The account as at December 31 consists of

Note 2024 2023

Interest receivable 2 4,649,630 2,750,475
Lease recewvables - 27070872

4,649 630 29,821,347

Less: Non-current portion of lease receivables 25,988,981

4,649,630 3,832,366

In 2023, lease recewvables pertain to lease contracts with SPMI, an external party, Effective March 1, 2023,
SPMi is no longer considered as a related party due to KL's sale of SPMI shares to an external party.

The current portion of lease receivables and others are non-interest bearing and are generally 30 to 60-day
terms. The non-current portion of lease receivables pertains to the difference between straight line method
and contractual annual rents. These amounts are expected to reverse more than one (1) year from the
financial reporting date,

On March 31, 2024, the lease contract of GMRI was terminated following the sale of the land on March 7,
2024 (Note 7), which is the subject of the long-term lease up to July 31, 2043. The termination of the long-
term lease resulted in a derecognition of the non-current lease receivable amounting to P27.0 million and the
related deferred income tax liability amounting to P1.4 milion, thereby recognizing a koss on lease termination
amounting to P25.7 million (Note 16) and is presented as part of Operating expenses.

Interest receivable represents the Group's accrued interest in cash and cash equivalents.

4 Prepayments and other current assets, net
The account as at December 31 consists of;

2024 2023

Creditable withholding tax (CWT) 4,630,408 3.618,534
Input value-added tax (VAT) 2,990,046 -
Prepaid expenses 1,136,458 2131
Deposits 192,340 162,340
Advances o employees 122,684 81,551
Others 59,694 54 348
9,131,668 3,968,904

Allowance for impairment (7.578.861) (3,195,092)
1,552,807 773.812

Movements in the allowance for impairment related to input VAT and CWT for the years ended December 31
are as folows:

L 4 769 156 173,138 19.21 ] 1 )
December 31 4573818 7,568.081 . 3195002 3195092 562358 3021943 1814 30%

The CWT and input VAT were applied against income tax due and VAT payable, respectively, in the related
year recorded.

(3)



Advances to employees are collectible through salary deductions.
Prepaid expenses mainly pertain to repairs, utilities, and insurance.

5 Financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)

This account pertains to proprietary golf club share that provides the Group with opportunities for return of
capital gains. This share does not have fixed maturity or coupon rate and the movement is based on quoted
market prices or executable dealer quotes for identical or similar instruments in inactive markets. There were

no dividends earned during the pericds.

Details of and movements in the account as at and for the years ended December 31 are as follows:

2024 2023
_Original cost 316,004 316,004
Accumulated revaluation
January 1 60,683,996 57,683,996
Unrealized fair value gain 15,000,000 12,000,000
December 31 B84,683,996 69683 9596
85,000,000  70.000,000
Movement in revaluation reserve for the years ended December 31 are as follows:
Note 2024 2023 2022
January 1 69,422,057 57422057 43422057
_Unrealized fair value gain, net of tax 2,297,401 12,000,000  14,000.000
December 31 71719458 68422057 57422057
6 Investment in an associate, at equity
The account as at December 31 consists of:
Note 2024 2023 2022
_Ongnal cost 337,596,800 337,595,800 337,596,800
Accumulated share in net income
At January 1 80,015,230 83646432 80,627,147
Equity in net earnings of associate 12,857,817 1,608,657 10,005,764
Cash dividends received 11 - 5,239.859 6,986,479
At December 31 92873047 80015230 83646432

430,469,847 417,612,030 421,243,232

This account consists of GMRI's 24.95% investment or 17 468,198 shares out of 70,000,000 shares in
Consort Land, Inc. (CLI), a company incorporated in the Philippines. The principal activity of CLI is to engage

in real estate business, except real estate subdivision business.

(4)



Summarized audited financial information of CLI as at and for the years ended December 31 are as follows:

2024 2023

Current assets 137,052,906 57,630,018
Non-current assets 249,392 902 261,295,261
Current kabilties 36,732,659 20,695,558
Non-current liabilities 2,011,810 2082518
_Net assets 347,701,539 296,167.201
Revenues 139,321,688 184,747,215
Income before income tax 52,726,235 8,141.073
Net income and total comprehensive income for the year 51,534,328 6,434 629

There are no significant restrictions on the abiity of the associate to transfer funds to the Group in the form of
cash dividends or to repay loans or advances made by the Group. There are no contingent liabllities relating
1o the Group's investment in an associate.

The Group's share in the net assets of CLI amounted to P85.9 million as at December 31, 2024

(2023 - P73,9 million), The non-current assets of CLI represent investment properties (prime lots) held for
appreciation, which are carried at cost. The fair value of the investment properties is P3.05 bilion as at
December 31, 2024 (2023 - P2.7 billion) based on the latest valuation report of a third-party appraiser.

As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, based on management assessment, there is no resulting impairment on
the Group's investment in an associate in the light that the Group’s share in CLI's net assets after considering
the fair value of CLI's underlying investment property as determined by a third-party appraiser, representing

the recoverable amount, based on fair value less cost to sell, remains higher than the carrying value as at
December 31, 2024 and 2023 (Note 21.1 (d)).

7 Investment properties, net; Leases
Investment properties
Details of and movements in the account as at and for the years ended December 31 are as follows:

Condominium
Land units Total
January 1, 2024
Cost 205,288 439 3,689,178 208,977,617
Disposal (202,308,657) - (202,308,657)
Accumulated depreciation - (3,689 178) (3,689,178)
Net book values 2,979,782 - 2,976,782
Condominium
Land units Total
2023
Cost 205,288,439 3,689,178 208,977,617
Accumulated depreciation - (3,689,178) (3,689,178)
Net book values 205,288,439 - 205,283,439

Investment properties represent the parcels of land situated in Batangas City and condominium units in
Makati City, which are held for lease. Land is held by GMRI and GRDC. Condominium units are held by KPSI.
The remaining investment properties amounting to P2.88 million as at December 31, 2024 represent the cost
of parceis of land suated in Buenafe County Villas, Barangay Balagtas, Batangas City, which are held for
kease by GRDC.

(5



GMRI's BOD, in its meeting held on March 7, 2024, approved the sale of its land with a total area of
approximately 24.9 hectares located in Barangay San Miguel and San Rogue, Bauan, Batangas to a third
party with a carrying amount of P202.3 million. The sale comes after a strategic review of investments and the
oppertunty to sell the land at current market valuation. The sale transaction was negotiated between a willing
buyer and a willing seller and on an “as-is where-is" basis. Total sale proceeds amounted to P1.5 billion and
resulting gain on sale amounted to P1.27 billion, net of commissions to a third-party P22 50 million and real

property taxes amounting to P3.11 million. GMRI also paid income tax due as a result of the sale amounting
to P189.7 million.

Management has assessed whether impairment indicators exist on investment properties with reference to

the fair value of investment properties prepared using the market data approach by third party appraisers as
well as significant changes with respect to asset conditions, intended utilization and performance, industry and
economic trends that may indicate impairment.

Based on the appraisal report from an accredited independent appraiser and after the sale of land the
investment properties have an aggregate fair value of P76.4 million as at December 31, 2024
(2023 - P1.4 bilion).

In assessing the fair value of investment properties, the independent appraiser determined that the highest
and best use of the subject properties are those of industrial uses, commercial and residential properties,
which are aligned with the current use. The market approach was used in determining the fair value which
considers the sales of similar or substitute properties and related market data and establishes a value
estimate by processes involving comparison. The fair value of the investment properties is categorized as
Level 3, which used adjusted inputs for valuation that are uncbservable as at the date of valuation. The inputs
used were price discounts applied to the asking prices of simiar listings and offerings and physical
adjustments (such as location, shape, size and neighborhood) (Note 21.1 (e)).

The fair value of the investment properties is higher than its net book values as at December 31, 2024 and
2023. Further, based on management assessment, no changes indicating impairment with respect to asset
condtion, intended utilization and performance, industry and economic trends. Accordingly, the investment
properties are not considered impaired and assessed as fully recoverable as at December 31, 2024 and 2023,

Group 8s a lessor

GMRI leases out a parcel of land used as a shipyard site in San Miguel, Bauan, Batangas to SPMI. The
agreement is for a period of 50 years beginning August 1, 1993, The annual rental on the leased property is
criginally subject to 5% escalation after every five (5) years. In May 2007, the agreement was amended

ising the annual lease rate and escalation rate to 1.50% escalation after every five (5) years, With the sale
of the land which is the subject of long-term lease in March 2024, the lease rental ceased immediately, and no
more lease rental recognized, thereafter.

In additicn, GMRI, GRDC, and KPS| lease cut its investment properties to third party and related party
customers for periods ranging from one (1) month to three (3) years with option to renew for another one (1)
month to three (3) years with no escalation under such terms and condtions as may be mutually agreed upon
by the parties 1o the contracts.

Rental income attributable to the investment properties for the years ended December 31 consists of the
following:

Note 2024 2023 2022
Related parties 1 420,000 2,280,118 11,131,815
Third parties 4191450 10,539,288 99,809

4611450 12819406 11231624

Rental income from SPMI is no longer considered as a refated party transaction of the Group effective
March 1, 2023 and reported under third parties (Note 11).

The operating expenses directly attributable to the investment properties pertaining to real estate taxes and
insurance amounting to P0.8 million in 2024 (2023 - P3.9 million; 2022 - P4.0 million).

(€)



The cutstanding balance of lease receivables as at December 31, 2023 represent lease differential in the

computation of rent income using straight-line method and contractual rate.
Advance rentals as at December 31 are as follows:

e Note 2024 2023
Third parties 396,508 449,788
Related parties 1 35,000 35,000

431,508 484,788
Less: Current portion 101,390 170,390
Non-current portion 330,118 314,398

Refundable deposits as at December 31 are as follows:

Lt Note 2024 2023
Third parties 496317 549,597
Related panies 11 - -

496,317 549,597
Less: Current portion 166,199 235199
Non-current poetion 330,118 314,398

Future minimum rental receivables under non-cancellable operating lease agreements as at

December 31, 2023 are as follows:

Amount
Within one (1) year 12,174,922
After one (1) year but not more than five (5) years 47,035,406
More than five (5) years 166,670,561

225 881,889
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8 Property and equipment, net

Details of and movements in the account as at and for the years ended December 31 are as foliows:

Office
machine,
Condominium furniture  Transportation
Note units ___ and fidtures equipment Total
2024
Cost
January 1 5,397,020 1,396,828 776,186 7,570,032
Acqusition - 128,992 - 128,992
Disposal . 108,000 - 108.000)
December 31 5,397,020 1,417,818 776,186 7.591.024
Accumulated depreciation
January 1 5,397,020 895,488 776,186 7,068,694
Depreciation 186 - 123,120 - 123,120
___Disposal - (108,000) - (108,000)
December 31 5,397,020 910,608 776,186 7,083,814
Net book values - 507,210 - 507,210
2023
Cost
January 1 5,397,020 1,399,986 776,186 7,573,192
Disposal - 3,160 - (3.160)
December 31 5,397,020 1,396,826 776,186 7,570,032
Accumulated depreciation
January 1 5,397,020 764,726 776,186 6,937,932
Depreciation 16 - 133,922 - 133,922
___Disposal - (3,160) - (3,160)
December 31 5,397,020 895,488 776,186 7,068,694
Net bock values - 501,338 - 501,238

The cost of fully depreciated assets that are still in use as at December 31, 2024 amounted P5.8 milion

{2023 - PS.7 milkion).

The Group sold computer hardware and software with net book values of P1.0 milicn and P2.2 milion,
respectively, to SPMI for a total amount of P3.4 million, resulting in a net gain of P0.2 million in 2022.

(Note 11).

Based on the results of management assessment, the Group believes that there was no objective evidence
that indicators of impairment exist as at December 31, 2024 and 2023

(&)



9 Intangible assets, net

Details of and movements in the account, which pertain to computer software programs, as at and for the

years ended December 31 are as follows:

Note 2024 2023
Cost
January 1 4,572 381 4,572,382
December 31 4.572,381 4,572 382
Accumulated amortization
January 1 2,721,656 2,068,459
Amortization expense 18 653,197 653,197
December 31 3,374,853 2,721,656
Net book value at December 31 1,197,528 1,850,725

The Group disposed computer hardware and software to SPMI for P3.4 million resulting in a gain of

P0.2 million included in the other income in 2022

Based on the results of management's assessment, the Group believes that there was no objective evidence

that indicators of impairment exist as at December 31, 2024 and 2023,
10 Accrued expenses and other current labilities
The account as at December 31 consists of:

Note 2024 2023
Accrued expenses 2,021,171 1,740,286
Payable to government agencies 276,317 595,837
Others 11 851,818 785,714
3,149,306 3,101.837

Accrued expenses include professional fees, audit fees, directors’ fees, fringe, membership dues, taxes and

licenses, and other expenses.

Payable to government agencies include output VAT, withholding taxes and Social Security System (SSS),
Home Development Mutual Fund (HDMF) and Philippine Health insurance Corporation (PHIC) contribution

payables.
Others pertain to unclaimed monies or dividends by shareholkders (Note 11).



1 Related party transactions and balances
In the normal course of business, the Group transacts with companies which are considered related parties.

The significant related party transactions and balances as at and for the years ended December 31 are as
follows:
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The Group at all times observes and adheres with the related party transactions policy and all other relevant
laws, rules and regulations, as may be applicable, in the review, approval and disciosure of related pary
transactions. The members of the Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee and management discloses to the
BOD all material facts related to the material related party transactions, whether potential or actual conflict of
interest, including their direct and Indirect interest in any transaction or matter that may affect or is affecting
the Group. Materiality threshold of the Group is 10% of the Group's total consolidated assets based on the
latest audited financial statements. The material related party transactions are approved by two-thirds vote of
the BOD with at least majority of the independent directors voting 1o approve. In the case that the majority of
the independent directors’ vole is not secured, the material related party transactions may be ratified by the
vote of the shareholders representing at least two-thirds of the outstanding share capital of the Parent
Company.

For each of the three (3) years in the period ended December 31, 2024, the Group has not made any
mmmdubﬁulaccoumnwngbunwmmdmemaMmdmmmu
condition of the concerned entities. This assessment is undernaken each financial year through examination of
the financial position of each related party and the market in which the related party operates.

(a) Loans

The Group granted short-term, interest-bearing loans to SPMI and SSSI. The loans were fully paid in 2022
and no loans were granted thereafter,

Amount

January 1, 2022 240,000,000
New loans granted 100,000,000
_Collections (340,000,000}

December 31, 2022

(b) Leases
The Group leases certain investments properties to related parties (Note 7).
(c) Various expenses and charges

The Group paid for vanous reimbursable expenses which are utilized in the normal operations of SPMI and
Keppel Enterprise Services Pte. Ltd. amounting to nil and P108,907 in 2023 (2022 - P221,859 and
P377,035), respectively. There are no similar transactions in 2024,

(d) Payroll service fees

In 2020, the Group entered into payroll service agreements with SSSI and SPMI for the use of the payroll
syslemoﬂhoGroup.msmdmmenmsmwndmbefmbtm“tmmm
charges incurred by the Group based on actual cost plus 5% markup. These agreements are considered
renewed every year thereafter and subject to mutual amendments or termination by the parties. The
agreement was terminated effective November 2022,

(e) Management fees

Since 2013, the Group had management agreements with related companies with monthly management fees
which are subject to change depending upon the extent and volume of services provided by the Group to
related parties and vice-versa. The services cover regular consultancy, handling of financial reporting,
personnel and administration services including payroll and cther government documentary requirements.
The agreement are considered renewed every year thereafter, unless one party gives the other a written
notice of termination at least three (3) months prior to the expiration date at an agreed fixed monthly fee,
which is subject to increase depending upon the extent and volume of services.

(1)



In April 2021, the Parent Company signed an accounting services agreement with Bay Philippines Holdings
Corp., an entity under common control, with a monthly fee of P55,000 excluding out-of-pocket expenses. The
services cover the handiing of financial reporting and government documentary requirements. The agreemen
is subject to automatic annual renewal until terminated by either party at any time by giving not less than
ninety (80) days written notice to the other party. The agreement was terminated last December 8, 2024

() Commission

In 2024, KPHI entered into a one-time agreement with CLI to assist the latter in the sale of its land situated at
Subic, Zambales with KPHI earning a 3% commission amounting to P2.1 million,

(g) Key management personnel

Mmmshamwmbn.mmgmwtomi\wonmmbm
management perscnnel for each of the three (3) years in the period ended December 31, 2024.

(h) Elimination

The following related party transactions and balances were eliminated for the purpose of preparing the
consolidated financial statements:

Note 2024 2023 2022
As at December 31
Investment in subsidiaries 110,165,069 110,165,069 110,185,069
For the years ended December 31
Dividend income of Parent Company from
subsidiaries 14 654,562 468 31,003,600 10,303,867
Dividend income of GRDC from GMRI 14 18,964,802 888,975 296,325
Commission income 7,500,000 - -

Management fees of Parent Company from
subsidiary 780,000 780,000 780,000
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12 Retirement benefit obligation

The Group has a funded, non-contributory-defined benefit plan covering the retirement and disability benefits
of its qualified employees and is being administered by a trustee bank. The normal retirement age is 60 years
with at least five (5) years of service and the optional retirement date is at age 50 and completion of at least
ten (10) years of service. The retirement obligation is determined using the Projected Unit Credit (PUC)
method. Under the PUC method, the annual normal cost for the portion of the retirement is determined using
the amount necessary 1o provide for the portion of the retirement benefit accrued during the year,

Detais of retirement benefit cbligation, net, in the consolidated statement of financial position as at
December 31 are as follows:

2024 2023
Fair value of plan assets 4,230,794 3,188,989
Present value of defined benefit obligation (5,034,268) (4,026.472)

(803,474) _ (837.483)

Movements in the retirement benefit obligation (asset), net, as at December 31 are as follows:

2024 2023
January 1 B37,483 (1,049 440)
Retirement benefit expense recognized in profit or loss 261,389 426,588
Contributicns paid (837,483) -
Remeasurement gain in other comprehensive income 512,085 1,460,335

B803.474 837,483

Movements in the present value of defined benefit cbligation for the years ended December 31 are as follows:

2024 2023 2022

At January 1 4,026,472 7781483 9052516
Current service cost 233,066 507,310 660,465
Interest cost 280,410 598,542 449,005
Remeasurement kss (gain) from:

Experience adjustments 135,187 577,185 (2,218,356)

Change in financial assumptions 359,133 234 452 (162,147)
Benefits paid - (5,672,500) -
At Dacamber 31 5,034,268 4026472 7781483

Movements in the fair value of plan assets for the years ended December 31 are as follows:

2024 2023 2022
At January 1 3,188,989 8,830,923 9,052,516
Interest ncome 222,087 679,264 449,005
Contributions 837,483 - -
Loss on plan assets (17,785) (648,698)  (670,598)
Benefits paid - 5.672.500 -
At December 31 4,230,784 3,183,980 8,830,923

These plan assets are composed mainly of government securities and unit investment trust funds (UITFs)
under Level 1 fair value category.
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Details of retirement benefit expense recognized as part of salaries, wages, and employee benefits under
operating expenses in profit or koss for the years ended December 31 are as follows:

2024 2023 2022
Current service cost 233,066 807,310 650,465
Net interest cost 58,323 (80,722)

291,380 426,588 660,465

Movements in remeasurements on retirement benefits as at and for the years ended December 31 are as
follows:

2024 2023 2022

January 1 1,349,030 2,809,365 1,099,460
Remeasurement (loss) gain (512,085 1,460,335 1,709,905
December 31 835,945 1,349,030 2,808,365

The principal actuarial assumptions used are as follows:

2024 2023

Discount rate 5.56% 6.96%
Salary increase rate 5.00% 5.00%
Average remaining working ife 1043 14.39
Weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation 14 9

The discount rate assumption is based on the theoretical spot yield curve calculated from the Bankers
Association of the Phiippines PHP BVAL Reference Rates benchmark reference curve for the government
securities market by stripping the coupons from government bonds to create virtual zero-coupon bonds as of
the valuation date and considering the average years of remaining working life of the employees as the
estimated term of the benefit cbligation.

Assumptions regarding future mortality are set based on actuarial report as at December 31, 2024 and 2023
in accordance with published statistical data and historical mortality experience in the Philippines.

The sensitivities of the defined benefit obligation to changes in the principal assumptions as at
December 31 are as follows:

Impact on retirement benefit obigation
Changein Increasein Decrease in

assumption  assumption  assumption

2024

Discount rate 1% (359,133) 389,841
Salary increase rate 1% 389,568 (370,650)
2023

Discount rate 1% (318,738) 347,901
Salary increase rate 1% 351,372 (327.561)

The sensitivity analyses are based on a change in an assumption while hoiding all other assumptions
constant. In practice, this is unkkely to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated.
When cakeutating the sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation 1o significant actuarial assumptions, the same
method (present value of the defined benefit obligation calculated with the projected unit credit method at the
end of the reporting period) has been applied as when calculating the retiklement benefit obligation recognized
in the consolidated statements of financial position, The methods and types of assumptions used in the
preparing the sensitivity analysis did not change compared to previous pericd.
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The maturity analysis of undiscounted future retirement payments as at December 31 are as follows:

2024 2023
Less than a year 61,539 44 968
Between one (1) to five (5) years 520,756 250,650
Over five (5) years but not more than 10 years 8,317,601 6,326,787
Over 10 years 12.841,015 11,740,888

21849911 18,363,293

13 Share capital
Detais of share capital as at December 31, 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

Amount

Authorized at P1 par value
Class A 90,000,000
Class B 200.000.000
290,000,000

Issued at P1 par value

Class A 39,840,970
Class B 33,332,530
Share capital 73.173.500

The Class "A" and Class "B" shares of stock are identical in all respects and have P1 par value per share,
except that Class "A" shares are restricted to ownership of Philippine nationals. Class "B" shares are 18% and
82% owned by Philippine nationals and foreign nationals, respectively, as at December 31, 2024 and 2023,
Each share has a right to one (1) vote,

Movements in the number of outstanding shares (or issued less treasury shares) as at December 31 are as
follows:

2024 2023 2022
Class "A”
January 1 35756070 35756070 35826670
Purchase of treasury shares - - (70,600)
December 31 35756070 35756,070 35756070
Class "8"
January 1 21476948 21476948 21515749
Purchase of treasury shares it " - (38,800)
" December 31 21476040 21476049 21,476,949
Total outstanding shares 57233019 §7233018 57233019

In 2022, the Parent Company purchased a total of 70,600 common share at an average price of P6.48 per
share for a total consideration of P457,417 in Class A, and for Class B, the Parent Company, purchased a
total of 38,800 common share at an average price of PG,85 per share for a total consideration of P266,114.

Details of the Parent Company’s weighted average number of shares as at December 31 are as follows:

2024 2023 2022
Class A 35,756,070 35,756,070 35,756,070
Class B 21,476,949 21476948 21476949

§7,233.019 57233019 57233019
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In accordance with SRC Rule 68, as Amended (2019), Annex 68-K, below is a summary of the Parent
Company's track record of registration of securities as at December 31:

Number of Number of
shares Issue/ Date of holders of
Common shares registered offer price approval securities
2024
Class "A" 35,756,070 1.00 June 30, 2000 367
Class 'B" 21,476,949 1.00 _ June 30, 2000 54
57.233.019
2023
Class "A" 35,756,070 1.00 June 30, 2000 370
Class "B" 21,476,949 1.00 _ June 30, 2000 54
57,233.019

14 Retained earnings; Treasury shares

Retained earnings amounted to P1,351.6 million as at December 31, 2024 (2023 - P773.5 million). The
porticn of retained earnings, corresponding 10 the undistributed equity in net eamings of the associate,
amounted to P92.9 milion (2023 - P80.0 milion) (Note 8), is not available for distribution as dividends until
declared by the asscciate.

Retained earnings are further restricted to the extent of treasury shares with the foliowing details as at
December 31, 2024 and 2023:

2024 2023
Shares Cost Shares Cost
Class "A” 4084900 15,840,546 4084900 15840946
Class “B* 11,855 581 10,163,584 11,855.581 10,163,584

15,940,481 26,004,530 15,940,481 26,004,530

As at December 31, 2024, total unrestricted retained eamings of the Parent Company amounted to

P1,187.2 million (2023 - P506.6 million). The amount of unrestricted retained eamings is in excess of 100% of
its paid-in capital amounted to P1,048.5 million as at December 31, 2024 (2023 - P357.8 million). The Parent
Company declares and pays cash dividends on a regular basis to comply with the Corporation Code of the
Philippines, The Parent Company declares dividend based upon the favorable result of operations and the
availabilty of unappropriated retained earnings. The Parent Company is also pursuing programs and projects
in the coming years for which the excess retained eamings will be utilized.

(a) Dividends

(i) Parent Company

The Parent Company’'s BOD declared cash dividends and paid as foliows:

2024 2023 2022

Amount declared P11,446 604 P5,723,302 P5,723,842
Dividend per share P0.20 P0.10 P0.10
Date of declaration and approval June 14 June 16 June 17
Date of shareholders’ record July 5 July 7 July 7
Date paid July 31 August 2 July 31

Amount paid P11,446 6804 P5723302 P5723.842
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(i) Subsidiaries

Dividends declared by the subsidiaries for the years ended December 31 are as attributable to.

- 2024 2023 2022
Equity holders of Parent Company 654,562,468 31,003,600 10,303,867
NCI 626,972,730  29,307.425 9,899,808
GMRI to GRDC 18,964,802 888,975 296,325

1,300,500.000 __ 61.200.000 20,500,000

In June 2024, GMRI declared and paid cash dividends of P1.28 billion (2023 - P60 million; 2022 - P20 million).

In February and December 2024, GRDC declared and paid cash dividend of P1.0 million and P17.5 million,

respectively, (2023 - P0.7 million and 2022 P0.5 million),

Dividends to NCI were declared and paid in the same year.

15 Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net income attributable 1o shareholders of the Group by
the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the period, excluding ordinary shares

purchased by the Group and held as treasury shares, if any.
Earnings per share for the years ended December 31 is calculated as follows:

Note 2024 2023 2022
Net income attributable to equity holders of
the parent 589,549,646 17.768,305 4,525 592
Weighted average number of shares
__outstanding 13 57,233,019 57.233.019 57,233.018
Basic earnings per share 10.30 0.31 0.08
The Group has no potential shares that will have a dilutive effect on earnings per share,
16 Operating expenses
Operating expenses for the years ended December 31 consist of:
Notes 2024 2023 2022
Loss on lease termination 3 25,717,328 - -
Salaries, wages, and employee benefits 7,675,626 6,281,969 10,822,072
Professional fees 6,755,570 4,552,122 4,167,634
Provision for (reversal of)
impairment losses, net 4 4,373,769 (419.217) 1,723,735
Taxes and licenses 1,574,212 4354 918 5,076,085
Utilities 781,038 737,619 931,106
Depreciation and amortization 89 776,317 787,119 1,495,903
Membership dues 584 846 521,245 545,019
Transportation and travel 223777 173,527 579,380
Repairs and maintenance 179,564 994,458 1,571,134
Office supplies 117,841 76,311 149,752
Commission - 198,618 99,809
Contractual services 7 - - 1,092,000
Others $38.690 820,228 780,714
49878 378 19,079,813 29,034,343

Contractual services pertain to services related to the payroll service arrangements rendered to SPMI and

§581 in 2022 which were terminated in 2023 (Note 11).

(17)



Others consist of insurance, bank charges, business development expenses, and miscellaneous expenses.

17 Income taxes

As at December 31, 2024, deferred income tax liability on unearned fair value gain on investment in FVOCI
and unrealzed foreign exchange gain amounted to P12.8 million (2023 - deferred income tax liability on lease
receivable amounted to P1.3 million).

Details of deferred income tax assets, net as at December 31 which were not recognized because
management believes that future taxable profit will not be available against which the deductible temporary
difference and carry-forward benefits of the following:

2024 2023
Tax base Tax effect Tax base Tax effect
Net operating loss carry-over (NOLCO) 20,885,810 5,221,703 17,826,798 4,456,699
Accrued expenses 812,094 202,724 834,390 207,697
Retrement benefits 803,474 200,889 837 483 209,371
22,502,378 5,625,296 19,488 671 4,873,767
Minimumn Corporate Income Tax (MCIT) - 405,708 - 182,450

22,502,378 6,031,005 19.458.671 5,056,217

Under the National Internal Revenue Code of 1987, NOLCO and MCIT can be applied as deduction from
taxable income and tax due, respectively, over the next three (3) years immediately following the year of such
loss.

On September 11, 2020, Republic Act (R.A.) No. 11494, otherwise known as “Bayanihan to Recover as One
Act”, was passed into law to strengthen the government's efforts in mitigating the effects of COVID-19
pandemic. Under R.A. No. 11494, NOLCO for taxable years 2020 and 2021 shall be carried over as a
deduction from gross income for the next five (5) consecutive taxable years immediately following the year of
such loss.

For financial reporting purposes, the entities in the Group are subject to 20% or 25% RCIT and 1% MCIT for
December 31, 2024 and 2023,

In August 2007, GMRI was registered as a developer/operator of Keppel Philippines Marine Special Economic
Zone with the Philippine Economic Zone Authority (PEZA) pursuant to Presidential Proclamation No. 1320
dated July 16, 2007 and the provisions of Republic Act No. 7916, otherwise known as the amended "Special
Economic Zone Act of 1995". With this registration, GMRI is entitied to a special tax rate of 5% on gross
income, in lieu of all national and local taxes, except real property taxes on land owned by GMRI. Considering
the sale of land in March 2024, which is the subject of PEZA Economic Zone Act of 1995, PEZA cancelled the
registration of GMRI last September 3, 2024.
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Details of and movements in unrecognized NOLCO and MCIT as at and for the years ended December 31 are

as follows:
_2024 - 2023
Year incurred Expiry year NOLCO MCIT NOLCO MCIT
2024 2027 3,080,012 234,377 - -
2023 2026 11,438,546 13,362 11,438,546 13,362
2022 2025 6,149,765 157,970 6,149,765 157,970
2021 2026 238,487 - 238,487 -
2021 2024 - 11,118 - 11,118
2020 2023 - - . 757,077
20,885,810 416,827 17,826,798 939,527
_Expired - (11,118) - (757,077)
December 31 20,888,810 405,708 17,826,798 182,450
The components of the income tax expense for the years ended December 31 are as follows:
Note 2024 2023 2022
Current 7 190,295,265 693,480 919,450
Final tax on interest income 16,285,255 6,495,247 1.345874
Deferred 53,694 (54,094) (88,310)
206,634,214 7,134,633 2,177,014

Reconciliation of the income tax expense at statutory income tax rates to the income tax expense as shown in
the consolidated statements of income for the years ended December 31 are as follows:

2024 2023 2022
Income tax at statutory tax rates 331,243,522 7,349,318 2,781,222
Adjustments resulting from tax effects of:
Differential in tax rate (125,816,640) 1,477,090 1,858,212
Final tax on interest ncome 16,285,255 6,495,247 1,345,874
Non-deductible expenses 7522774 44 914 498,948
Interest income subjected to final tax (20,361,031) (8,074,512) (1,674,417)
Non-axable income and reversals (3,214, 454) (2,865,823) (4,381,852)
Changes in unrecognized deferred income tax assels 974,788 2,708,399 1,751,027
Effective income tax expense 206,634,214 7.134 633 2,177,014

Differential in tax rate pertains to the tax rate used for GMRI's registered activities under the 5% GIT regime
and 20% RCIT rate used by GRDC and KPSI based on CREATE Act. In 2024, GMRI applied for the Optional

Standard Deduction (OSD) for tax purposes.
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18 Operating segments
For management reporting

purposes, the Group's businesses are classified into the following business

segments: (1) investment holding, and (2) real estate with a related party, and third parties in 2023 and 2024,
as key lessees. The Group's BOD reviews the performance of these reportable segments. Details of the

Group's business segments are as follows:

Invostment

57 holding Real esime Combined Efminations Consolidsied
Revenues and income

Externad cusiomers 1, 268775200 1.288.775.200 7500000 1276275200
Equity in net samings of an associate . - - 12857817 1285t 7
Other related parties 656,703 468 420,000 657123 468 (666.3‘2.468) 1,781,000

4 28 564109 91.238 439

Total revernes and W_ 18 2017.157.118 m 1 1 4
Income before income Lax 1263778815 1956678740 (64170‘.“1) 4

ncome tax eapense (lgwg (195833,709)  (206,634.214) gzoa,eugul
Net income 652,089,420 1.057945105 17aoou.sze ooﬂmoet) 1118339875
1
&% 1,067

Other compeehensive ncome 1, 1.785 1 16
Ti ncome 053 834 .w,isz (B41.704651)  1.120.125.191
Informaton
Sagmant assets 1415807 079 480904255 1904511055  (110.165069) 1.794.346.806
Sagment Nabilites 16,802 463 1.732.361 18.534 824 (896.341) 17,638 483
—Depredaton and amorszaton 423514 352,603 178317 . TI831T
2023
Revenues and income
Exiernal customess - 12,399 406 12,399 406 - 123969 405
Equity in net eamings of an assocate - . . 1.608 657 1,608 657
Othar related parties 33,165,600 420,000 33619800 (31.763.600) 1,836,000
Interest income and other income s,iguz 3434330 2633122 X - 122
T 063 income 16 1 174 AT7.185
ncome income tax 48.620.114 10,172,101 1 943) 29397272
~NCOMe tix expenis 844 1 1 =L — (1.134.633)
Net ncome 42.776.058 8881 424 81,657 582 (29,394 947) 22262 639
—Qthwr comprebantivg income 10,539,685 S - %
—Total comprehensive income 53,315,723 881824 62197247  (29.354043) 32802304
Other indormason
Segment assets 720,328,384 691207627 141183005  (110,165068) 1,301.370.936
Segrmant Kabilises 3,661,600 e en 7284725 (896,345) 6,368,380
Depreciation and amortization 426 141 357,978 787119 - 787.119
2022
Revenues and income
SPMI 7,250,351 12.485.350 18735701 16,738,701
External customers - 66,800 66,809 . 96,809
Equity in net eamings of an sssocale . - - 10,006,764 10,005,764
Othwer relsted parties 17,336,821 210,000 17.546.821 (11.083,887) 6,462,554
Interest income and other Income %%m 1,069 606 7164872 - 7984 872
Tolal revernies and income 438 1 44 1 1 43 1
ncome Bafore INCome tax 805341 1 13 24 733 624 (1030&!‘7) 14434757
nCome tax expenss {1.275.141) %ﬁ &177,914) 177.014
Net ecome 6.714.2?0 18, £61610 (mmv) 12.257.743
Other ncome 16,706
T income g. 15, ,uo g 1515 (1 gmm 27,967 648
informaton
Segenent sssets 672,081,380 7404708681 1412522241 (110,165,068) 1,302.357.173
Segrnent labilities 3,277.319 2745221 6.022.540 (896, 346) 5,126,154
1,119.220 378,674 1,468,603 . 1495900
Segment assets and liabilities are measured in the same way as in the consolidated financial

slatements. These assets and liabilities are allocated based on the operations of each segment. Segment
revenue, segment expenses, and segment results include transfers between business segments. Those

transfers are aliminated in consolidation.

All of the Group's revenues are derived mainly from operations within Luzon, an island of the Philippines.
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Significant revenue from third party due to sale of land situated at Bauan, Batangas accounted for 92.5% of
the Group's consolidated revenues and income in 2024. In 2024, total rental income accounted for 0,.3% of
the Group's consolidated revenues and income (2023 - 26.4%, 2022 - 25.8%)

19 Other matters

The Parent Company has land rights over a 10.4-hectare property located in Bauan, Batangas which is
subject to a legal case against PNOC. On June 2, 2021, the Parent Company sold such land rights to a third
party for a gross price of P358.6 million and the sale was on an "as is where i8* basis, The Parent Company's
cash deposi of P4.1 million within other non-current assets in the statement of financial position as at
December 31, 2020, and related legal expense of P1.8 million and commission expense of P7.2 million
incurred and paid in 2021, were applied against the gross price resulting in a net gain of P345.6 million on the
sale of interest in land nights in 2021, As part of the condition of the sale, the necessary motion for substitution
was made in court to replace the Parent Company with the buyer as the new plaintiff. On March 10, 2022, the
court granted the Parent Company's mation for substitution resuRling in the extinguishment of any probable
liabilties. Thereafter, PNOC filed a Petition for Certiorarn with the Count of Appeals (CA) with the latter
rendering judgement in favor of PNOC on October 25, 2023. Motions for reconsideration were filed on
November 24, 2023 by the Parent Company. In an Amended Decision dated July 18, 2024, the Court of
Appeals granted the respondents’ Motion for Reconsideration, vacated the October 25, 2023 Decision, and
dismissed the Petition for Certiorari. The Petitioners assaded the CA Amended Decision before the Supreme
Court through a Petition for Review on Certiorari under Rule 45 dated September 20, 2024, and prayed for the
Court to reinstate the Court of Appeals’ October 24, 2023 Decision. The case is still pending as at
February 26, 2025.

20 Financial risk management and capital management

201 Financial risk management

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: credit risk, market risks (interest rate risk and
equity price risk), and liquidity risk that could affect its financial position and results of operations., The
Group's overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictabilty of financial markets and seeks 1o
minimize potential adverse effects on the Group's financial performance. The BOD reviews and approves the
policies for managing each of these risks.

(a) Credi risk

Credt risk pertains to the risk that a party to a financial Instrument will fail to discharge its obligation and
cause the other pasty to incur a financial loss,

The Group transacts mostly with refated parties, thus, there is no requirement for collateral. There are no
significant concentrations of credit risk within the Group.

Receivables are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Group's exposure to bad debts being
not significant. Significant concentration of credit risk pertains to lease receivable (Note 3) in 2023.
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The table below shows the maximum exposure to credit risk of the financial assets of the Group as at
December 31:

High Under- Credit-

Notes performing  performing impaired Total

2024
Cash and cash equivalents (i) 2 1,267,990,092 - - 1,267,990,092
Recaivables (¥) 3 4649630 - - 4,649,630
Advances to employees (i) 4 122684 - - 122 684
1,272,762 406 - - 1,272,762 408
Cash and cash equivalents (i) 2 575,523,245 - - 575,523,245
Receivables (¥) 3 29,821,347 - - 29,821,347
Advances to employees (ii) 4 81,551 - - 81,551
605,425,143 - - B05428,143

The Group's financial assets are categorized based on the Group's collection experience with the
counterparties as follows:

2 High performing - settlements are obtained from counterparty following the terms of the contracts without
history of default.

b. Underperforming - some reminder follow-ups are performed to collect accounts from counterparty.

¢ Credit mpaired - evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:
significant financial difficulty of the counterparty, a breach of contract such as a default or being more than
120 days past due; or it is probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganization.

The credit quality of financial assets is discussed below:

(i) Cash and cash equivalents

There is low credit risk exposure and immaterial expected credit losses (ECL) as these are deposited/placed
in accredited universal banks as defined by the Philippine Banking System that have high credit standing in
the financial services industry.

(i) Receivables, advances to employees

In 2024, there is low cred® risk exposure and immaterial ECL on interest recaivable as this represents
accrued interest from cash and cash equivalents placed in accredited universal banks. Likewise, in 2023,
there is low credit risk exposure and immaterial ECL on lease receivable since this account is considered high
performing with no history of defaults. Additionally, credit risk is minimized since the related parties are paying
on normal credit terms based on contracts. The Group does not hold any collateral as security for these
recewvables.

(b) Market nsk

(i) Interestrate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash fiows of a financial instrument will fluciuate
because of changes in market interest rates.

The Group has no significant exposure to interest rate risk on cash and cash equivalents as these are subject
to fixed interest rates and short term, The lease receivable was fully derecognized in 2024 due to the pre-
termination of the lease contract following the sale of GMRI's investment properties. Accordingly, the Group is
not significantly exposed to cash flow and fair value interest rate risk on these financial instruments.

The Group has no hedging policy in relation to managing its interest rates,
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(i) Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair value of equities will decline resulting from changes in the levels of
equity indices and the value of individual stocks,

The Group's price risk exposure relates to its quoted equity investments where values will fluctuate as a result
of changes in market prices.

Such quoted equity investments are subject to price risk due to changes in market values anising from factors
specific to the instruments or its issuer or factors affecting all instruments traded in the market.

The effect on other comprehensive income as a result of a change in equity price due to a reasonably
possible change in equity indices, with all other variables held constant, is as follows:

Effect on other

Change in comprehensive income, net of

equity price (%) _ tax

December 31, 2024 +-10 +/- 7,225,000
December 31, 2023 +/-10 +/- 5,950,000

The Group determined the reasonably possible change in equity pricing percentage changes In the fair valve
for the past three (3) years.

(¢) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the entity will encounter difficulty in raising funds to meet commitments associated
with financial instruments. Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and the
availability of funding.

The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of
cash and cash equivalents and loans. The Group also monitors s risk to shortage of funds through monthly
evaluation of the projected and actual cash flow information. There are no material liquidity risks given
minimal liabilities relative to available liquid assets.

The maturity profile and contractual undiscounted cash flows from the Group's financial liabilities which are
subject to liquidity risk as at December 31 are as follows:

On Within  From three to  More than 12
Notes demand _three months 12 months months Total

2024
Accounts payable and
other current liabdities® 10 851,818 2,021,171 . . 2872589
Refundable deposits 7 - 166,199 330,118 496,317

851,818 2.021,171 166,196 330.118 3,356.206
2023
Accounts payabie and
other current liablities* 10 765,714 1,740,285 - - 2,505,999
Refundable deposits 7 - - 235,199 314,388 540,597

765,714 1,740,285 235,198 314 3088 3,055 596

"Exchxing payabie 10 QOvVrnment Agncies, uNeamed inferes! INCome, and advance revtals.

20,2 Capital management
The primary objective of the Group's capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating

and heakhy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximize shareholder vaiue. The Group
manages its capial structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions.
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The Group monitors capital using a debt-to-equity ratio, which is total liabilties divided by total equity. Total
liabilities include current and noncurrent kabilities. Equity comprises all components of equity.

The Group's objective is to ensure that there are no known events that may trigger direct or contingent
financial obligation that is material to the Group, including default or acceleration of an ocbligation that will
require increased capitalization.

The debt-to-equity ratios as at December 31 are as follows:

2024 2023
Total liabilties 17,838,483 6,368,380
Total equity 1,776,708413  1,295,002,556
Debt-1o-equity ratio 0.01:1 0.005:1

There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital management in 2024 and 2023,

As part of the reforms of the PSE to expand the capital market and improve transparency among listed firms,
the PSE requires ksted entities to maintain a minimum of 10% of their issued and outstanding shares,
exclusive of any treasury shares, hekd by the public (Note 1). The Parent Company has fully complied with this
requiremant. As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, 17.1% is held by the public.

20.3  Fair value hierarchy

Cue to the shont-term nature of cash and cash equivalents, receivables, advances to employees, accrued
expenses and other current liabilities carrying values approximate fair values as at December 31, 2024 and
2023. The carrying value of long-term advance rental and deposits approximate their fair value as the impact
of discounting is immaterial.

The fair value of quoted eguity investment is determined by reference to quoted market bid price at the close
of business at the end of the reporting dates since this is actively traded in organzed financial markets. As at
December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Group classifies s financial asset at FVOCI| under Level 2 of the fair value
hierarchy. For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, there were no transfers between Level 1 and
Level 2 fair value measurements, and no transfers into and out of Level 3 fair value measurement.

The fair value of the plan assets, which are mainly composed of govemment securities and UITFs are
classfied under Level 1 fair value hierarchy.

The fair value of investment properties is classified under Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy and is determined
using market approach.

The Group does not have assets or kabiities measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis during the
periods.

21 Critical accounting estimates, assumptions, and judgments

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates,
and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and the related
notes, The estimates, assumptions, and judgments used are based upon management's evaluation of the
relevant facts and circumstances as at the date of the consolidated financial statements. These are
continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of
fture events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results could differ from
such estimates. The estimates, assumptions, and judgments that may have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below.
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21.1  Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
(a) Impairment of CWT and input VAT (Note 4)

Management believes that certain amounts of the Group's CWT and input VAT may not be recoverable
because of the expected future minimal transactions where the Group's CWT and Input VAT will be utilized,
The amount and timing of recorded expenses for any period would therefore differ based on the judgment or
estimates made. Details of allowance for impairment refated CWT and input VAT are disclosed in Note 4.

(b) Estimated useful Iives of property and equipment, and intangible assets (Notes 8 and 9)

The Group's management determines the estimated useful lives and related amortization charges for its
property and equipment, and intangible assets. This estimate is based on the expected future economic
benefit to the Group. Management adjusts the depreciation and amortization charge where useful lives are
less than previously estimated lives, or write-offs or write-downs technically obsolete assets that have been
abandoned or soid.

Management believes that the current estimated useful lives of such assets approximate their actual
economic benefits to the Group. Further, management does not foresee any changes in terms of business
operations that would warrant reassessment of estimated useful lives,

The estimated useful lives of each asset is reviewed periodically and updated if expectations differ from
previous estimates due to physical wear and tear, technical or commercial obsolescence and legal or other
limits on the use of the asset. A reduction in the estimated useful lives of any property and equipment, and
intangible assets would increase the recorded operating expenses and decrease non-current assets,
Conversely, an increase in the estimated useful lives of any property and equipment, and intangible assets
would decrease the recorded operating expenses and increase non-current assets. There were no changes in
the estimated useful lives of property and equipment as at December 31, 2024 and 2023,

(c) Retirement benefits (Note 12)

The Group maintains a qualified defined benefit retirement plan. The calculations of retirement benefit costs of
the Group are dependent upon the use of assumptions, including discount rates, expected return on plan
assets, interest cost, future salary increases, benefits earned, mortalty rates, the number of employee
retirements, the number of employees electing to take lump-sum paymeants and other factors,

The Group determines the appropriate discount rate at year-end dates. This is the interest rate that should be
used to determine the present value of estimated future cash outflows expected to be required 1o settle the
retirement benefit obligation. In determining the appropriate discount rate, the Group considers the interest
rates of high-quality government bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid
and that have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related retirement benefit obligation. Other key
assumptions for retirement benefit obligation are based in part on current market conditions. The sensitivity
analyses for the significant actuarial assumptions are disclosed in Note 12,

(d) impairment of investrment in an associate (Note 6)

Investment in an associate carried at equity method is reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.

If impairment indicator exists, the Group evaluates whether the recoverable amount of the investment in an
associate, based on fair value less cost to sell, determined based on the Group's ownership interest in the net
assels of its associate after considering the fair value of the associate’s underlying investment property, as
determined by third-party appraiser, remains higher than its carrying value.
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The valuation of CLI's investment properties was categorized as Level 3 measurement as it utilized adjusted
inputs for valuation that were, for the major part, unobservable as at the date of valuation. The following table
summarzes the quantitative information about the significant unobservable inputs used in Level 3 fair value
measurements as at December 31:

Range of inputs Relationship of
uncbservable inputs to fair
Unobservable inputs 2024 2023 value
The higher the input, the
Asking price discount 5% to 10% 10% to 15% lower the fair value.
Physical adjustments (location, shape, The favorable the input,
size and neighborhood) 15% to -5% 25% to 5% _the higher the fair value.

There were no significant interrelationships between unobservable inputs that materially affect fair values.

As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Group's share in CLI's net assets after considering the fair value of
the assoclate’s underlying investment property, representing the investment in an associate's recoverable
ameunt, based on fair value less cost to sell, remains higher than the carrying value (Note 6). Accordingly,
investment in an associate is not impaired and assessed as fully recoverable.

(e) impairment of investment properties (Note 7)

The Group assesses impairment on investment properties whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable,

This involved management judgments and assumptions for indicators of impairment with reference to the fair
value of nvestment properties prepared using the market data approach by third party appraisers, as well as
significant changes with respect to asset condition, intended utilization and performance, industry and
economic trends that may indicate impairment,

Determining the recoverable amount of investments properties requires the determination the higher of fair
value less cost of disposal and future cash fiows expected to be generated from such assets. The Group
recognizes an impaiment loss if such indications are present and whenever the carrying amount of an asset
exceeds its recoverable amount. Any resulting additional impairment loss could have a significant impact on
the Group's results of operations and financial position. The Group considers each asset separately in making
its judsgment,

The aggregate fair value of investment properties prepared using market data approach is higher than the
carrying amount (Notes 7). Further, based on management assessment there were no changes indicating
impairment with respect to asset conditions, intended utilization and performance, and industry and economic
trends. Accordingly, the investment properties are not considered impaired and assessed as fully recoverable
as at December 31, 2024 and 2023.

The valuation of the investment properties was categorized as Level 3 measurement as it utiized adjusted
inputs for valuation that were, for the major part, unobservable as at the date of valuation (Note 7). The
following table summarizes the quantitative information about the significant unobservable inputs used in
Level 3 fair value measurements as at December 31, 2024 and 2023,

Range of inputs Relationship of
unobservable inputs to fair
Unobservable inputs 2024 2023 value
The higher the input, the
Asking price discount 5% to 10% 10% 10 20% lower the fair value.
Physical adjustments (location, shape, The favorable the input,
size and development) 10% to 0% 25% to 5% __the higher the fair value.

There were no signficant interrelationships between unocbservable inputs that materially affects fair values.
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21.2  Critical accounting judgments
(a) Recoverability of carrying amount of receivables and advances fo employees (Note 3)

The receivables were grouped based on similar credit characteristics. In arriving at the expected credit loss for
a particular period, management considers both historical loss experience and certain forward-looking
macroeconomic factors of the customers. In these cases, management uses judgments based on the best
available facts and circumstances, including but net limited 1o the length of relationship with the customers
and whether there have been payment defaults in the past. An evaluation of receivables designed to identify
potential charges to the provision is performed on a continuous basis throughout the year,

The carrying value of recevables at the end of each reporting period and the amount and timing of recorded
provision for any period could differ based on actual experience and changes in judgments made.

There are no provisions for each of the three years in the pericd ended December 31, 2024,
(b) Impairnent of other non-financial assels - property and equipment (Note 8) and intangible assel (Note 9)

The Group assesses impairment on these whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of the asset may not be recoverable.

Determining the recoverable amount of assets requires the determination of the higher of fair value less cost
of disposal and future cash flows expected to be generated from such assets. The Group recognizes an
mpairment loss if such indications are present and whenever the camying amount of an asset exceeds s
recoverable amount, Any resulting additional impairment loss could have a significant impact on the Group's
results of operations and financial position. The Group considers each asset separately in making its
judgment.

Based on management assessment, there were no significant indicators of impairment the Group's property

and equipment and intangible assets and are assessed as not impaired and fully recoverable as at
December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023.

(¢) Classification of leases (Note 7)

The Group has entered into a property lease on its investment properties. The Group has determined that it
retains all the significant risks and rewards of ownership of these properties as the Group considered, among
cthers, the length of the lease term as compared with the estimated Me of the assets, The Group's operating
lease contract is accounted for as non-cancellable operating lease. In determining whether a lease contract is
cancellable or not, the Group considers, among others, the significance of the penalty, including economic
consequence to the lessee. Detail of leases are disclosed in Note 7.

(d) Recognition of deferred income tax assets (Note 17)

Significant judgment is required in determining the income tax expense. There are many transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain in the ordinary course of business. The
Group recognizes kabilities for tax audit issues when it is probable,

The Group's assessment on the recognition of deferred income tax assets on non-deductible temporary
differences is based on the forecasted taxable income of the following reporting periods. This forecast is
based on the Group's future expectations on revenues and expenses. As at December 31, 2024 and 2023,
deferred income tax assets were not recognized because management believes that future taxable profit will
not be available against which the deferred income tax assets can be applied.

22 Summary of material accounting policies

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set
out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.
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221 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with PFRS
Accounting Standards. PFRS Accounting Standards comprise the following authoritative Rerature:

» PFRS Accounting Standards,

* PAS Standards, and

* Interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committtee (IFRIC),
Philippine Interpretations Committee (PIC), and Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC) as approved by
the Financial and Sustainability Reporting Standards Council (FSRSC) and the Board of Accountancy, and
adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC),

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on historical cost basis, except for;

« financial assets at FVOCI; and
« fair value of plan assets within retirement benefits.

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with PFRS Accounting Standards
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates and assumptions. It also requires management to
exercise s judgment in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher
degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where estimates and assumptions are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 21.

Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

(a) New standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards as adopled by the Group effective
January 1, 2024

. Amendments to PAS 1, ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’

Amendments made to PAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements in 2020 and 2022 clarified that
liabilities are classified as either current or noncurrent, depending on the rights that exist at the end of
the reporting period. Classification is unaffected by the entity’s expectations or events after the reporting
date (for example, the receipt of a waiver or a breach of covenant that an entity is required to comply
with only after the reporting period).

Covenants of loan arrangements will not affect classification of a liability as current or non-current at the
reporting date if the entity must only comply with the covenants after the reporting date. However, if the
enlity must comply with a covenant either before or at the reporting date, this will affect the classification
as current or non-current even if the covenant is only tested for compliance after the reporting date.

The amendments require disclosures if an entity classifies a liabllity as noncurrent and that Fability is
subject to covenants that the entity must comply with within 12 months of the reporting date. The
disclosures include:

« the carrying amount of the liability

* information about the covenants (including the nature of the covenants and when the entity is
required to comply with them); and

» facts and circumstances, if any, that indicate that the entity may have difficulty complying with the
covenants,

The amendments must be applied retrospectively in accordance with the requirements in PAS 8,
‘Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors’. Special transitional rules apply if an
entity had early adopted the 2020 amendments regarding the classification of liabilities as

current or non-current,
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Amendment to PFRS 16, ‘Lease kabilly in sale and leaseback’

In September 2022, the IASB finalized narrow-scope amendments to the requirements for sale and
leaseback transactions in IFRS 16 Leases which explain how an entity accounts for a sale and
leaseback after the date of the transaction.

The amendments specify that, in measuring the lease ability subsequent to the sale and leaseback, the
seller-lessee determines ‘lease payments’ and ‘revised lease payments' in a way that does not result in
the sellerdessee recognizing any amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right of use that it retains.
This could particularly impact sale and leaseback transactions where the lease payments include
variable payments that do not depend on an index or a rate,

Amendments to PAS 7 and PFRS 7, ‘Supplier Finance Arrangement’

On May 25, 2023, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 to require specific disclosures
about supplier finance arrangements (SFAs). The amendments respond to the investors’ need for more
information about SFAs to be able to assess how these arrangements affect an entity’s liabilities, cash

The new disclosures will provide information about:

The terms and conditions of SFAs.

The carrying amount of financial kabilties that are part of SFAs, and the line items in which those
liabilities are presented,

The carrying amount of the financial liabilities in (2), for which the suppliers have already received
payment from the finance providers,

The range of payment due dates for both the financial liabilties that are part of SFAs, and
comparable trade payables that are not part of such arrangements.

Non-cash changes in the carrying amounts of financial liabiities in no. 2.

Access to SFA facilities and concentration of liquidity risk with the finance providers.

o A O N

Entities will be required to aggregate the information that they provide about SFAs. However, entities
should disaggregate Information about terms and conditions that are dissimilar, disclose explanatory
information where the range of payment due dates is wide, and disclose the type and effect of non-cash
changes that are needed for comparability between periods.

The IASB has provided transitional refief by not requiring comparative information in the first year, and
also not requiring disclosure of specified opening balances. Further, the required disclosures are only
applicable for annual periods during the first year of application. Therefore, the earliest that the new
disclosures will have to be provided is in annual financial reports for December 31, 2024 year end,
unless an entity has a financial year of less than 12 months.

The amendments fo existing standards are not expected to have a material impact on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group.,

There are no other new standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards effective
January 1, 2024 that are considered to be relevant or have a material impact on the Group's consolidated
financial statements.

(b) New standards, and amendments and interpretations to existing standards issued but nol yet effective as

at December 31, 2024

Centain new standards, and amendments and interpretations 1o existing standards have been published that
are not mandatory for December 31, 2024 reporting periods and have not been early adopted by the Group.,
None of these are expected to be relevant and have a significant effect on the financial reporting of the Group,
while the most relevant ones are set out as follows:



. Amendments to PAS 21, ‘Lack of Exchangeabiity’

In August 2023, the IASB amended IAS 21 to add requirements to help entities to determine whether a
currency is exchangeable into another currency, and the spot exchange rate to use when & is not. Prior
to these amendments, IAS 21 set out the exchange rate to use when exchangeability is temporarily
lacking, but not what to do when lack of exchangeabiity is not temporary,

These new requirements will apply for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.
Early application is permitted (subject to any endorsement process). Refer to Filling the gap in currency
accounting: new IFRS requirements for lack of exchangeability for further details.

*  Amendments to PFRS 9 and PFRS 7, ‘Classification and Measurement of Financial instruments’

On May 30, 2024, the IASB issued targeted amendments to IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and IFRS 7
Financial Instruments: Disclosures to respond to recent questions arising in practice, and to include new
requirements not only for financial institutions but also for corporate entities. These amendments:

a. clarify the date of recognition and derecognition of some financial assets and kabilities, with a new
exception for some financial kabilties settled through an electronic cash transfer system;

b. clarify and add further guidance for assessing whether a financial asset meets the solely payments
of principal and interest (SPPI) criterion;

€. add new disclosures for certain instruments with contractual terms that can change cash flows
(such as some financial instruments with features linked to the achievement of environment. social
and govemance targets); and

d. update the disclosures for equity instruments designated at FVOCI.

The amendments in (b) are most relevant to financial institutions, but the amendments in (a), (c) and (d)
are relevant to all entities.

The amendments to PFRS 9 and PFRS 7 will be effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or
after January 1, 20286, with early application permitted subject to any endorsement process.

« PFRS 18, Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements’

This is the new standard on presentation and disclosure in financial statements, which replaces PAS 1,
with a focus on updates to the statement of profit or loss.

The key new concepts introduced in PFRS 18 relate to:

» the structure of the statement of profit or loss with defined subtotals;

* requirement to determine the most useful structure summary for presenting expenses in the
statement of profit or loss

* required disclosures in a single note within the financial statements for certain profit or loss
performance measures that are reported outside an entity’s financial statements (that is,
management-defined performance measures); and

» enhanced principles on aggregation and disaggregation which apply to the primary financial
statements and notes in general

The Group is still assessing the impact of the new standard.

« PFRS 19, 'Subsidianies without Public Accountabiiity: Disclosures'
This new standard works alongside other PFRS Accounting Standards. An eligible subsidiary applies
the requirements in other PFRS Accounting Standards except for the disclosure requirements; and it
applies instead the reduced disclosure requirements in PFRS 19. PFRS 19's reduced disclosure

requirements balance the information needs of the users of eligible subsidiaries’ financial statements
with cost savings for preparers. PFRS 19 is a voluntary standard for eligible subsidiaries
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A subsidiary is eligible if

* it does not have public accountability; and
« it has an ultimate or intermediate parent that produces consolidated financial statements available
for public use that comply with PFRS Accounting Standards,

The new standards and amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2025, and must be applied retrospectively. The Group does not expect the amendment to have a
significant impact to the Group's consolidated financial statements, except for PFRS 18.

22.2 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the separate financial statements of the Parent Company and
its subsidiaries as at December 31, 2024 and 2023 and for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2024, The Group uses uniform accounting policies; any difference between the subsidiaries
and Parent Company are adjusted properly,

All intra-group balances, transactions, and unrealzed gains and losses resulting from intra-group transactions
are eliminated in full,

Assessment of control
The Group controls an investee  and only if the Group has:

» Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give & the current abiity to direct the relevant activities of
the investee),

« Exposure, of rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

« The ab#y to use its power over the investee 1o affect its returns.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all

relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

» The contractual arrangement with the other vole holders of the investee
Rights arising from other contractual arrangements
* The Group's voting rights and potential voting rights

The Parent Company re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate
that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control. NCI pertain to the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable, directly, or indirectly to the Parent Company. NCI represent the portion of profit or
loss and the net assets not held by the Group and are presented separately in the consolidated statements of
inoomeandoomolidmodmm;dmmpnhonmiwmmdwimmemnyimmmm
statements of financial position and consolidated statements of changes in equity.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the equity holders of the
Parent Company and to the NCI, even if this results in the NCI having a deficit balance,

Acquisitions of NCI are accounted for using the acquisition method, whereby the Group considers the

acquisition of NCI as an equity transaction. Any premium or discount on subsequent purchases from NCI
shareholders is recognized directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the parent.
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A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction, If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it;

Derecognizes the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary

Derecognizes the carrying amount of any non-controlling interests

Derecognizes the cumulative transiation differences recorded in equity

Recognizes the fair value of the consideration received

Recognizes the fair value of any investment retained

Recognizes any surplus or deficit in profit or loss

Reclassifies the Parent Company’s share of components previously recognized in other comprehensive
income to profit or loss or retained earnings, as appropriate, as would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the refated assets or liabilties

As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, NCI pertains to 44% and 5% ownership in GRDC of KPMI Retirement
Ptan and SPMI, respectively.

The financial information (before intercompany eliminations) of GRDC and its wholly-owned subsidiary, GMRI,
and NCI balances (after intercompany eliminations) as at and for the years ended December 31 are as
follows:
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Accumulated balance of material NCI, and net income and total comprehensive income attributable to
material NC| as at and for the year ended December 31, 2022 are P355.2 miillion and P7.7 million,
respectively.

There are no significant restrictions on the Group's ability 1o use the assets or settle liabilities within the
Group. There is no difference on the volting rights on non-controlling interests compared to majority
shareholders,

223 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term, highly
liquid investments with criginal maturities of three (3) months or less that are readily convertible to known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. These are carried in the
consolidated statements of financial position at amortized cost. Other relevant policies are discicsed in
Note 224,
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224 Financial instruments

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or
equity of ancther entity. The Group recognizes a financial instrument in the consclidated statements of
financial position, when and only when, the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

(a) Financial assets
() Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets In the following measurement categories:

« those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through other comprehensive income or through
proft or loss), and
« those to be measured at amortized cost.

The classification depends on the entity's business model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows. For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be
recocded in profit or loss or other comprehensive income. For investments in equity instruments that are not
heid for trading, this will depend on whether the Group has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial
recognition to account for the equity investment at FVOCI. The Group reclassifies debt investments when and
only when its business model for managing those assets changes. The Group has financial assets at FVOCI
and at amortized cost as at December 31, 2024 and 2023. Financial assets at amortized cost include cash
and cash equivalents, receivables and advances to employees. Financial assets at FVOCI pertain 1o equity
securities.

(i) Measurement
At intial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value.

Subsequent to initial recognition, measurement depends on the Group's business model for managing the
asset and cash flow characteristic of the asset. For financial assets at amortized cost, interest income, If any,
from these financial assets is included within other income in the consolidated statements of income using the
effective interest rate method. Impairment losses are presented as separate line item in profit or loss when
material,

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value. Where the Group's management has
elected to present fair value gains or losses on investments in OCI, there is no subsequent reciass#ication of
fair value gains and losses to profit or loss following the derecognition of the investment. Dividends from such
investments continue to be recognized in prof or loss when the Group's right to receive payments is
established.

(iii) Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the ECL associated with its debt instruments carried at
amortized cost. The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk.

The general approach is applied, Under this approach, credit loss allowance is based on 12-month expected
credit loss if there is no significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition of the assets. If there is a
significant increase in credit risk since indial recognition, lifetime expected credit loss will be calculated and
recognized,

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased signdicantly since initial
recognition and when estimating ECL, the Group considers reasonable and supportable information that is
relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information
and analysis, based on the Group's historical experience and informed credit assessment and includes
forward-looking information.
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The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit
obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group to actions such as realizing security (if any is
heid).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortized cost are credit-
impaired. A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred, Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes the following observable data;

« significant financial difficulty of the counterparty;
« abreach of contract such as a default; or
* itis probable that the borrower will enter bankrupticy or other financial reorganization,

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account, and the amount of the
loss is recognized as a separate line item, when material, in the consolidated statements of income.

When an asset remains uncoliectidle after the Group has exerted all legal remedies, it is written-off against
the allowance account, Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written-off are credited against
impairment losses in the consolidated statements of income.,

() Financial liabities
(0 Classification

The Group classifies its financial liabilities at initial recognition in the following categories: at fair value through
profit or loss (including financial kabiities held for trading and those designated at fair value) and financial
kabilities at amortized cost. The Group only has financial liabilties at amortized cost which accrued expenses
and other current liabilties (excluding payables to government agencies, advance rentals and deposits) as at
December 31, 2024 and 2023.

Issued financial instruments or their components, which are not designated at fair value through profit or loss,
are classified as other financial liabilities, where the substance of the contractual arrangement results in the
Group having an obligation either to deliver cash or another financial asset to the holder, Other financial
kablities include accrued expenses. These are included in current Eabilities except for maturities greater than
12 months after the reporting period which are classified as non-current kabilities.

(§) Measurement

Financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value of the consideration recetved pius directly attributable
fransaction costs.

Financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method.
Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on the issue and fees that are an
integral part of the effective interest rate.

225 Prepayments and other assets

Prepayments are expenses paid in cash and recorded as assets before they are used or consumed, as the
service or benefit will be received in the future. Prepayments expire and are recognized as expense either
with the passage of time or through use or consumption.

Input VAT is carried at face amount or at nominal amount less allowance for impairment loss. The net amount
of VAT recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authonity is included as part of other current assets or liabilities
in the consolidated statement of financial position.

CWT is recognized as asset in the period such excess income tax payments become available as tax credits
to the Group and carried over to the extent that it is probable that the benefit will flow to the Group.

Input VAT and CWT are derecognized when there is a legally enforceable right, as prescribed by the
applicable laws, to apply the recegnized amounts against the related income tax due.
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These are classified as current when It is expected to be realized within 12 months after reporting date.
22.6 Investment in an associate

An associate is an entty over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power 1o
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control over

The Group's investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated financial
statements from the date on which & becomes an associate. Cumulative adjustments for periods prior to this
event are not recognized.

Under the equity method, the investments in associates are carried in the consolidated statements of financial
position at cost plus post-acquisition changes in the Group's share of net assets of the associates, less any
dividends declared and impairment in value. If an investor's share in net losses of an associate equals or
exceeds its interest in the associate, the investor discontinues recognizing its share of further losses. The
interest in an associate is the carrying amount of the investment in the associate under the equity method
together with any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the investor's net investment in the
associate.

After appication of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary 1o recognize any
additional impairment loss with respect to the Group's net investment in the associate. The consolidated
statements of income reflects the Group's share in the results of operations of the associate under the equity
in net eamings of associate account. After the Group's interest is reduced o zero, additional losses are
provided to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate.

When there has been a change recognized directly in the equity of the associate, the Group recognizes its
share of any change and discloses this, when applicable, in the consolidated statements of changes in equity.

When an associate makes dividend distributions to the Group in excess of the carrying amount, a kabiity
should cnly be recognized if the Group is obliged to refund the dividend, has incurred a legal or constructive
obligation or made payments on behalf of the associate. In the absence of such obligations, the Group
recognizes the excess in net profit for the period. When the associate subsequently makes profits, the Group
will start recognizing profits when they exceed the excess cash distributions recognized in net profit plus any
previously unrecognized losses.

The reporting dates of the associates and the Group are identical and the associates' accounting policies
conform to those used by the Group for like transactions and events in similar circumstances.

Unrealized gains arising from intercompany transactions with its associates are eliminated to the extent of the
Group's interest in the associate, against the investment in the associate. Unrealized losses are eliminated
similarly but only to the exdent that there is no evidence of mpairment of the asset transferred.

Investiment in associate is derecognized upon disposal or loss of significant influence over an associate.

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the Group measures and recognizes any retained
investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate upon loss of
significant influence and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is recognized in
profit or loss.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that investment in an
associate is impaired in accordance with the provisions of PAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

22.7  Investment properties
Investment property is defined as property held by the owner or by the lessee under a finance lease to earn
rentals or for capital appreciation or both, rather than for: (a) use in the production of supply of goods or

services or for administrative purposes; or (b) sale in the common course of business. The Group has
adopted the cost model for its investment properties
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Land is not depreciated. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the useful ife of
15-25 years for condominium units.

Transfers are made to investment property when, and only when, there is a change in use, evidenced by
ending of owner-occupation or commencement of an operating lease to another party. Transfers are made
from investment property when, and only when, there is a change in use, evidenced by commencement of
owner-occupation or commencement of development with a view to sale.

For a transfer from investment property to cwner-occupied property or inventories, the deemed cost of the
property for subsequent accounting is its fair value at the date of change in use. if the property occupled by
the Group as an owner-occupied property becomes an investment property, the Group accounts for such
property in accordance with the policy stated under property and equipment up to the date of change in use.
Investment properties are derecognized when either these have been disposed of or when the investment
properties are permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from their
dsposal

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of investment properties are recognized in profit or 10ss in
the year of retirement or disposal.

Fully depreciated investment properties are still carried in the books until these are no longer in use or are
retired.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is any cbjective evidence that investment
properties are impaired (Note 22.10).

228 Property and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost, excluding the costs of day-to-day servicing, less accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment in value. Such cost includes the cost of replacing part of such

property and equipment when that cost is incurred if the recognition criteria are met. Depreciation is calkculated
on a straight-fine basis over the useful lives of the assets,

When a major inspection is performed, its cost is recognized in the carrying amount of the property and
equipment as a replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied,

Depreciation of property and equipment is computed using the straight-line method over the following
estimated useful lives in years:

Asset class Useful life
Condominium units 151025
Office machine, furniture and fotures 107
Transportation equipment 5

An item of property and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or
oss in the year the asset is derecognized.

Fully depreciated property and equipment are still carried in the books until they are no longer in use or are
retired.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that property and
equipment are impaired (Note 22.10).
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22.9 Intangible assets

Costs associated with maintaining computer software programs are recognized as an expense as incurred,
Development costs that are directly attributable to the design and testing of identifiable and unique software
products controlied by the Group are recognized as intangible assets when the following criteria are met:

1 is technically feasible to complete the software product so that it will be available for use:
management intends 1o complete the software product and use or sel it;

there is an ability to use or sell the software product;

it can be demonstrated how the software product will generate probable future economic benefits:
adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the
software product are available; and

= the expenditure atiributable to the software product during its development can be reliably measured.

Directly attrbutable costs that are capitalized as part of the software product inciude the software
development employee costs and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads. Other development
expenditures that do not meet these criteria are recognized as an expense as incurred. Development costs
previously recognized as an expense are not recognized as an asset in a subsequent period,

Amertization of computer software is calkculated using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives
of seven (7) years.

Intangible assets are derecognized when sold, disposed or when contractual agreements expire and are no
longer renewed.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that intangible are
impaired (Note 22.10).

2210 Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses at the reporting date whether there is an indication that its non-financial assets comprise
of CWT, input VAT, investment in an associate, investment properties, property and equipment, and intangible
assets may be impaired. If any such indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is
required, the Group makes an estimate of the asset's recoverable amount. An asset's recoverable amount is
the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use and is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets.

Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and
is written down 10 its recoverable amount in accordance with the provisions of PAS 36 Impairment of Assets.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset, Impairment losses, if any, are recognized in the consclidated statements of income in those
expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the reporting date as 1o whether there is any indication that previously recognized
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased, If such indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated.

A previously recognized impairment ioss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognized. If that is the case,
the carrying amount of the asset is increased 1o its recoverable amount. That increased amount cannot
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss
been recognized for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognized in the consolidated statements of
income unless the asset is carried at revalued amount, in which case the reversal is treated as a revaluation
Increase. Afler such a reversal, the depreciation charge is adjusted in future periods to allocate the asset’s
revised carrying amount, less any residual value, on a systematic basis over its remaining estimated useful
life.
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22.11  Fair value measurement

The fair value of a non-financial asset is measured based on its highest and best use, The asset's current
use is presumed to be its highest and best use.

The fair value of financial and non-financial kabiities takes into account non-performance risk, which is the
sk that the entity will not fulfill an obligation.

The appropriate level is determined on the basis of the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement.

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the
reporting date. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an
exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those prices represent
actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis. These instruments are included
in Level 1.

The fair value of assets and liabilities that are not traded in an active market (for example, over-the-counter
derivatives) is determined by using valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximize the use of
cbservable market data where it is available and rely as ittle as possible on entity specific estimates. If all
significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the asset or liability is included in Level
2. If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the asset or liability is
included in Level 3,

The fair value of financial assets at FVOCI are measured under Level 2 fair value category (Note 5). The fair

value of investment properties are disclosed under Level 3 fair value category (Note 7). The Group has no
other assets and liabilities that are measured or disclosed at fair value,

2212 Equity

Treasury shares

Treasury shares are recorded at cost and presented as a deduction from equity. When the shares are retired,
the share capital account is reduced by the par value and the excess of cost over par value upon retirement is
debited to share premium to the extent of the specific or average share premium when the shares were
issued and to retained earnings for the remaining balance.

DWvidend distribution

Cash dividend distribution to the Group's shareholders is recognized as a liability in the Group's consolidated
financial statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by the Group's BOD.

2213 Earmnings per share

Basic

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing net income attributable 10 equity holders of the Parent
Company by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year, excluding commeon shares
purchased by and held as treasury shares.

Diluted

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of shares outstanding to

assume conversion of all dilutive potential common shares. As at report date, the Parent Company has no
diutive potential common shares.
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2214 Revenues and income

Revenue is recognized when it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow
to the Group and the amount of revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of
conskieration received or receivable, excluding discounts.

The Group assesses its revenue arrangements against specific criteria in order to determine if it is acting as a
principal or as an agent. The Group has concluded that it is acting as the principal in all of its revenue
arangements since it is the primary obligor in all the revenue arrangements, has pricing latitude and is also
exposed to credi risks.

The following specific criteria must be met before recognition:

(a) Rental income

Rental income from investment properties is accounted for on a straight-line basis of the lease term over time.
Advance rentals are received at the start of the lease term and recognized as liabilities until eamed or applied
at the end of lease term. Uneamed rental income are received in advance within the lease term and
recognized as liabilities until earned or applied at the related lease term peniod.

(v) Management fees, payroll fees and commission income

These are recognized over time as the services are rendered based on the fixed terms and fixed price of the
contracts.

(c) Imerest income

Interest income is recognized on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest method.
(Note 22.5),

(d)  Gain on sale; Other income

Other income is recognized when there is an incikdental economic benefit that has been eamed, other than the
usual business operation, that will flow to the Group through an increase in asset or reduction in liability and
that can be measured reliably.

2215 Employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits include items such as salaries and wages, social security contributions and
non-monetary benefits, if expected to be settied wholly within 12 months after the end of the reporting period
in which the employees rendered the related services. Short-term employee benefits are recognized as
expense as incurred. When an employee has rendered service to the Group during the reporting period, the
Group recognizes the undiscounted amount of short-term employee benefits expected 1o be paid in exchange
for that service as a abilty (accrued expense), after deducting any amount already paid. Benefits faling due
more than 12 months after the end of the reporting period are discounted to their present value, if material,

The related Sabiity on employee benefits is derecognized when the obligation is discharged or cancelled.
Retirement benefit obligation
The Group maintains a non-contributory defined benefit retirement plan which is a retirement plan that defines

an amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive upon retirement, dependent on certain factors
such as age, years of credited service, and compensation.
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The liabdity recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position in respect of defined benefit
retirement plan is the present value of the defined benefit cbiigation at the end of the reporting pericd less the
fair value of plan assets. In cases when the fair value of plan assets exceeds the present value of the defined
benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period, the asset recognized is adjusted to the effect of asset
ceiling which is the present vaiue of any economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the plan or
reductions in future contributions to the plan.

The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by an independent actuary using the PUC method, The
present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows
using interest rates of government bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be
paid, and that have terms to maturity which approximate the terms of the related retirement liabdity.

Remeasurement gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions
are recognized in other comprehensive income during the pericd in which they arise.

Past-service costs are recognized immediately in profit or loss.
Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by the Group before the normal retirement
date, or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Group
recognizes termination benefits at the earlier of the following dates: (a) when the Group can no longer
withdraw the offer of those benefits; and (b) when the entity recognizes costs for a restructuring that is within
the scope of PAS 37, Provisions, Contingent Liabilties and Contingent Assets, and involves the payment of
termination benefits, In the case of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy, the termination benefits
are measured based on the number of employees expected to accept the offer. Benefits falling due more than
12 months after the reporting date are discounted 10 their present value.

Liabilties for employee benefits are derecognized when the obligation is settled or cancelled or has expired.
2216 Leases - Group as lessor

The determination of whether an arrangement s, or contains a lease, is based on the substance of the
arrangement at inception date, whether the fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a
specific asset or assets or the arrangement conveys a right 1o use the asset. A reassessment is made after
the inception of the lease only if one of the following applies:

a. there is a change in the contractual terms, other than a renewal or extension of the arrangement;

b. arenewal option is exercised or extension granted, unless the term of the renewal and extension was
initially included in the lease term;

c. there is a change in the determination of whether the fulfiliment is dependent on a specified asset; or

d. there is a substantial change to the asset.

Where a reassessment is made, lease accounting shall commence or cease from the date of the change in

crcumstances that gave rise to the reassessment for scenarios (a), (c), and (d) above and at the date of
renewal or extension pericd for scenario (b).

Operaling Jeases

Leases where the Group retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are classified
as operating leases, Intial direct costs incurred in negotiating an operating lease are added 1o the carrying
amount of the leased asset and recognized over the lease term on the same bases as rental income.

The Group has no lease transactions as a lessee.
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2217 Income taxes

Current income tax charge is cakulated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacled at the
reporting date. Management pencdically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in
which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriaste on the
basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of unused
tax losses (NOLCO) and unused tax credits (excess MCIT) 10 the extent that it is probable that future taxable

profit will be available against which the temporary differences, unused tax losses and unused tax credits can
be uthzed,

Deferred income tax assets are recognized on deductible temporary differences arising from investments in
subsidianes, and joint arrangements only to the extent that it is probable the temperary difference will reverse
in the future and there is sufficient taxable profit available against which the temporary difference can be
utilized. The Group reassesses at each reperting date the need to recognize a previously unrecognized
deferred ncome tax asset.

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognized in full for all taxable temporary differences, except to the extent
that the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax
labilties are provided on taxable temporary differences arising from investments in subsidiaries, except for
deferred income tax liability where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the
Group and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets and liabllities are derecognized when related bases are realized/settied or when it
is no longer realzable/due,

22.18 Operating segments

The Group's operating businesses are organized and managed separately according to the nature of the
products and services provided, with each segment representing a strategic business unit that offers different
products and serves different markets.

2219 Related party relationships and transactions

Related party relationship exists when one party has the ability to control, directly, or indirectly through one or
more intermediaries, the other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial
and operating decisions. Such relationship also exists between and/or among entities which are under
common control with the reporting enterprise, or between and/or among the reporting enterprise and its key
management personnel, directors, or its sharehelder. In considering each possible related party relationship,
attention is directed to the substance of the relationship, and not merely the lagal form.

Related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or cbligations between a reporting entity and a
related party regardiess of whether a price is charged.

21.20 Events after the reporting period
Post year-end events that provide additional Information about the Group's position at reporting date

(adjusting events) are reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Post year-end events that are not
adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.
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Keppel Philippines Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Map of Relationships of the Companias wathin the Group
As at December 31, 2024
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Keppel Philippines Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Financial Soundness Indicators
As at December 31, 2024 and 2023
(With comparative figures as at December 31, 2022)

Rabo Formula 2024 2023 2022
A. Current and liquidity ratios
Current ratio Total current assets 1,274,192 529 ar274 16348 188.02
Divided by: Total current kabllities 3418480
Current rabio 37274
Ack test ratio Total curent assets 1.274.162 529 7228 16327 187.75
Less: Other current assets 1,552,807
Quick assets 1.2712639,722
Divided by: Total curent liabilities 3,418,480
Acid test ratio 37228
B. Solvency ratio Net income afer tax 1,118,339.875 63.45 382 268
Add: Depreciaticn and amortization 78317
1,118,116,182
Divided by: Total Gabilities 17,638,483
Solvency ratio 8345
C. Debtto-equity ratio Total iabiltias 17,638,483 0.01 0005 0004
_Divided by: Total eguity 1,776,708,413
Deat-to-equity rato 0.01
D. Asset-to-equity ratio Total assets 1,794,346,6896 1.01 1.01 1.00
_Divided by: Total equity 1,776,708,413
Msetm raso 1.01
E. Dedt ratio Total liablities 17,638,483 0.01 0.005 0004
Divided by: Total assets 1,764 346 898
_Debt rato 0.01
F. Profitability ratios
Return on assets (%) Net income 1,118,330875 6233% 1.71% 084
_Daided by: Total assets 1,764 346 868
Retumn on assets (%) 82.33%
Return on aquity (%) Net income 1118339875  6294% 1.72% 0.84
Divided by: Total equity 1,776,708.413
Retum on eguity (%) 62.94%
Net profit margin (%) Net income 1,118339875  8135% 4592% 2820
Divided by: Total revenues 1,374,652 465
Net profit margin (%) 81.35%
G. Earnings per share Net income aftar minority interest 589,549 646 10.30 03 008
(EPS) attributable to Divided by: Total shares outstanding 57,233,018
equity holdars of Parent  EPS attnbutabie 1o equity holders of Parent 10.30
H, Book value per share Total equity after minority interest 1,544 489277
(BPS) attributable to _Divided by: Total shares outstanding 57.233.019 26809 1685 1646
equity holders of BPS attributable to equity hoiders of Parent 2659

Parent




Keppel Philippines Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Schedule A - Financial Assets
As at December 31, 2024
(All amounts in Philippine Peso)

Number of
shares or Amount
principal shown in the Value based
amount of Consolidated on market
bonds Statement of quotations Income
Name of issuing entity and description of and Financial at statement received
_each issue notes  Position**** date****  and accrued
Financial assets at amontized cost
Cash and cash equivalents® 1.267,990,082 1.267,990,002 81444123
Receivables, net** 4,649 630 4,649,630 -
1272639722 1272639722 81444123
Financial asset at fair value through cther
comprehensive income***
Wack-Wack Golf and Country Club, Inc. 1 85,000,000 85,000,000 -
1,357639,722 1,357 639722 81444123

* See Note 2 10 the Consolidated Financial Statements.
** See Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
*** See Note 5 to the Consolidated Financial Statements,
****See Notes 20.1(a) and 20.3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Keppel Philippines Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Schedule C - Amounts Receivable from Related Parties
which are eliminated during the Consolidation of Financial Statements
As at December 31, 2024
(All amounts in Philippine Peso)

Name and Balance at

designation of beginning of Amounts  Amounts Not Balance at
debdtor pericd  Additons  collected  writtenoff  Current  Current end of paried
Gm - 71“1” [7.‘ v vnm) - t - -

“Total

- 7,500,000 (7,500,000) - - - .




Keppel Philippines Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Schedule D - Long-Term Debt
As at December 31, 2024
(All amounts in Phiippine Peso)

Amount shown
under caption Amount shown
*Current portion of under caption
long<term debt” in  “Long-term debt” in
Amount authorized related balance related balance
Title of issue and type of obligation by indenture sheet sheet”

Not applicable




Keppel Philippines Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Schedule E - Indebtedness to Related Parties
As a8t December 31, 2024
(All amounts in Philippine Peso)

Beginning Ending

Name of sffiliate balance balance
Keppel IVI Investment, Inc. (KIVI) 25,000 25,000
_Keppel Energy and Consultancy, Inc. (KECI) 10,000 10,000
Total 35,000 35,000




Keppel Philippines Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Schedule F - Guarantees of Securities of Other Issuers
As at December 31, 2024
(All amounts in Philippine Peso)

Amount owned

by the

Name of issuing entty of Title of issue of Total amount company

securities guaranteed by the each class of guaranteed for which
company for which securnties and statement Nature of
statement is filed guaranteed outstanding is filed guarantee

Not applicable




Keppel Philippines Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Schedule G - Share Capital
As st December 31, 2024
(AN amounts in Philippine Peso)

Number of
shares
reserved for
ophons,
Number of warrants, Number of shares held by
Number of shares  conversions, Directors,
shares  issued and and other officers, and
Tele of issue autherized  outstanding rights Affliates  empioyees Others
Issued shares.
Common class "A" 90,000,000 39,840,970 - - . -
Common class "B 200.000,000 33,332,530 - - - -
otal 290,000,000 73,173,500 : . z =
Less treasury shares:
Common class "A" - 4,084,900 - - - -
Common class "B - 11,855 581 . . . -
v GO - 15940461 - = - -
Cutstanding shares:
Common class "A" - 3575070 - 28817182 a1 6,938,847
Common dass “B” - 21476949 - 1 3 111
Total - 57233019 - 47427017 44 9 805 958

(See Notes 13 and 14 to the Consolidated Financial Statements)



Keppel Philippines Holdings, Inc.
Unit 3-B, Country Space 1 Building
133 Sen. Gil Puyat Avenue, Salcedo Village

Barangay Bel-Alr, Makati Coty

Reconciliation of Retained Earnings Avadable for Dividend Declaration
As at December 31, 2024
(All amounts in Philippine Peso)

Unappropriated Retained Earnings, based on audited

separate financial statements, beginning of the year 506,578,920
Add: Category A: ltems that are directly credited to
Unappropriated retained earings
Reversal of Retained earnings appropriation/s -
Effect of restatements or pricr-period adjustments -
Others (describe nature) - -
Less: Category B: Items that are directly debited to
Unappropriated retained eamings
Dividend declaration during the reporting period 11,446,604
Retained earnings appropriated during the reporting -
period
Effect of restatements or usiments -
Others (describe nature) - (11,446,604)
Unappropriated Retained Earnings, as
adjusted 496,132,316
Add/Less: Net Income (loss) for the current yearipenod
602,099,420

Less: Category C.1: Unrealized income recognized in the
profit or loss during the year/period (net of tax)

Equity in net income of associatefjoint venture, net
of dividends declared

Unrealzed foreign exchange gain, except those
attributable to cash and cash equivalents

Unrealzed fair value adjustment (mark-to-market
gains) of financial instruments at fair value
through profit or loss (FVTPL)

Unrealized fair value gain of investment property

Other unrealized gains or adiustments to the
retained eamings as a result of centain
transactions accounted for under the PFRS
(describe nature)

(continued)



Keppel Philippines Holdings, Inc.

Reconcilation of Retained Eamings Available for Dividend Declaration
For the year ended December 31, 2024
{(All amounts in Philippine Peso)

Add:  Category C.2: Unrealized income recognized in
the profit or loss in prior reporting periods but realized in
the current reporting period (net of tax) -

attributable to Cash and cash equivalents -

Realized fair value adjustment (mark-to-market
gains) of financial instruments at fair value
through profit or loss (FVTPL) -

Realized far value gain of Investment property -

Other realized gains or adjustments to the
retained earnings as a result of cenain
transactions accounted for under the PFRS A
(describe nature)

Add:  Category C.3: Unrealized income recognized in
profit or loss in prior periods but reversed in the current
reporting perniod (net of tax) -

Reversal of previously recorded foreign exchange
gain, except those attributable to cash and cash -
equivalents

Reversal of previously recorded fair value
(mark-to- market gains) of financial
instruments &t fair value through profit or loss x
(FVTPL)

Reversal of previously recorded fair value gain of
investment property -

Reversal of other unrealized gains or adjustiments
to the retained earnings as a result of certain
transactions accounted for under the PFRS,
previously recorded (describe nature) -

_Adjusted net income/loss 692,099,420
Add: Category D: Non-actual losses recognized in profit
or loss during the reporting period (net of tax)

Depreciation on revaluation increment (after tax)

AddiLess: Category E: Adjustments related to relief
granted by the SEC and BSP

Amortization of the effect of reporting relief .

Total amount of reporting refief granted -
during the year

Others (describe nature) -

(continued)

(2)



Keppel Philippines Holdings, Inc,

Reconciliation of Retained Eamings Available for Dividend Declaration
For the year ended December 31, 2024
(ANl amounts in Philippine Peso)

Add/Less: Category F: Other items that should be
axcluded from the determination of the amount of
available for dwidends distribution

Net movement of treasury shares (except
for reacquisition of redeemable shares) s

Net movement of deferred tax asset not
considerad in the reconciling items under
the previous categories -

Net movement in deferred tax asset and
deferred tax liabilities related to same
transaction, e.g., set up of right of use of
asset and lease liabllity, set-up of asset
and asset retirement obligation, and *
set-up of service concession asset and
concession payable

Adjustment due to deviation from
PFRS/GAAP - gain (loss) -

Others (describe nature) - =

| Total Retained Earnings, end of the year available for

dividend declaration 1,187,231,736

3)




Keppel Philippines Holdings, Inc.

Supplementary Schedule of External Auditor Fee-Related Information

For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023
(All amounts in Philippine Peso)

Audit and non-audit fees of Keppel Philippines Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries

2024 2023

Audt services:
Keppel Philippines Holdings, Inc. 354 425 354,425
KPS| Property, Inc. 93,575 93,575
Goodsoll Marine Realty, Inc. 93,575 93,575
Goodwealth Realty Development Corporation 51,026 51,026
_Total audit fees 592,601 582 601
Total non-audit fees 2 =
Total audit and non-audit fees 592 601 592 801




REPUBLIC OF THE PHILIPPINES)

)S.S

CERTIFICATION OF QUALIFICATION OF INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR

|, Leonardo R. Arguelles, Jr., Filipino, of legal age and a resident of Unit 1017 Tower 2,
Verve Residences, 27" Street comer 7 Avenue, Benifacio Global City, Taguig City 1635, after
having been duly sworn in accordance with law do hereby declare that:

1.

| am a nominee for independent Director of Keppel Philippines Holdings, Inc. (KPHI)
and have been its Independent Director since June 19, 2020, member of the Audit Risk
and Compliance Committee and Corporate Governance and Nomination Committee

| am affiliated with the following companies or organizations as per stated penod:

Company/Organization “Position/Relationship Pariod of Service
Keppel Philippines Propesties, Independent Director, 13 August 2020 10
Ine. Member of the Audit and present

Compsance Committee,

Member of Governance,

Nomination and

Compensation Committee
Unicapital Securities Inc President and Director 2001 to March 2019
(Stockbroker)
Basic Energy Corporation Advisory Board Member 2012 1o March 2019
Des Eaux Utilities Corp. Director 2007 1o March 2019
Royal Bank of Scotland, Manila | Independent Director 2002 1o 2009
Branch
Anglo Philippines Holdings independent Director 2004 to 2007

| possess all the quakfications and none of the disqualifications to serve as an
independent Director of Keppel Philippines Holdings, Inc., as provided for in Section 38
of the Securities Regulation Code, its Implementing Rules and Regulations and other
SEC issuances.

| am not related to any of the directors/officers/substantial shareholder/s of KPHI,

To the best of my knowledge, | am not the sublect of any pending criminal or
administrative investigation or proceeding.

| shall faithfully and diigently comply with my duties and responsiiities as
Independent Director under the Securities Regulation Code and its Implementing Rules
and Reguiations, Code of Corporate Governance and SEC issuances.




7. 1 shall inform the Corporate Secretary of Keppel Philippines Holdings, Inc, of any
changes in the abovementioned information within five days from its occurrence.

A , MAK
Done this Mdafof | 5 275 2025, at AnC'TY Phaippines.

ONARDO R. RQ%E:L‘S. JR.
n

MAR 05 2025
Mimﬁ AND SWORN to before me this day of 2025 a
, Philippines, affiant personally appeared before me and exhibited to

me his Tax identification Number (TIN) [IEGNG:

sl ATTY.RO NVIONFORT
Pags NOTARPPUALITORTS! Makati
Do Uintil December 31, 2025

SRS 01 2045 Anpolntment No. #A-32 [2024-2025)
N, TOMSE008 Ian. 2, 2025/Makati City
iB8 1o, 3UBSTO Dec. 27,2024
RACLE 110, Vil-002757 Rolt No. 27932
sn Ava, Campos Rueds Bldg.
Pip Dal Pilar, Makati City



REPUBLIC OF THE PHILIPPINES)

) S.S.

MAKATI CITY
CERTIFICATION OF QUALIFICATION OF INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR

I, RAMON J. ABEJUELA, Filipino, of legal age and a resident of No. 116 Ma.

Cristina Street, Ayala Alabang Village, Muntinlupa City, after having been duly swomn in
accordance with law do hereby declare that:

1.

| am a nominee for independent director of Keppel Philippines Hoklings, Inc. (KPHI)
and have been its independent Direclor since September 14, 2017, Chairman of the
Corporate Governance and Nomination Committee since June 19, 2020, and member
of the Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee.

| am affiliated with the following companies or organizations:
Company/Organization Position/Relationship “Period of Service
Keppe! Philippines independent Dwector, 2009 1o present
Properties, Inc. Chairman of the Audit
Committee,
Member of the Governance,
Nomination and Compensation
Committee
Mabuhay Vinyl Corporation Independent Dwector, July 2022 to present
Chairman of the Audit
Commitiee
Keppel Philippines Marine, Independent Director June 2020 - June
Inc. 2022
Keppel Subic Shipyard, Inc. Independent Director June 2020 - June
2022
“Philippine Nutri-Foods Director/Vice Chairman 2004 to Present
Corporation
NCP Pubkshing Inc. Director/Vice Chairman 2004 to present

| possess all the qualifications and none of the disqualiScations 1o serve as an
Independent Director of Keppel Philippines Holdings, Inc., as provided for in Section 38
of the Securities Regulation Code, its Implementing Rules and Regulations and other
SEC issuances.

| am not related to any of the directors/officers/substantial shareholder/s of KPHI,

To the best of my knowledge, | am not the subject of any pending criminal or
administrative investigation or proceeding.

I shall faithfully and diligently comply with my duties and responsibilities as
Independent Director under the Securities Regulation Code and its Implementing Rules
and Regulations, Code of Corporate Governance and SEC issuances.




7. 1 shall inform the Corporate Secretary of Keppel Philippines Holdings, Inc. of any
changes in the abovementioned infcrmation within five days from its cccurrence.

AR 05 202 MAKAT)
bone tis AR "day of 2025, at Chidopines.
/
RAMON J. ABEJUELA
Affiant

) , MAR 0 5 2025
StieseRigen! ARD SWORN to before me this day of 2025 at
, Phiippines, affiant personally appeared before me and exhibited to
me his Tax Identiscation Number (TIN) [ TIINGNGG

Doc. No. 367 . ATTY.ROM ..le!“FORT
Pa’. No. NOTAR T SLUIACH y of M3 katl
No. > Undii DecernbarsT=2023
of 202 - ": -‘,‘_ . s 12024-2025)
Ina e SEn <025/ \akatl Gly
! =7 Roli Ne, 27932
LSMpos Rueda &lds.

300 | Aldl, Mokati Clw



REPUBLIC OF Ti ILIPPINES)

A
Yy

UULALE Gl ) 8.8,

CERTIFICATION OF QUALIFICATION OF INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR

I, CELSO P. VIVAS, Filipino, of legal age and a resident of No. 125 Wilson Circle, San

Juan, Metro Manila, after having been duly sworn in accordance with law do hereby declare

that

1

| am a nominee for independent diractor of Keppel Philippines Holdings, Inc. (KPHI),
a pubdicly listed company, with office address at Unit 38 Country Space | Bullding, 133
Sen. Gil Puyat Avenue, Salcedo Village, Barangay Bei-Air, Makati City. | have been its
Independent Director since 2005 and Chairman of the Audit, Risk and Compliance
Committee and member of the Corporate Governance and Nomination Committee.

I am affikated with the following companies or organizations:
Company/Organization Position/Relationship Period of
Service
Keppel Philippines Independent Director, Nov 2004 to
Properties inc, - publicly Chairman of Govemance, present
listed Nomination and Compensation
Committee,
Member of the Audit & Compiance
Committee
Megawide Construction Independent Director, July 2018 to
Corp. - publicly ksted Chairman of the Audit & Compliance | present
Committee,
Member of Board Oversight
Committee and Governance,
Nomination and Compensation
Committee
Republic Glass Holdings Independent Director, June 2017 to
Corp. = publicly listed Chairman of Governance, present
Nomination & Compensation
Committee,
Member of Audit and Compliance
_ Committee -
Goodsoil Marine Reaity Inc. | Independent Director June 2017 to
et present
Goodweakh Realty Dev't. Independent Director June 2020 1o
Corp. present
Conseet Land, Inc, Independent Director June 2018 to
present

| possess all the qualifications and none of the disqualifications to serve as an

Independent Director of Keppel Philippines Holdings, Inc., as provided for in Section 38

gfe tg;fecuﬁﬁes Regulation Code, its Implementing Rules and Regulations and other
uances.

| am not related to any of the directors/officers/substantial shareholders of KPHI
(siam:.“l’v.m'\g3 v its subsidiaries and affiliates) other than the refationship provided under Rule
2.3 of the SRC,

To the best of my knowledge, | am not the subject of any pending criminal or
acministrative investigation or proceeding.




6. | shall fakhfully and diligently comply with my duties and responsibdities as independent
director under the Securities Regulation Code and s Implementing Rules and
Regulations, Code of Corporate Govemance and SEC issuances,

7. | shall inform the Corporate Secretary of Keppel Phiippines Holdings, Inc. of any
changes in the abovementioned information within five days from ils eccurrence,

MAR (5 2005 MAKATY prey
Donethis " "dayof 2025 , Philippines.
W»
CELSO P. VIVAS
AR OB AT
U0 AL
h1AW AND SWORN to before me ihﬁ day of 2025 at

. Philippines, affiant personally appeared before me and exhibited to me
his Tax Identification Number (TIN) [

Doc. No. ‘3
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REPUBLIC OF THE PHILIPPINES)
MAKATICITY ) SS.

CERTIFICATION

The undersigned, being the Vice-President/Treasurer of KEPPEL
PHILIPPINES HOLDINGS, INC. (KPHI), a corporation duly organized and
existing under and by virtue of Philippine laws (SEC Identification No, 62596) with
principal office at Unit 3-B Country Space 1 Building, 133 Sen. Gil Puyat Avenue,
Salcedo Village, Barangay Bel-Air, Makati City, do hereby certify that, as of current
date, no members of the Board of Directors and no officers of KPHI are employed by
or connected with any government agency and/or instrumentalities.

This Certification is issued in connection with the filing/submission of KPHI's
Definitive Information Sheet with the SEC and for all legal purposes it may serve.

PELIM RAZON

Vice President/Treasurer

MAR 0 5 %
SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before me this “at Makati City; affiant
exhibited to me her Taxpayer Identification Number (TIN) Card bearing numbers

Sy

‘?:;"z:i ATTY.ROMED-T MSNFORT

Book No %’. NU u’lF:' PJL':”.JC :;w Q' (‘\’.3263“

: - Until Decembaear 31, 2025
Series of 2025. Appolatment o, 04-32 [2024-2025)
'In Mo, I045E008 fam. 2, 2025/Makat! City

=P JSET0 Dec. 27, 2024
PACLE N0, V002757 Roll No. 27932
1 Uroan /we. Campos ftueda Bidg.
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REPUBLIC OF THE PHILIPPINES)
MAKATICITY ) SS.

CERTIFE N

The undersigned, being the President of KEPPEL PHILIPPINES
HOLDINGS, INC. (KPHI), a corporation duly organized and existing under and by
virtue of Philippine laws (SEC Identification No. 62596) with principal office at Unit
3-B Country Space 1 Building, 133 Sen. Gil Puyat Avenue, Salcedo Village, Barangay
Bel-Air, Makati City, do hereby certify that, as of current date, no members of the
Board of Directors and no officers of KPHI are employed by or connected with any
government agency and/or instrumentalities,

This Certification is issued in connection with the filing/submission of KPHI's
Definitive Information Sheet with the SEC and for all legal purposes it may serve.

ALAN L. CLAVERIA
President

MAR © 5 202
SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before me this at Makati City; affiant
exhibited to me her Taxpayer Identification Number (TIN) Card bearing numbers

Doc. No.
pas‘ No. - A‘!’.{"'.’{" Wi, 9.’rONFORT
k No. 3 NOTARY FUINECity of Makat!
Series ofd Untii December 51, 2028
Appointmant Mo, M-22 {20264-2025)
PTR No. 10456008 e, 2 3
MCLE W0, 12757 Roll No. 27932

>, Campas Rueds Bidg.
Pilar, Makati City
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NOTICE OF TO STOCKHOLDERS
OF KEPPEL PHILIPPINES HOLDINGS, INC.
TO DISCLOSE BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP OF SHARES

To All Stockholders:

The Revised Corporation Code requires corporations to disclose to the Securities and
Exchange Commission (SEC) the results of the Annual Stockholders Meeting (ASM) and the
beneficial owner of shares no later than thirty (30) days from the ASM or on 23 May 2025,
Friday (24 May 2025, the 30* being a Saturday).

To timely comply with the law, please inform the Corporate Secretary in writing by sending
an email bearing the subject “KPHI Beneficial Ownership of Shares” to infogkeppelph.com
on or before the ASM (24 April 2025) of the name of the natural person that ultimately owns,
controls, or exercises the ultimate effective control of your shareholdings in Keppel
Philippines Holdings, Inc. In case of any change in beneficial ownership of shares, please
inform the Corporate Secretary no later than five (5) days from such change to timely make
the necessary disclosures to the SEC.

Please direct disclosures on beneficial ownership of shares to the Corporate Secretary, Atty,
Maria Melva E. Valdez, at the following address Keppel Philippines Holdings, Inc., Unit 3-
B Country Space 1 Bldg., 133 Sen. Gil Puyat Avenue, Salcedo Village, Brgy. Bel-Air, Makati
City or by email to infotrkeppelph.com.

Very truly yours,

PAM AYABYAB
Assistnt C e Secretary



KEPPEL PHILIPPINES HOLDINGS, INC.
2025 ANNUAL STOCKHOLDERS' MEETING
24 April 2025, Thursday, at 11:00 am

The 2025 Annual Stockholders’ Meeting (ASM) of Keppel Philippines Holdings, Inc. (KPH or
the Company) is scheduled on 24 April 2025, Thursday, at 11:00 a.m. and the Board of
Directors of the Company has fixed the end of trading hours of the Philippine Stock Exchange
on 24 March 2025 (Record Date) as the record date for the determination of stockholders
entitled to the notice of, to amend, and to vote at such meeting and any adjournment thereof.

The Board of Directors of the Company has approved and authorized stockholders to
participate in the ASM via remote communication and to exercise their right to vote in
absentia.

Registration

Stockholders must notify the Corporate Secretary of their intention to participate in the ASM
via remote communication and to exercise their right to vote in absentia by no later than 21
April 2025, by registering at info@keppelph.com and by submitting there the following
supporting documents/information, subject to verification and validation:

1. Individual Stockholders
a. Copy of valid government ID of stockholder/proxy with photo
b. Stock certificate number/s
¢. If appointing a proxy, copy of proxy form duly signed by stockholder (need
not be notarized)
d. E-mail address and contact number of stockholder or proxy

2. Multiple Stockholders or joint owners
a. Stock certificate number/s

b. Proof of authority of stockholder voting the shares signed by the other
registered stockholders, for shares registered in the name of multiple
stockholders (need not be notarized)

c. Copy of valid government IDs of all registered stockholders with photo
d. E-mail address and contact number of authorized representative



3. Corporate Stockholders
a. Secretary’s Certification of Board resolution appointing and authorizing proxy
to participate in the ASM
b. Valid government ID of the authorized representative with photo
¢. Stock certificate number/s
d. E-mail address and contact number of authorized representative
4. Stockholders with Shares under broker account
a. Certification from broker as to the number of shares owned by stockholder
b. Valid government ID of stockholder with photo

c. If appointing a proxy, copy of proxy form duly signed by stockholder (need
not be notarized)

d. E-mail address and contact number of stockholder or proxy

Important Reminder: Please refrain from sending duplicate and inconsistent
information/documents as this can result in failed registration. All documents/information
shall be subject to verification and validation by the Company.

Online Voting

Stockholders who have indicated their intention to participate via remote communication by
sending a notification/confirmation of their attendance by e-mail to info@keppelph.com on or
before 21 April 2025 shall receive an e-mail acknowledgment thereof and a Microsoft Teams

online meeting invitation.

The Presiding Officer of the ASM shall ask the stockholders to vote on matters following the
ASM Agenda.

Participants can send their votes/objections via the Microsoft Teams Chat box.
Motions shall be considered carried upon garnering majority votes of present stockholders.

Open Forum/Questions

The Presiding Officer of the ASM shall ask stockholders if they have questions on matters
discussed.

Participants can send their comments/questions by typing in the "chat panel” of the Microsoft
Teams online meeting platform.



The Presiding Officer or the Moderator will read first the questions received via email and
then via chat box,

Concerned company representatives shall endeavor to answer questions as time will allow.

Stockholders may send their questions in advance by sending an email bearing the subject
“ASM 2025 Open Forum/Questions” to infokeppelph.com on or before 21 April 2025,

Questions/comments received via email or chat box but not entertained during the Open
Forum due to time constraints will be addressed separately by the Company’s Corporate
Information Officer.

e These Guidelines have been made based on the current shareholder size and structure
of the Company.

e For any queries or concerns regarding this Guidelines, please contact the Company’s
Corporate Information Officer at +63 2 8892 1816 or via email at infoirkeppelph.com,

e For complete information on the annual meeting, please visit this webpage

e ASM Minutes shall be posted subsequently on the Company's website.



PROXY

The undersigned (hercinafter referred to as the “Principal”™), being a stockholder of
Keppel Philippines Holdings, Inc. ("KPH") hereby appoints and empowers Mr./Ms.
as the proxy to act/vote in the principal’s name and stead at
any and all meetings of the stockholders of KPH until his replacement is duly
appointed/empowered, or this proxy is terminated, by the Principal.

Done this ___th of day of 2025 at City, Philippines.

Stockholder

(authorized officer)



KEPPEL PHILIPPINES HOLDINGS, INC.

MINUTES OF THE ANNUAL STOCKHOLDERS' MEETING
Held via Microsoft Teams Online Meeting
on 14 June 2024

I.  CALL TO ORDER

The Chairman, Mr. Tan Kuang Liang, welcomed the stockholders to the Annual
Stockholders’ Meeting (ASM or Meeting) held through Microsoft Teams Online.

The Chairman also welcomed the independent and regular directors, corporate
officers, representatives of the stock transfer agent, Stock Transfer Services,
Inc. (STSI), and representatives of the external auditor, Isla Lipana and Co.

The following attended the meeting via remote communication:

Tan Kuang Liang - Chairman of the Board, in Indonesia

Alan . Claveria - President, in Mandaluyong City

Celso P. Vivas - Lead Independent Director, in Mandaluyong City

Ramon J. Abejuela - Independent Director, in Mandaluyong City

Leonardo R. Arguelles, Jr. - Independent Director, in Mandaluyong City
Stefan Tong Wai Mun - Director, in Mandaluyong City

Felicidad V. Razon - Director/Vice President/Treasurer, in Mandaluyong City
Maria Melva E. Valdez - Corporate Secretary, in Mandaluyong City

Pamela Ann T. Cayabyab - Assistant Corporate Secretary, in Mandaluyong
City

10. Linelle Margie Z. Mercado - Legal Counsel, in Mandaluyong City

11. John L. Joves - Legal Counsel, in Mandaluyong City

12. Rikki Marvin Dalangin - Representative from External Auditor, in Makati City
13. Jomar Lucinario - Representative from STSI, in Pasig City

14. Sarah Kang Siew Fong - in Mandaluyong City

15. George Cabo Cheng - in Pasig City

16. Marissa Castillo - in Mandaluyong City

17. Rency P. Cadsawan - in Mandaluyong City

18. Cherry A. Tumali - in Mandaluyong City

19. Eleanor E. Macomb - in Mandaluyong City

WOENDIOEWLN =

The Chairman called the meeting to order at about 11:00 A.M.

II. PROOF OF NOTICE OF MEETING AND CERTIFICATION OF QUORUM

Upon inquiry from the Chairman, the Corporate Secretary, Atty. Maria Melva E.
Valdez, advised that notice for the ASM and the Meeting materials were sent to
each stockholder in accordance with the By-Laws of the Corporation and rules
of the Securities & Exchange Commission (SEC). The notice was disseminated
in accordance with SEC Memorandum Circular No. 6, series of 2020 or the
Guidelines on the attendance and participation of directors, stockholders, and
other persons of corporations in regular and special meetings through remote or
electronic means of communication, and SEC Notice dated 22 February 2024
on the Alternative Mode for Distributing and Providing Copies of the Notice of
Meeting, Information Statement, and Other Documents in Connection with the
Holding of Annual Stockholders’ Meeting ("ASM") for 2024.
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Atty. Valdez confirmed that notice was published twice in electronic and printed
formats in the business section of two (2) newspapers of general circulation,
namely, the Philippine Daily Inquirer on the 20” and 21* of May 2024 and the
BusinessWorld on the 20™ and 21* of May 2024. The Affidavits of Publication
were issued by Adela G. Mendoza, the Sales Director — Classified Advertising
of the Philippine Daily Inquirer, Inc. and Bernard E. Enolva - Billing and
Collection Manager of BusinessWorld.

Further, electronic copies of the Definitive Information Statement (“Definitive
IS"), the Guidelines for conducting this meeting via remote communication and
the 2023 Audited Financial Statement, as well as the SEC 17-Q report for the
first quarter of 2024 were made available at the Company website and the
Philippine Stock Exchange's PSE Edge Portal,

With the assistance of the STSI, the quorum for the Meeting was determined.
The Corporate Secretary announced that, out of the total outstanding shares, at
least 83.29% were present either in person or by proxy, hence, there was a
quorum,

Stockholders of record who duly submitted their valid proxy or present virtually
were included in the determination of quorum. The Presiding Officer shall ask
the stockholders to vote on matters following the Agenda or if they have
questions on matters discussed. Participants can send their votes / objections /
comments / questions via the Microsoft Teams chat box. Motions shall be
considered carried upon gamering majority votes of present stockholders. The
Presiding Officer or the Moderator will read the questions. Concemed company
representatives shall endeavor to answer questions as time will allow.

Stockholders were given the chance to send their questions in advance by
sending an email bearing the subject “ASM 2024 Open Forum/Questions” to
info@keppelph.com_on or before 10 June 2024. Questions/comments received
via email or chat box but not entertained during the Open Forum due to time
constraints will be addressed separately by the Company's Corporate
Information Officer.

The Corporate Secretary also confirmed that the Company did not receive any
question or comment via email from the stockholders prior to the meeting.

READING AND APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES OF THE ANNUAL
STOCKHOLDERS' MEETING HELD ON 16 JUNE 2023

The Chairman was informed that copies of the minutes of the previcus ASM held
on 16 June 2023 were made available to the stockholders beforehand. Thus, on
motion duly made and seconded, the reading of the aforementioned minutes was
dispensed with and the minutes was approved by the stockholders as follows:

Stockholders Voting Stockholders Stockholders who
in Favor Voting Against Abstained

83.29% Nil Nil
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PRESENTATION OF THE 2023 ANNUAL REPORT AND APPROVAL OF THE
AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Chairman stated that the Company’'s Annual Report (SEC Form 17-A) was
posted on the Company’s website and disclosed via PSE Edge. Likewise, the
electronic copy of the 2023 Audited Financial Statements was included in the
Definitive 1S, which as earlier mentioned, was posted on the Company’s website
and disclosed via PSE Edge Portal.

The Chairman welcomed questions from the stockholders. However, there was
no question from the stockholders. Thereafter, upon motion duly made and
seconded, the Audited Financial Statements for the year ended 2023 was
approved as follows:

Stockholders Voting Stockholders Stockholders who
in Favor Voting Against Abstained
83.29% Nil Nil

RATIFICATION OF THE ACTS AND PROCEEDINGS OF THE BOARD OF

DIRECTORS, OFFICERS AND MANAGEMENT DURING THE YEAR UNDER
REVIEW

The Chairman opened the floor for a motion on the ratification of the corporate
acts and proceedings of the Board of Directors, Officers, Management of the
Corporation for the peried under review or from 16 June 2023 to 14 June 2024.

On motion duly made and seconded, the following resolution was approved:

*RESOLVED, That all the official or corporate acts and
proceedings of the Board of Directors, Officers and Management of
the Corporation from the period beginning 16 June 2023 until 14
June 2024 are hereby approved and ratified.”

Stockholders voted as follows:
Stockholders Voting Stockholders Stockholders who
in Favor Voting Against Abstained
83.29% Nil Nil
ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

The Chairman inquired from the Corporate Secretary the names of nominees
and whether the nominations were in accordance with the Corporation’s
By-Laws and Manual of Corporate Governance, The Corporate Secretary read
the names of the four (4) nominees for election as regular members of the Board
of Directors and three (3) nominees for independent directors for the year
2024-2025. No other nominations were filed.
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The Corporate Secretary also discussed that the nominees for Independent
Directors were aware of SEC Memorandum Circular No, 5, series of 2017
regarding the submission of Certificate of Qualification of Independent Directors.
They are likewise aware of SEC Memorandum Circular No. 15, Series of 2017
(SEC MC No. 15-2017) on the term limits of Independent Directors.

It was noted that Mr. Vivas has served as the Company's Independent Director
since June 2005 for a cumulative term of nineteen (19) years. Notwithstanding
this, he has extensive experience and unquestionable familiarity with the
operations of the Company, which makes him most qualified to provide impartial
advice and guidance to the Company.

Further, the intention of the law in providing the maximum period of service of
Independent Directors to a cumulative period of eleven (11) years is "to ensure
the exercise of independent judgment on corporate affairs and proper oversight
of managerial performance, including prevention of conflict of interests and
balances of competing demands of the corporation.”

The track record of Mr. Vivas, notably his advocacy for corporate governance,
his dedication and general professional approach to all matters at the Audit, Risk
and Compliance Committee, the Corporate Governance and Nomination
Committee and the Board of Directors' level, contributed immensely in ensuring
that adequate mechanisms for proper checks and balances in the Company are
in place, as well as in securing objective judgment on corporate affairs. Despite
maximizing the 9-year term, the re-election of Mr. Vivas for another term will
prove beneficial in even more strengthening Board independence.

The Corporate Secretary confirmed that information on the nominees were
stated in the Definitive 1S (SEC Form 20-IS) posted on the Company website
and disclosed via PSE Edge.

A motion was made and seconded for the Corporate Secretary to cast all votes
equally among the nominees and that the seven (7) nominees be proclaimed as
elected directors and to serve as such for the ensuing year and until the election
and qualification of their successors. There was no objection from the
stockholders.

Considering that there were seven (7) nominees to fill in seven (7) seats in the
Board, the Chairman directed the Corporate Secretary to cast the votes equally
in favor of the seven (7) nominees. The following were elected as directors of the
Corporation for the year 2024-2025 and shall serve as such until their
successors are elected and shall have qualified:

Tan Kuang Liang

Alan |. Claveria

Stefan Tong Wai Mun

Celso P. Vivas, Lead Independent Director
Ramon J. Abejuela, Independent Director
Leonardo R. Arguelles, Jr., Independent Director
Felicidad V. Razon

NobwNA
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Stockholders voted as follows:
Stockholders Voting Stockholders Stockholders who
in Favor Voting Against Abstained
83.29% Nil Nil

DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION

The Chairman moved on to the next agenda which is the granting of remuneration
1o the Directors. The Board of Directors proposed a special one-time lump sum of
Three Hundred Thousand Pesos (P300,000.00) per Director and a per diem of Ten
Thousand Pesos (P10,000.00) per Board and Committee meetings for each of the
attending directors.

The one-time lump sum shall be payable on or before 30 June 2024, while the per
diem remuneration shall be effective starting 14 June 2024,

On motion duly made and seconded, the following resolution was approved:

"RESOLVED, That the amount of Philippine Pesos: Three
Hundred Thousand (P300,000.00) as a special one-time lump sum to
each Director shall be payable on or before 30 June 2024 is hereby
appropriated and approved to be paid as and by way of directors’
remuneration for the year 2024;

RESOLVED FURTHER, That the amount of Philippine Pesos:
Ten Thousand (P10,000.00) Director's' Fee per Board and Committee
meetings for each of the attending Directors effective 14 June 2024 is
hereby appropriated and approved to be paid as and by way of
directors' remuneration for the year 2024.”

Stockholders voted as follows:
Stockholders Voting in Stockholders Voling Stockholders who
Favor Against Abstained
83.29% Nil Nil

DECLARATION OF CASH DIVIDENDS

The Chairman announced that the Board of Directors, in its earlier meeting,
declared a twenty percent (20%) of par value cash dividend equivalent to twenty
centavos per share (P0.20/share) to stockholders of record as of 5 July 2024 to be
paid on 31 July 2024.

RE-APPOINTMENT OF EXTERNAL AUDITOR
The Chairman proceeded to the next item on the agenda which was the



KEPPEL PHILIPPINE HOLDINGS, INC.
Minutes of the Annual Stockholders' Meeting
held on 14 June 2024

Page 6 of 6

appointment of an external auditor. The Board of Directors recommended the
re-appointment of Isla Lipana and Co., as external auditor of the Corporation for the
year 2024 at a fee to be fixed by the Management.

On motion duly made and seconded, the following resolution was approved:
“RESOLVED, That Isla Lipana & Co. (PwC) be as it is hereby

appointed as the external auditor of the Corporation for the year
2024 at a fee to be fixed by Management.”

Stockholders voted as follows:
Stockholders Voting Stockholders Stockholders who
in Favor Voting Against Abstained
83.29% Nil Nil

X. OTHER MATTERS
The Chairman asked if there are other matters which must be discussed. The
Corporate Secretary confirmed that the Company did not receive any queries, via

email or otherwise, from shareholders prior to the Meeting or during the Meeting
via the Microsoft Teams chat box.

Xl. ADJOURNMENT

There being no other matters to discuss, the meeting was adjourned at about

11:45 AM.
MARIA MELVA E. VALDEZ
Corporate Secretary
ATTESTED BY:
TAN KUANG LIANG

Presiding Officer of the Stockholders’ Meeting
Chairman of the Board of Directors



REPUBLIC OF THE PHILIPPINES )
PASIG CITY ) SS.

AFFIDAVIT OF UNDERTAKING

I, PAMELA ANN T. CAYABYAB, Filipino, of legal age, with office address at the 17th
Floor, Robinsons Equitable Tower, 4 ADB Avenue corner P. Poveda Drive, Ortigas Center, Pasig
City, hereby state that:

1. 1am the Assistant Corporate Secretary of KEPPEL PHILIPPINES HOLDINGS,
INC. (“KPHI"), a corporation duly organized and existing under Philippine laws with principal
office address at Unit 3-B Country Space 1 Building, 133 Sen. Gil Puyat Avenue, Salcedo
Village, Barangay Bel-Air, Makati City;

2. The Notice of the Annual Stockholders” Meeting of KPHI shall be published on 01
and 02 April 2025 in a newspaper of general circulation, i.e, Philippine Daily Inquirer and
Business World, in accordance with the Notice of the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC)
dated 12 March 2025 re: Alternative Mode for Distributing and Providing Copies Of The Notice Of
Meeting, Information Statement, And Other Documents In Comnection With The Holding Of Annual
Stockholders” Meeting (ASM) And Specinl Stockholders’ Meeting (*SSM”, Collectively “Meeting”) For
The Year 2025;

3. In compliance with the comments of the SEC Markets and Securities Regulation
Department (MSRD) to KPHI's Preliminary Information Statement (PIS) (see attached), | undertake
to furnish the SEC MSRD with copies of the Affidavits of Publication of the Notice of ASM once
available; and

4. 1am executing this affidavit to attest to the truth of the foregoing statements and

for whatever legal purpose it may serve.

</
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, | have hereunto set my hand this ”Agayz%ﬁ in Pasig
City, Philippines,

AK 4
SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN 1o before me this day of WJ 2025 in
Pasig City; affiant exhibited to me her competent proof of identity by way of Taxpayer

Identification Number JJJJJBI «hich bears the affiant’s photograph and signature.
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